IEA International Computer and Information Literacy Study 2023

ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK

Julian Fraillon Mojca Rožman

Editors



International Computer and Information Literacy Study 2023

Assessment Framework

Julian Fraillon • Mojca Rožman (Eds.) Julian Fraillon • Daniel Duckworth • Mojca Rožman Sara Dexter • Jeppe Bundsgaard • Wolfram Schulz

International Computer and Information Literacy Study 2023

Assessment Framework









Julian Fraillon The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement Amsterdam The Netherlands

Daniel Duckworth The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement Amsterdam The Netherlands

Jeppe Bundsgaard Aarhus University Copenhagen, NV Denmark Mojca Rožman The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement Hamburg Germany

Sara Dexter University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia USA

Wolfram Schulz The Australian Council for Educational Research Camberwell, Victoria Australia

IEA Keizersgracht 311 1016 EE Amsterdam The Netherlands Telephone: +31 20 625 3625 Fax: + 31 20 420 7136 Email: secretariat@iea.nl Website: www.iea.nl



Researching education, improving learning

The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA), with headquarters in Amsterdam, is an independent, international cooperative of national research institutions and governmental research agencies. It conducts large-scale comparative studies of educational achievement and other aspects of education, with the aim of gaining in-depth understanding of the effects of policies and practices within and across systems of education.

Cover design by Studio Lakmoes, Arnhem, The Netherlands.

© International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) 2023. This book is an open access publication.

Open Access This book is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this book are included in the book's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the book's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

This work is subject to copyright. All commercial rights are reserved by the author(s), whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Regarding these commercial rights a non-exclusive license has been granted to the publisher.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

The European Commission support for the production of this publication does not constitute endorsement of the contents which reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

Foreword

The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) is a nonprofit independent research organization that is committed to investigating various aspects of education systems, measuring strengths, weaknesses, and trends across international contexts. More than 100 education systems across six decades have participated in large-scale comparative studies, and this has been further supported by the collaborative network of scholars, researchers, policy analysts, and technical experts from national education research centers and government research agencies. The reports and data stemming from these initiatives have provided foundational aspects in supporting education research as well as evidence-based policymaking.

Furthermore, IEA has a longstanding interest in the application of information and communication technology (ICT) in education which is investigated through the lens of the International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS). This 2023 cycle marks the third installment of ICILS and its trend data, although IEA has conducted multiple variations of ICT large-scale assessments since 1989. Inquiries into contexts and outcomes of ICT-related education programs, as well as how schools and teachers play a role in supporting students' computer and information literacy achievement, are essential aspects to understand; ICILS also goes further by investigating students' proficiency in using computers to explore, create, communicate, and participate effectively in a digital world, be it at home, in school, the workplace, or the community.

IEA' s research in this subject has its roots in earlier studies like the Computers in Education Study (COMPED) conducted in 1989 and 1992, and the Second Information Technology in Education Study (SITES) in 1998–1999 and 2006. ICILS 2013 marked the implementation of this study, in which 21 education systems around the world gathered data in order to assess how grade 8 students were evolving to engage in an increasingly digital world. This led to a collective understanding that more research and trend measurement were crucial to shaping policies that would enhance students' computer and information literacy (CIL) skills. Additionally, it emphasized the growing significance of computational thinking (CT), an area increasingly relevant in 21st-century education. ICILS 2018 and the 14 education systems that participated furthered this goal by offering countries the opportunity to assess students in CT as well. This innovation challenged students not only to analyze problems and break them down into logical steps but also to grasp how computers can be employed to solve these problems effectively.

Participation in ICILS 2023 grew rapidly, a reflection of how valuable data is on this rapidly changing field, with 35 education systems joining from around the world. Digital information resources are so rapidly developing that additional questions relating to early impressions of ChatGPT were optionally offered. Although this tool was launched in November 2022, it quickly became an essential part of digital life, and thus it was seen as an essential factor to include in the main survey data collection, despite late additions not being the standard format for IEA studies. This was an elective addition for principals to fill out various questions surrounding ChatGPT, its influence, perception, and use.

The ICILS 2023 assessment framework, documented within this publication, serves as a foundational resource to describe the context, constructs, and design of the assessment, encompassing CIL and CT skills. While based on the framework from the two previous cycles for trend, this framework has been meticulously adapted and refined to address new challenges arising from evolving educational requisites. This transformation underscores the continuous growth and development within ICILS.

The remarkable effort of this assessment framework could not have come to fruition without the dedication of the ICILS team. I offer my sincere gratitude to them for their pivotal roles. Special thanks go to the international study director, Julian Fraillon, and to the lead content and item development specialist, Daniel Duckworth. I would also like to extend my appreciation to colleagues at IEA Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and IEA Hamburg, Germany, for their unceasing support. My thanks further go to the IEA Publications and Editorial Committee for their contributions to the review of the framework. Gratitude also extends to the European Commission's Directorate-General for Education, Youth, Sport and Culture (EAC) and European Education and Culture Executive Agency for EU funding toward Erasmus+ countries in recognition of the contribution from ICILS data toward developing European education policies. Furthermore, the EU provided additional support by covering the costs of Western Balkan participants interested in enrollment.

It's important to acknowledge that ICILS would not be possible without the steadfast commitment of national research coordinators from participating countries. They have played an indispensable role in shaping and implementing this study, ensuring that it reflects the interests of a broader community of researchers, policymakers, and practitioners. With the collaborative efforts of all involved, our work continues to provide high-quality data from large-scale assessments to better understand education systems and provide evidence-based improvements for the future.

Dirk Hastedt EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR IEA

Contents

Foreword		v
1	Introduction	1
	Julian Fraillon, Sara Dexter, and Jeppe Bundsgaard	
	1.1 Overview	1
	1.2 Purposes of ICILS	2
	1.3 Purpose of the ICILS assessment framework	2
	1.4 Background to the study	2
	1.5 The evolution of CIL and CT in ICILS	4
	1.6 Recent education policy developments and programs related to CIL and CT	5
	1.7 Selected research publications using ICILS data since 2018	11
	1.8 Areas of increased focus in ICILS 2023	14
	1.9 Research questions	16
	1.10 Target population and instruments	16
	References	18
2	Computer and information literacy framework	25
	Julian Fraillon and Daniel Duckworth	
	2.1 Background	25
	2.2 Establishing the parameters of CIL	27
	2.3 Defining CIL	30
	2.4 Revising the structure of the CIL construct	31
	2.5 Structure of the ICILS 2023 CIL construct	32
	2.6 Strands and aspects of CIL	33
	References	38
3	Computational thinking framework	43
	Daniel Duckworth and Julian Fraillon	
	3.1 Background	43
	3.2 Establishing the parameters of CT	44
	3.3 Defining CT	45
	3.4 Structure of the ICILS 2023 CT construct	47
	3.5 Strands and aspects of CT	48
	References	50
4	Contextual framework	
	Mojca Rožman, Julian Fraillon, Sara Dexter, Jeppe Bundsgaard, and Wolfram Schulz	
	4.1 Overview	53
	4.2 Classification of contextual factors	53
	4.3 Contextual levels and variables	55
	References	62

5	ICILS instruments	67
	Daniel Duckworth and Julian Fraillon	
	5.1 The ICILS tests of CIL and CT	67
	5.2 Mapping test items to the CIL and CT constructs	83
	5.3 The ICILS questionnaires	84
	References	88
Ар	pendix	89

List of Figures

2.1.	ICILS 2023 CIL construct	32
3.1.	ICILS 2023 CT construct	47
4.1.	Contexts for ICILS 2023 CIL/CT learning outcomes	54
5.1.	Common computer display resolutions	68
5.2.	Test environment comprised of two functional spaces	68
5.3.	The ICILS test interface design from ICILS 2013, 2018, and 2023	69
5.4.	ICILS 2023 test session outline	70
5.5.	Example task 1 (multiple-choice question from <i>Band competition</i> presented in the ICILS 2023 test interface)	72
5.6.	Example task 1 (four website templates)	73
5.7.	Example task 2 (open-response task from <i>Breathing</i>)	74
5.8.	Example task 3 (three step linear skills task from <i>Breathing</i>)	75
5.9.	Example task 4 (Nonlinear skills task from School trip)	76
5.10.	Example task 5 (simple authoring task from <i>Band competition</i> presented in the ICILS 2023 test interface)	77
5.11.	Example task 6 (complex authoring task from <i>Breathing</i>)	78
5.12.	Example task 7 (Nonlinear systems transfer from Automated bus)	79
5.13.	Example task 8 (Nonlinear systems transfer from Automated bus)	80
5.14.	Example task 9 (simulation task from Automated bus)	81
5.15.	Example task 10 (algorithm debugging task from Farm drone)	82

List of Tables

4.1.	Mapping of variables to contextual framework (examples)	55
5.1.	Mapping the CIL test items to the CIL framework	83
5.2.	Mapping the CT test items to the CT framework	84

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Julian Fraillon, Sara Dexter, and Jeppe Bundsgaard

1.1 Overview

For many people across the world, the effective use of digital technologies is essential to their participation in education, work, leisure, and as citizens. We rely on digital information to make sense of our world, and on digital infrastructure and resources to manage the day-to-day functions to communicate with others, manage money, and participate as citizens in society. These functions require informed, critical, constructive, generative, and responsible uses of technology, as well as the capacity to use technology to solve problems (Cansu & Cansu, 2019; National Assessment Governing Board [NAGB], 2018; Vuorikari et al., 2022). In education young people both learn to use technology and use technology to learn and, as the use of technology continues to increase in all facets of our lives, the importance for young people to become confident, critical, and productive users of technology only continues to increase. The value placed on peoples' capacity to engage effectively with technology is evident, for example, in the inclusion of measures of youth and adults' information and communications technologies (ICT) skills in indicator 4.4.1 of the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (UN, 2017). In addition, under the *Resolution on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training towards the European Education Area and beyond (2021–2030)* (European Commission, 2021) the digital skills of grade 8 students will be monitored, using data collected in the International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS).

The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) has been studying the relationship between ICT and educational processes, as well as factors related to the pedagogical use of ICT, since the late-1980s (Pelgrum & Plomp, 2011). IEA's ICILS emerged in response to the increasing value being placed on the use of ICT in modern society and the need for citizens to develop relevant capabilities to participate effectively in a digital world. ICILS also addresses the need for policymakers and education systems to monitor the development of these essential capabilities over time, and to gain a better understanding of the contexts and outcomes of ICT-related education programs in their countries. The first cycle of ICILS in 2013 (ICILS 2013) assessed students' computer and information literacy (CIL) with an emphasis on the use of computers as information seeking, management, and communication tools. The international recognition of the importance of developing students' abilities to recognize and operationalize real-world problems using computational formulations on computers or other digital devices has prompted the development of an ICILS assessment of computational thinking (CT), which was offered to participating education systems as an international option as part of ICILS 2018.

In ICILS, CIL and CT (defined and articulated in detail in Chapters 2 and 3 respectively), are regarded as outcomes associated with a broader notion of *digital literacy* education within countries. Digital literacy is a contested term, with varying definitions within and across countries, that are influenced by language and culture (Pangrazio et al., 2020) and have continued to evolve with changes in technology and educational priorities (Reddy et al., 2020). In this framework, the term *digital literacy* is used broadly to encompass the curriculum areas across countries that are associated with students' abilities to use digital technologies to investigate, manage information, create content, communicate, collaborate, and solve problems. This use is intended to be consistent with broad conceptualisations of digital literacy or competence, such as the European Commission Digital Competence Framework for Citizens (DigComp) (Vuorikari et al., 2022).

ICILS 2023 continues and extends the work of the previous cycles, through the use of CIL and CT as outcome measures of digital literacy education in schools, and by seeking to measure and explain how the contexts in which CIL and CT are being developed relate to student learning in these areas.

1.2 Purposes of ICILS

The primary purpose of ICILS 2023 is to assess systematically the capacities of students to use ICT productively for a range of different purposes, in ways that go beyond a basic use of ICT. ICILS 2023 includes authentic computer-based assessments that are administered to students in their eighth year of schooling. These generate data reflecting two dimensions of ICT-related capacities:

- First, ICILS 2023 assesses CIL. This was first measured in ICILS 2013, where it was defined as "an individual' s ability to use computers to investigate, create, and communicate in order to participate effectively at home, at school, in the workplace, and in society" (Fraillon et al., 2013, p. 17). CIL refers to a student' s ability to use computer technologies to collect, manage, produce and exchange digital information.
- Second, ICILS 2023 assesses CT. This was first measured in ICILS 2018 where it was defined as "an
 individual' s ability to recognize aspects of real-world problems which are appropriate for computational formulation and to evaluate and develop algorithmic solutions to those problems so that the
 solutions could be operationalized with a computer" (Fraillon et al., 2019, p. 28). This is the type
 of thinking used when programming a computer or developing an application for another type of
 digital device.

ICILS investigates, in 2023 and across study cycles, variations in CIL and CT among and within countries, and the relationships between those constructs and student attributes (background characteristics and developed attributes) including students use and experiences of computer technologies. ICILS also investigates how CT is related to CIL.

In addition, ICILS 2023 investigates the broader contexts in which students' CIL and CT develop. Withinschool contexts are investigated, such as students' access to ICT at school and their experiences of using ICT in their general schoolwork and, specifically with respect to learning about CIL and CT. ICILS 2023 also includes a strengthened focus on teachers' reports of their approaches to teaching with and about technology, as well as the broader approach to leadership for technology use within schools. Out-of school contexts in which students' CIL and CT develop are also investigated, such as the extent of students' use of ICT for a range of purposes, as well as their attitudes toward the use of computer technologies.

ICILS is not restricted to measuring only those contextual aspects that are known or hypothesized to be directly related to students' CIL and CT achievement. ICILS seeks also to inform our understanding of the broader context in which digital literacy learning is taking place within and outside of school. Further contextual information is provided by schools and education systems about the learning environment, policies, resources, expectations, and support available for schools, teachers and students as they relate to the development of students' CIL and CT competencies.

1.3 Purpose of the ICILS assessment framework

The ICILS assessment framework articulates the basic structure of the study. It provides a description of the field and the constructs to be measured. It outlines the design and content of the measurement instruments, sets down the rationale for those designs, and describes how measures generated by those instruments relate to the constructs. Above all, the framework links ICILS to other work in the field so that the contents of this assessment framework combine theory and practice in an explication of "both the 'what' and the 'how'" (Jago, 2009, p. 1) of ICILS.

1.4 Background to the study

The mass production of microcomputers in the late 1970s and early 1980s resulted in computers being smaller and more affordable, and to an increase in the availability of software that could be used by people with less specialist computing knowledge. Over this time, there was a shift in the focus on technical usage and programming, including simplified programming using languages such as *Logo* (McDougall et al., 2014), to the widespread use of applications incorporating information management and communications. Punter et al. (2017) argued that the widespread use of the internet, as well as the ready availability of office applications, changed the nature of computer use. Caeli and Bundsgaard (2019) identified a similar pattern of change across four phases of computer use in education in Denmark. These began in the 1970s and

3

1980s with exploration of the implications of computing for society in combination with aspects of CT. In the 1990s the emphasis was on the use of computer applications by students and this was followed by a phase in the early 2000s that focused on the pedagogical use of digital resources. The most recent phase has has again focused on societal aspects with CT as one of four competence areas. Flury and Geiss (2023) make a distinction between two broad categories of approaches relating to the introduction of computers into classrooms: efforts to use computers to improve teaching and learning within existing subjects; and efforts to teach students about computer technology.

IEA has responded to the interest in and need for research into the use of computers and ICT in school education since the 1980s. This work began with the IEA Computers in Education (Comped) "in which at two points in time, data would be collected regarding the content and outcomes of this innovation in more than 20 educational systems" (Pelgrum & Plomp, 1993, p. 1). Comped included a two-stage data collection, with data collection in stage 1 in 1989 and in stage 2 in 1992 (Pelgrum & Plomp, 1993). Stage 1 aimed to collect information about the status of the use of computers in schools as well as establishing a baseline against which data in stage 2 could be compared. Despite Comped predating the first cycle of ICILS by 24 years, the two studies share remarkably similar designs, with questionnaire data being collected from school principals, "technical" coordinators, teachers and students and both studies including tests of student learning outcomes. Comped included a functional information literacy test (FITT), and optional tests in elementary programming and word processing (Pelgrum et al., 1993) which were measures of student computer use in schools and have been considerably broadened and expanded upon in the ICILS measures of CIL and CT. This evolution within the sphere of IEA studies alone reflects the expansion from computer literacy to broader notions of digital literacy(ies) that characterize the development of computer and ICT use in schools across the past 40 years.

IEA Comped was followed by the IEA Second International Technology in Education Study (SITES) which emerged in the late 1990s in response to perceptions and policy reflections on the evolution from "industrial societies to 'information societies,' in which the dissemination of information was deemed to be of paramount importance" (Pelgrum & Anderson, 2001, p. 2). SITES included three modules. SITES-Module 1 was conducted in 26 countries with data collected between 1997 and 1999. Principals and technology coordinators in schools completed questionnaires and reported on "the extent to which ICT was being used in education and on which education systems had implemented objectives important for education in a knowledge society" (Anderson & Plomp, 2009, p. 7). In late 2000 and early 2001, 28 countries participated in SITES-Module 2. In-depth case studies were reported on to investigate the nature and range of innovative teaching practices with technology, and the contextual factors that underpinned their success. SITES 2006 (initially known as SITES-Module 3) built on the work of SITES-Module 2 by examining the extent and impact of ICT integration in teaching and learning and the factors that contribute to successful integration. The teaching practices identified as most closely associated with innovation in SITES-Module 2 were used as the basis for framing the interpretation of the teaching methods and their level of innovation in SITES 2006. Data in SITES 2006 were collected from school principals, ICT-coordinators, and mathematics and science teachers (Anderson & Plomp, 2009).

The IEA suite of Comped and SITES surveys provided a strong foundation for the development of ICILS. They formally recognized and demonstrated the value of the development of student learning about computer use and with computers. Furthermore they investigated the relationships between innovative, effective teaching with technology. The studies established the conceptual framework for further investigating the role of the school context to support teachers' use of technology in their teaching, both through the provision of support and resourcing for teachers and the removal of obstacles that can inhibit technology integration in teaching.

In the early 2000s the expansion of the internet, characterized by improved connection speeds, stability and, in an increasing number of countries, access, made online data collection an increasingly viable proposition. When describing the work of SITES 2006, for example, Anderson and Plomp (2009) felt it worth reporting that "another feature of this study is that it used, on a large scale, online data collection" (p.8). The increased viability of online data collection, coincided with recognition of the transition from the industrial society to the information society and knowledge society (Phillips et al., 2017) and a concomitant increased recognition of the value of ICT and information literacy-related competencies school education (Geiss, 2023; GESCI, 2011; Tapper et al., 2007). It became widely accepted that information

technologies would provide the tools for creating, collecting, storing, and using knowledge, as well as for communication and collaboration (Kozma, 2003). In the early 2000s, the OECD commissioned a feasibility report into the potential inclusion of ICT literacy in the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). The report, published in 2003, concluded that "developing and administering an ICT literacy assessment would be challenging, but successful" (Lennon et al., 2003, p. 12). At a similar time, for example, in Australia, a national sample-based assessment of ICT literacy (NAP-ICTL) was being developed with the first cycle of computer-based data collection taking place in 2005 (see, for example Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority, 2015) and in the United States, the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) was planning to include Technology and Engineering Literacy (TEL) in the 2014 administration, using computer-based tasks (National Center for Education Statistics, 2014). The NAP-ICTL program and NAEP TEL are examples of the establishment of computer-delivered, scenario-based assessments of digital literacy-related skills that were being developed and implemented around the same time as the first cycle of ICILS was being planned and conducted. These emerged from the combination of technical advancements making such large-scale computer-based data collection possible and increasing interest in the objective assessment and monitoring of digital-literacy related competences in students. ICILS was developed as the first study in international large-scale assessment (ILSA) to collect data and report on these competences.

1.5 The evolution of CIL and CT in ICILS

Since its inception, ICILS has focused on students' learning about the use of ICT. However, the student learning outcomes measured in ICILS have evolved across the ICILS cycles to remain consistent with shifts in emphasis in digital education in schools. Student CIL, at the core of ICILS 2013, was described according to two strands that framed the skills and knowledge addressed by the instruments (Fraillon et al., 2013, pp. 34–35). Strand 1 focused on the receptive and organizational elements of information processing and management (*understanding computer use* and *accessing, evaluating, and managing digital information*) and strand 2 was concerned with producing and exchanging information (*transforming, creating, and sharing computer-based information*). The ICILS 2013 assessment instrument consisted of four 30-minute modules. Each student completed two of the four modules. A module was a set of questions and tasks contextualized by a real-world scenario and following a linear narrative structure. Each module had a series of small discrete tasks (skill execution and information management) followed by a large task that required the use of several applications to produce an information product that was scored by trained scorers according to specified scoring rubrics. The results of ICILS 2013 indicated that one dimension, CIL, underpinned the responses to the assessment (Gebhardt & Schulz, 2015).

ICILS 2018 sought to continue and improve on the measurement of CIL established in ICILS 2013. Following completion of ICILS 2013, and in consultation with national researchers, the project team "established a revised structure for the CIL construct for ICILS 2018" (Fraillon, 2018, p. 17). This revised structure was primarily intended to better communicate the contents of the CIL construct and to minimize overlap of separate content described across the strands. The restructure did not presuppose a change to the analytic structure of the CIL construct and this was later supported when the results of ICILS 2018 again showed CIL to be a uni-dimensional construct (Ockwell et al., 2020).

Computational thinking was introduced as an option available to countries participating in ICILS 2018. This was a reflection of increasing recognition of the value of CT as supporting people's understanding of how to make use of computers as tools, and in providing a foundational set of skills associated with creating novel computer-based solutions to existing real-world problems. Despite the clear differences between the conceptualization, measurement and reporting of CIL and CT, they have both been developed within ICILS to assess students' capacities to research, understand and offer solutions to real-world problems set within real-world contexts. This reflects the dominant paradigm of contemporary digital competencies (see for example, (Cansu & Cansu, 2019; ISTE, 2018b; Martínez-Bravo et al., 2022; NAGB, 2018; UNESCO Institute for Statistics [UIS], 2021; Vuorikari et al., 2022).

Computational thinking had its origins in the computational science movement of the 1980s and, after a period in the 1990s when ICT literacy and computer application use were prominent, had a resurgence in the 2000s (Caeli & Bundsgaard, 2020; Denning & Tedre, 2021) with a shift in emphasis on CT to be more strongly associated with creativity and problem solving. The national curriculum framework in England, for

example, suggests that "[a] high-quality computing education equips pupils to use computational thinking and creativity to understand and change the world" (Department for Education, 2014, p. 230). In ICILS 2018, CT was described according to two strands that addressed the conceptualization of computerbased solutions to problems (strand 1) and the operationalization of the solutions (strand 2) (Fraillon et al., 2019; Fraillon et al., 2020). Students in countries participating in the ICILS CT option complete two 25minute CT test modules. Similar to the CIL test modules, each CT module include a series of conceptually interrelated tasks that are based on an overarching real-world theme for each module. In the case of CT, the themes have the common property that a computer-based solution is being developed to address a real-world problem.

While the content of the CT construct used in ICILS has remained the same between ICILS 2018 and ICILS 2023 (see Chapter 3 for a complete description of the ICILS CT construct), the structure of the CT test content has been altered in ICILS 2023 to better reflect the integrated process of problem solving that lies at the core of CT. In ICILS 2018, the CT assessment comprised two modules, one module comprised tasks with a strong emphasis on conceptualizing problems and the second module comprised tasks with a strong emphasis on operationalizing solutions. In ICILS 2023, two new modules have been added to the assessment. Each of these modules comprises an integrated combination of tasks associated with both conceptualization and operationalization and include a stronger emphasis on evaluation of solutions as part of the iterative problem solving process. Details of the ICILS test design are provided in Chapter 5.

1.6 Recent education policy developments and programs related to CIL and CT

One key purpose of ICILS is to inform policy and program development associated with CIL and CT education. ICILS data and outcomes have been used to consider and review CIL and CT resourcing, curricula, teaching and learning practices and programs within and across countries, and to monitor changes over time (European Commission, 2021). Since ICILS 2018 there have been many developments in education policy concerned with computer and information literacy. In this section, we focus on developments that are particularly relevant to CIL and CT education. We begin with a brief overview of the scope of CIL- and CT-related initiatives across countries and continue with details of developments within selected ICILS countries, based on contributions provided by ICILS national research centers.

1.6.1 Cross-national developments and programs

Digital competence frameworks, intended to guide, support and act as points of reference within and across countries have been developed across a number of contexts. The European Commission Digital Competence Framework for Citizens (DigComp) is the pre-eminent supranational digital skills framework across Europe. DigComp has evolved since 2010 (European Commission, n.d.) to provide "a common understanding, across the EU and beyond, of what digital competence is, and therefore provided a basis for framing digital skills policy" (Vuorikari et al., 2022, p. 1). The current version of the framework, DigComp 2.2 outlines five competence areas: Information and data literacy; Communication and collaboration; Digital content creation; Safety; and Problem solving (Vuorikari et al., 2022, p. 7). Each competence area is further explicated through constituent dimensions which are described in terms of their expression through knowledge, skills and attitudes, and across eight proficiency levels. In addition to providing a central point-of-reference for countries to help frame their policies and practices associated with digital literacy, DigComp supports communities of practice in the development and implementation of DigComp (DigComp CoP), and in Digital Skills Certification (Digital Skills Certification CoP) (All Digital, n.d.; European Commission, n.d.). The European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators (DigCompEdu) was developed to describe the areas of educators' Digital Competence with specific emphasis on the use of digital technologies for teaching (European Commission and Joint Research Centre et al., 2017). The framework articulates six areas of educators' professional activities: Professional Engagement; Digital Resources; Teaching and Learning; Assessment; Empowering Learners; and Facilitating Learners' Digital Competence (European Commission and Joint Research Centre et al., 2017).

The UNESCO ICT Competency Framework for Teachers "consists of 18 competencies organized according to the six aspects of teachers' professional practice, over three levels of teachers' pedagogical use of ICT" (UNESCO, 2018, p. 8). The six aspects of professional practice are: Understanding ICT in Education Policy; Curriculum and Assessment; Pedagogy; Application of Digital Skills; Organization and Administration; and Teacher Professional Learning. The framework is a resources to guide teacher training and professional learning policy and program development (UNESCO, 2018). The UNICEF Educator's Digital Competency Framework (UNICEF, 2022) offers a common frame of reference to support work across Europe and Central Asia to "empower teachers, improve online teaching and boost innovation in education" (UNICEF, 2022, p. 1). The framework was developed to be consistent with DigCompEDU and with the UNESCO ICT Competency Framework for teachers, and describes four main areas of educators' digital competencies: Knowledge Development; Knowledge Application; Knowledge Sharing; and Knowledge and Communication (UNICEF, 2022, p. 1). DigCompEDU, the UNICEF Educator's Digital Competency Framework and the UNESCO ICT Competency Framework for Teachers all share the common global aim of supporting the work of teachers to improve the development of digital competencies in learners.

The International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) Standards "provide the competencies for learning, teaching and leading in the digital age" (ISTE, 2023a) and are used within and outside of the U.S. (ISTE, 2023a). Standards are available for students (competencies described across seven areas) (ISTE, 2023e), educators (competencies described across seven areas) (ISTE, 2023b), education leaders (competencies described across five areas) (ISTE, 2023d) and coaches (competencies described across seven areas) (ISTE, 2023c). The ISTE Standards also include Computational Thinking Competencies for Educators, with the specific goal of helping educators to enable their students to "harness the power of computing to improve their success in their personal, academic or professional lives" (ISTE, 2018a, p. 11).

Across Europe, CT is increasingly being included in national curricula. In an initial review of CT in compulsory education across Europe Bocconi et al. (2016) identified 11 countries that had recently implemented reforms to include CT-related concepts in compulsory curriculum with further sets of countries planning to initiate similar reforms or to more strongly integrate CT in existing computer science education. In a subsequent review, conducted six years later, 25 European countries were found to have "already introduced basic computer science concepts to some degree in their statutory curriculum for developing CT skills" (Bocconi et al., 2022, p. 5), with a further four countries actively planning and implementing similar polices. The review's authors further observed the need to "understand better how CT skills contribute to young people's skillsets and competences essential for the digital world we live in" (Bocconi et al., 2022, p. 5). As examples of initiatives in the Latin American region, Pereiro et al. (2022) describe a range of programs including curriculum reforms that associated with CT education in Uruguay, Argentina, and Brazil. In Chinese Taipei, a new learning subject, *Information Technology*, that incorporates CT is now mandatory for all students beginning in grade 7. Similar curriculum reforms have taken place in the past decade across the world, including in Australia, British Colombia (Canada), Japan, the Republic of Korea, and Singapore (Bocconi et al., 2016).

1.6.2 Policy developments and programs within selected ICILS participating countries

Since September 2019, secondary education in Belgium (Flemish) has been moving to have a greater emphasis on the use of digital technologies, starting with grades 7 and 8. This process has included revisions to the curriculum in which learning content associated with CIL and CT has been given higher priority. There are explicit expectations for all students to obtain the necessary knowledge and skills to: (1) use digital media and applications to create, participate, and interact; (2) handle responsibly, critically, and ethically digital media and information; (3) employ appropriate learning activities, strategies, and tools to critically acquire, manage, and process (digital) information taking into account the intended learning outcome and process; and (4) maintain and enhance a healthy lifestyle by distinguishing effects of potential addictive substances and actions of ICT use on themselves and their immediate environment. In addition, students must also learn to understand how digital systems work, by being able to distinguish building blocks of digital systems. They must be able to design and develop algorithmic solutions to solve complex problems. However, in 2023, the renewed curricula for grades 9 to 12 have been revised again after disagreement amongst diverse stakeholders, resulting in a reduced amount and more evaluable formulations of the related attainment targets. This revision implied again a reduced focus on competences related to CIL and especially CT from grade 9 and up. The Belgian (Flemish) attainment targets for all students

regarding digital literacy and CT have a transversal character, meaning that they are relevant to different subject areas and therefore not necessarily limited to one specific subject course. This aims to encourage an integrated cross-disciplinary approach to teach these skills in Flemish secondary schools.

In addition to revisions in the curricula, Belgium (Flemish) has introduced a new strategic initiative called "Digisprong" in 2021. This programme, seen as a response to the COVID-19 crisis, seeks to modernize and digitalize education through four key objectives: 1) establishing a future-oriented and secure ICT infrastructure for all schools; 2) implementing a robust and efficient ICT school policy; 3) enhancing the digital competence of teachers and teacher trainers, and providing tailored digital learning resources; and 4) establishing the Digisprong knowledge and advisory center serving the educational field. Every key objective encompasses a range of coordinated actions aimed at achieving top-tier digitalization in education, all with the ultimate goal of equipping tomorrow's adults to thrive in a technology-driven society.

The above advancements in education are in accordance with the objectives set forth in the Belgian (Flemish) Reform Programme (2020), which seeks, among other goals, to enhance digital literacy among citizens, including the integration of targeting digital skills in education (see, for example, Misheva, 2021).

In connection with the *Strategy for the Education Policy of the Czech Republic up to 2030+*, the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports initiated a revision of curriculum documents in the Czech Republic. In this context, the area of informatics and information and communication technologies are undergoing the most significant change. The changes will affect all levels of school education and have begun with primary and lower secondary levels. From the beginning of 2021, schools could have begun teaching according to the new informatics/computer science curriculum. In a staged introduction, primary schools are required to begin teaching to the new curriculum in 2023 and lower secondary schools to begin no later than in 2024.

Unlike the previous educational content of ICT in basic schools, which emphasized the ability to use computers and information and digital literacy, the "new informatics" focuses primarily on the development of computational thinking and understanding the principles of how digital technologies work. The new informatics is based on an active approach in which students use informatics procedures and concepts such as: algorithms, coding, and modeling. Understanding how digital technologies work also contributes to their effective, safe, and ethical use. The reform also introduces the inclusion of a new key competence *—digital —*and significantly strengthens the instruction time of informatics in primary education.

In primary education, pupils, through games, experiments, discussions, and other activities, form their first ideas about the ways in which data and information can be recorded and discover the IT aspects of the world around them. They gradually develop the ability to describe the problem, analyze it and find a solution. In a suitable programming environment, they verify algorithmic procedures and form the basis for understanding computer concepts. The new informatics curriculum also includes the safe handling of technologies and the acquisition of skills and habits that lead to the prevention of risky behavior. Even at lower secondary level, students create, experiment, test their hypotheses, discover, actively seek, design and verify various solutions, discuss with others and thus deepen and develop an understanding of basic computer science concepts and principles of digital technology. When analyzing a problem, they choose which aspects can be neglected and which are essential for its solution. They learn to create, formally write and systematically assess procedures suitable for automation, and process large and inconsistent data sets. Pupils understand the basic principles of coding, modeling, learn to test prototypes and their gradual improvement as a natural part of design and development in information technology. They consider and verify the impacts of the proposed solutions on individuals, society, and the environment (European Commission, 2023; Fryč et al., 2020).

In 2019, the Danish government launched a three-year pilot project of the subject *technology comprehension* in primary and lower secondary school (K-9). The purpose of the subject was for students to develop understanding of digital technologies, including being able to critically reflect on digital technologies, and design rather than just use technologies. The subject consisted of the four competence areas: Digital Empowerment, Digital Design and Design Processes, Computational Thinking, and Technological Knowledge and Skills (EMU, 2019). The pilot was finalized in 2021, but no decision has yet been made on whether to introduce the subject in K-9. In the meantime, some of the participating schools have continued their experiments with the subject. Some schools have also implemented ICT initiatives on their own as electives (Caeli & Bundsgaard, 2020). Additionally, the Danish university colleges, that include teacher training programmes, and universities have initiated a collaboration that aims to develop technology comprehension throughout the Danish education system. They state that "technology comprehension is emerging as a new professional subject in the Danish education system" ¹ (KP, n.d.) with the purpose to "support that Danish children and young people gain a basic understanding of the effects of technology in society, can critically analyze and actively use technology to create new things and solve complex problems within all subject areas" ¹ (KP, n.d.). Their work primarily aims to ensure that technology comprehension is implemented in K-9 and throughout the education system.

Furthermore, the teacher training programme in Copenhagen has launched technology comprehension as a pilot teaching subject from 2022, arguing that "society's need for our teachers to have these types of competences is increasing" ¹ (KP, 2021).

The curriculum introduced in 2016 in Finland, defines ICT as a transversal skill that crosses subject areas. CT/programming is included in specific subjects (mathematics and crafts) and the curriculum includes an emphasis on CIL and CT content in the transversal competences *Multiliteracy* and *ICT competence*, which are cross-curricular topics covering all subjects. These concern operating principles and concepts, responsible safe use of ICT, applications in information management, and creative work and interaction and networking (Finnish National Agency for Education, 2016). The curriculum has been introduced gradually since 2016. Consequently, Finnish students in ICILS 2018 can be considered as having followed the previous curriculum whereas those in ICILS 2023 have been following the curriculum introduced in 2016.

A country report on ICT in education in Finland included many other aspects of need in Finland, such as the need for teacher education and the development of digital curriculum content (Koskinen, 2017). Saari and Säntti (2018) pointed to the priority accorded to digitalization through modernizing infrastructure and expanding teacher education, and how the reform conflicts with traditions of devolved authority. Kaarakainen et al. (2018) reported on performance-based testing of students' and teachers' ICT skills, and argued that assessment data are pivotal to improving the computer literacy of students in Finland. Tanhua-Piiroinen et al. (2020) reported of varying progress of digitalization in schools, with positive changes in operational practices, but only modest changes in teachers' and students ICT skills. Unequal access to digital learning opportunities and differing school cultures have contributed to disparities among students' digital skills. Oinas et al. (2023) reported that digital technology in Finnish lower secondary schools is underutilized, with a limited scope of activities primarily centered around information retrieval, editing, and storage, with certain groups of students, such as those receiving intensive support or having an immigrant background, being more active users.

To meet the identified needs and challenges, the *New Literacies Development Programme for 2020–2023* was launched to support the implementation of the new curriculum by providing detailed descriptions of three competence areas: digital competence (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-a), media literacy (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-b), and programming skills (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-c), media literacy (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-c), media literacy (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-b), and programming skills (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-b), and programming skills (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-c; Ministry of Education and Culture, n.d.). Descriptions are provided for the following educational levels: Early childhood education and care, Pre-primary education, grades 1–2, grades 3–6, grades 7–9. Also, pedagogical content, guides, articles, videos, and models have been published to support the use of the framework, and funds have been allocated to several projects for piloting and specifying these competencies, as well as for training teachers in their adoption.

In addition to this programme, there are several other educational initiatives, programmes, and projects that contribute to the overall development of digital literacy-related areas in basic education in Finland. Among these are "Lukuliike," ("Movement for literacy") which supports the development of multiliteracy including aspects relating to CIL (Finnish National Agency for Education, n.d.-d). With respect to CT, there are several programming-themed initiatives, such as the Innokas Network (Innokas Network, n.d.) and Code School Finland (Code School Finland, n.d.), which have become more prominent in the recent years.

The French Ministry of Education is working towards the widespread use of digital technology in its schools. And it has a policy of supporting the development and distribution of digital teaching resources.

¹ Translation provided by Danish National Center.

The importance of digital skills was reaffirmed by the introduction of new courses at high school at the start of the 2019 academic year and by the Ministries of National Education, Youth and Sport and Higher Education, Research and Innovation releasing a reference framework for digital skills. The framework was inspired by the European DigComp Framework and describes the development of digital skills across eight levels, the first five of which are targeted at primary, middle, and high school students (Ministère de l'Education Nationale et de la Jeunesse, n.d.-a). This training in digital skills and their assessment are therefore part of the curriculum. Digital skills are assessed and national certification called PIX awarded at the end of grade 4, grade 8, and the final grade, 11 (Service-Public.fr, n.d.). After a year of consultation with education stakeholders, the French Ministry of Education presented the new Digital Strategy for Education 2023–2027. It is based on a series of measures designed to enhance pupils' digital skills and accelerate the use of digital tools to help pupils succeed (Ministère de l'Education Nationale et de la Jeunesse, n.d.-b).

In Germany, the national strategy "Education in the Digital World" by the Standing Conference of Ministers of Education and Cultural Affairs (KMK, 2016), established the first cross-federal ICT policy regarding teaching and learning in the digital world and was the key catalyst for digital learning reform. It includes plans, goals, and policies across a range of aspects of teaching and learning. With regard to learning, students' competences, potentials of learning in the digital world and new formats of exams are addressed. On the teaching side, the paper includes pedagogical professional attributes, development processes at school level, digital transformation as a task of school principals and school administration, the design of learning processes, teacher competences and teacher training. The supplementary strategy (Kultusministerkonferenz [KMK], 2021), which is more responsive to teaching and learning, highlights that ICILS 2023 will first show the effort of the national strategies. Moreover, a national extension of TIMSS 2023 will provide information and help monitoring digital teaching and learning in primary education. In order to implement the goals outlined in the national strategy, Germany has also launched the investment programme "DigitalPakt Schule" (2019–2024) to provide funding support to the federal states and municipalities to support the development of educational infrastructure (Bundesanzeiger, 2019).

In 2023 the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research in collaboration with the Association of Municipalities launched a new national Strategy for digital competence and infrastructure in kindergartens and schools (Kunnskapsdepartementet, 2023). The main objectives of the strategy for school are that:

- Students develop digital competence in line with the curriculum.
- All staff in schools have suitable professional digital competence.
- All children, young people, and adults have inclusive, safe, and good digital environments in kindergarten and school.
- The digital services and information management in the nursery and school sector are designed with the needs of children, pupils, staff, and parents at the core, and developed as interconnected services.

The strategy applies a whole government approach and highlights the importance of cooperation between levels of administration, different stakeholders, and different service areas.

The updated core curriculum, that applies to primary and secondary education and training in Norway was initiated in 2020. The core curriculum states that digital skills are one of five basic skills along with reading, writing, numeracy, and oral skills (Ministry of Education and Research, 2019). All teachers in all subjects are expected to support students in their work in the five basic skills. Computational thinking is integrated across the core curriculum as well. Programming can be found in core elements, digital skills and competence aims. It is mostly incorporated into learning outcomes for Natural Science and Mathematics subjects.

Alongside the curricula, the Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training has developed a framework and resources for CT (Utdanningsdirektoratet, 2019). Additionally, in 2020 the Directorate implemented several digital competence packages for teachers. Following this initiative, the professional digital competence was incorporated into all Continuing Professional Development (CPD) course studies for teachers as mandatory. The directorate also introduced a CPD course on digitalization to school leaders (Utdanningsdirektoratet, n.d., 2022).

In 2016, the Slovenian Ministry of Education convened an expert working group (RINOS I) to plan for better integration of the core content of computer science and informatics into Slovenian education (RI-NOS, 2023). The first objective of the RINOS I group was to review the state of computer science and technology (CS&.T) within school education in Slovenia. The scope of the review included analysis of the Slovenian curriculum, student achievement, teacher training, and continuous professional development. The review was to consider both data available within Slovenia and with reference to international comparisons. Outcomes of the review were to inform proposed changes by RINOS I to improve the state of teacher education and training and to propose content to be included in a plan for improvement and change (RINOS, 2023). In 2019, the RINOS II working group was appointed to prepare, implement and monitor an action plan for including basic CS&.T content in Slovenian education. The action plan includes:

- Introducing basic CS&.T content into programmes that include reference to the interaction between technology and society across all levels of schooling.
- Ensuring comprehensive assessment of digital competences across subjects and all levels of schooling.
- Improving the system for training and ongoing professional development for teachers in CS&.T.
- Establishing an open education system that enables stakeholders to contribute to the vision and implementation of CS&.T in teaching and learning.

(RINOS, 2023)

In July 2021 in Slovenia, the *Služba za digitalizacijo izobraževanja* (Digital Education Unit) was established as a body within the ministry of education (Gov.si, 2023). The Digital Education Unit plans, implements, and monitors digitalization tasks across all levels of education. The unit has responsibility for the provision of software, hardware, and internet connectivity in schools as well as providing support to educational institutions in the preparation of digital transformation plans at all levels of education and training. The unit also supports the development of digital pedagogy and knowledge in the use of digital tools in education and training. The work of the Digital Education Unit is framed by the Digital Education Action Plan 2021–2027 (ANDI), approved on 22 April 2022. ANDI covers the following areas:

- 1. National coordination of digital education
- 2. Didactics of digital education
- 3. Amendment to the education and study programmes, and work posts
- 4. Education and training of education staff, leadership, and other educators, as well as lifelong learning
- 5. Digital education ecosystem
- 6. Protocols for education in extraordinary circumstances

(EC, 2023; Gov.si, 2023)

In March 2023, the Slovenian government approved *Digitalna Slovenija 2030—Krovna strategija digitalne preobrazbe Slovenije do leta 2030* (the Digital Slovenia 2030 strategy). The strategy aims to support, strengthen, and promote digital transformation across all segments of Slovenian society by 2030. To this end, the strategy includes six priority areas that encompass digital infrastructure, digital competences and inclusion, digital transformation of the economy, digital innovation, digitalization of public services, and cybersecurity. In the area of digital competences and inclusion, the strategy includes the following goals:

- 1. To ensure digital rights for every citizen
- 2. To introduce digital competences into the compulsory curriculum of the school system
- 3. To develop a common training programme for basic digital competences and promote it accordingly
- 4. To ensure pedagogical digital competences for all educators
- 5. To improve the digital literacy of the population

- 6. To increase the number of ICT staff
- 7. To reduce the gender gap in ICT

(Ministry of Digital Transformation, 2023; Ministry of Education, Science and Sport, 2022)

In Spain, the Digitization and Digital Competences of the Educational System Plan (INTEF, 2022) has been introduced under a broad range of initiatives consistent with the Digital Spain 2026 agenda (Ministerio de Asuntos Económicos y Transformación Digital [MINECO], n.d.). The plan includes four key areas of actions. The aim to develop digital competence is addressed through its inclusion in curricula and has a reference framework for teachers to accredit their CIL level. More than 22,000 Spanish schools are publishing their own Digital Plans as part of this initiative. A range of digitalization initiatives have been implemented to provide broadband internet connectivity to schools and devices to the most disadvantaged students and computers and digital whiteboards to schools. Further initiatives are in place relating to the creation and dissemination of open educational resources and teacher training and technical resources associated with computational thinking-related skills associated with advanced digital methodologies and competences.

In 2019, Chinese Taipei began to implement a literacy-based national curriculum standards for mandatory education, known as the *12-Year Basic Education Curriculum Guidelines*, announced by the Ministry of Education in Chinese Taipei in 2014 (Hao & Hsin-Hsien, 2014; Ministry of Education in Taiwan, 2014). The new guidelines include ICT and media literacy as a core competency, and aim to cultivate students' abilities to utilize information technology effectively for in-depth learning and real-world problem solving. They also intend to develop students' positive attitudes, proper behavior, and responsible use of information technology (NKNU, 2014, 2021).

Computational thinking and computer programming have been incorporated into this new curriculum standard (Tsai et al., 2021; Tsai et al., 2019). A new subject, *Information Technology*, beginning in grade 7, is now mandatory for all students. The curriculum for this subject describes learning outcomes in four aspects: computational thinking and problem solving; collaboration and creativity around computing; communication and presentation about computing; and attitudes toward computing. The learning content comprises six dimensions: algorithms; programming; system platforms; data representation, processing, and analysis; applications of information technology; and the relationship between information technology, humans, and society (Ministry of Education in Taiwan, 2018). The new curriculum is designed to, progressively across the different levels of schooling, develop the student skills necessary for their future life and career development in the information age. At the elementary school level, the curriculum focuses on using and applying ICT. The emphasis at the junior high school level is on utilizing CT and information technology to solve problems. By the high school level, the focus shifts to conceptual learning of CT and further integration of its applications.

Concurrently, starting from 2022, a 4-year project entitled Every Classroom Has Internet Access, Every Student Has a Tablet was implemented nationwide. The primary goals of this project are to: enhance students' abilities to apply digital technology for self-directed learning; provide learning devices to all elementary and junior high schools; improve bandwidth to support classroom wireless internet access; and minimize the urban-rural digital divide in ICT education. As part of this initiative, digital learning devices were provided to economically disadvantaged students during the COVID-19 pandemic. Further to this, the government has an ongoing programme to provide online digital teaching resources and fosters social groups for teachers, aiming to enhance their innovative teaching skills and motivation (Ministry of Education in Taiwan, 2022).

1.7 Selected research publications using ICILS data since 2018

One of the fundamental purposes of ICILS is to provide a repository of representative data relating to CIL and CT education and education outcomes in ICILS countries, with the intent that these data are used as the basis for further research, analysis, and reporting. Since ICILS 2018, research publications using data from both ICILS 2018 and 2013 have been released addressing themes associated with students, teachers, principals and schools within and across countries. The research literature using ICILS data covers outcomes that can be reported with a view to informing digital literacy education policy and practices, as

well as explorations of alternative analysis techniques and research methodologies. The following summary of selected research using ICILS data since 2018 is included to provide readers with a sense of the breadth and depth of uses to which the ICILS data have been used by the research community.

A key area of research interest has been the ways in which student achievement in CIL and CT can be explained by the contribution of measured contextual factors. The ICILS 2018 International Report included the outcomes of multilevel modeling that showed similarities and differences in the relationships between contextual factors and student achievement in each of CIL and CT. Students' reported use of test language at home, socioeconomic background, and expected level of education were consistent positive predictors of CIL and CT, as were their frequency of use of ICT, and their experience using computers (Fraillon et al., 2020). In contrast, "[f]emale gender tended to be positively related to CIL but negatively associated to CT scores" (Fraillon et al., 2020, p. 215) and, while student reports on having learned about CIL tasks at school was positively associated with CIL achievement, student reports of having learned about CT-related tasks at school tended to have a a negative association with student CT scores (Fraillon et al., 2020).

Two meta-analyses of the relationships between student ICT literacy and contextual background variables have reported findings broadly consistent with those across both previous cycles of ICILS. Siddig and Scherer (2019) reported an overall positive effect of female students demonstrating higher ICT literacy scores, with higher effect sizes in primary schooling than in secondary schooling. Overall the effect reported by Siddiq and Scherer (2019) was smaller than those reported in earlier studies based on selfreported ICT literacy only. Data from ICILS come from objective measures of ICT literacy achievement in contrast to self-report measures that were used before, therefore Siddiq and Scherer (2019) suggest the gender gap in ICT literacy may be smaller than it was previously believed to be. It is important to note, however, that different conceptualizations of the relative importance of ICT technical skills in comparison to ICT communication skills influence the instruments used to measure ICT literacy (regardless of whether this is done through self-report or objective testing) and consequently may affect the magnitude of reported gender differences in ICT literacy. Siddig and Scherer (2019) further suggested that the gender differences in ICT literacy were relatively small in comparison to those reported in other domains. Scherer and Siddiq (2019) reported similarly, from a meta-analysis including performance assessments of ICT literacy, that the association between socioeconomic status (SES) and ICT literacy was positive and significant but "less than for other, more traditional domains such as reading, mathematics and science" (Scherer & Siddiq, 2019, p. 30).

The relationship between SES and digital literacy is often considered in the context of the *digital divide*² which was reported in ICILS 2018 as being "clearly apparent in the student achievement results in both CIL and CT" (Fraillon et al., 2020, p. 245). O. Hatlevik et al. (2018) explored the determinants of students' ICT self-efficacy (regarding the use of general applications), and its relationship to student CIL using path analysis of ICILS 2013 data. Students' reports of the degree to which they believe they have taught themselves to use ICT and their experience with using ICT were the most important variables in explaining variations in their ICT self-efficacy. While SES was the strongest positive predictor of student CIL, it was not a strong predictor of student ICT self-efficacy. Furthermore, while a positive relationship was reported between ICT self-efficacy and CIL, the relationship varied from low to moderate across countries. O. Hatlevik et al. (2018) interpreted these findings together through the lens of the *digital divide* and concluded that SES appeared to be contributing at the second level of the digital divide (the use of technology in the classroom) rather than the first level (access to technology resources) (see Hohlfeld et al., 2008). They consequently suggested that, in order to "prevent and dismiss the digital divide, schools should take action to help students develop ICT literacy" (O. Hatlevik et al., 2018, p. 118).

van de Werfhorst et al. (2022) concluded from analysis of ICILS 2018 data that the digital divide was more clearly at the level of differences among students rather than clearly across the readiness of schools to provide digital education. Similar to O. Hatlevik et al. (2018), they suggested that emphasis should be for schools to focus on improving students digital skills as a way of ameliorating the differences in digital

² In ICILS the *digital divide* is defined to be the varying opportunities and access that people have to digital technologies. "This can extend beyond access to technology to include how technology is used in schools and how students are empowered through technology to participate in their digital world" (Fraillon et al., 2020, p. 244).

13

literacy across students. Ercikan et al. (2018) similarly found evidence of a digital divide from ICILS 2013 data and, in addition to reflecting on its impact on teaching and learning, made recommendations regarding the creation and conduct of digital assessments to reduce extraneous impact of the the digital divide on students' test taking experiences and consequently their results. Although the relative impact of factors associated with the digital divide (such as SES, and access to digital resources) varies across countries, based on multilevel modeling of ICILS 2018 data, Aydin (2021) suggested that the substance of these factors is largely similar across countries, including across those with different economic structures and different levels of digital literacy.

Scholars have sought to further investigate the factors associated with student CIL as measured in ICILS. Based on the outcomes of latent class analysis of students' time spent completing ICILS test tasks, Heldt et al. (2020) identified two classes of students (fast and slow). The fast class of students, which was associated with higher CIL achievement, completed the ICILS skills tasks more quickly, but took relatively longer than students in the slow class to complete the large information communication tasks that require planning and editing. This suggests that time on task in ICILS is affected by the ability of students relative to task difficulty for skill execution tasks (with relatively easier tasks for a student taking less time to complete), and by the level of planning and refinement required for the large information communication tasks, in which students with higher CIL spend more time than students with lower CIL on the processes of engaging with and refining their product-based responses to the tasks. Karpiński et al. (2023) explored potential fatigue and motivation effects on ICILS test-takers, as measured by three proxies: response time per task, relative probability of response correctness across successive tasks, and non-response to questionnaire items. They found that, while all three proxies were significant predictors of student CIL test scores, drop in response time was the strongest predictor. Both Heldt et al. (2020) and Karpiński et al. (2023) reported on, and suggested that there was further work to be done in analyzing the relationships between test-taking behaviors and student sub-groups.

ICILS seeks to describe and support better understandings of the roles teachers play in the development of student CIL and CT, as well as the factors that can support the work of teachers. Among the conclusions from ICILS 2018 about how the work of teachers can be supported, were the observations that "while the provision of ICT infrastructure in schools can impact on the likelihood of teachers using ICT, they should be accompanied with the provision of time for teachers to plan for ICT use and develop ICT skills" (Fraillon et al., 2020, p. 247). It was further reported that teacher perceptions of collaboration regarding the use of ICT, confidence to use ICT in their teaching, and positive beliefs in the value of using ICT in teaching all were positively associated with their likelihood to engage in teaching practices that emphasize CIL- and CT-related competencies (Fraillon et al., 2020). Secondary analyses of ICILS data have further sought to identify areas of influence on teacher practice that may inform policy and program development.

Structural equation modeling (SEM) has been used by a number of researchers to investigate the contribution of a variety of factors to teachers' use of ICT, and their emphasis on CIL and CT in their teaching. I. Hatlevik and Hatlevik (2018a) used ICILS 2018 data to investigate a model to explain Norwegian teachers' likelihood to use ICT in their teaching and reported that "it is not enough to be confident in using ICT yourself... you also need to be confident in how to use it for instructional purposes" (I. Hatlevik & Hatlevik, 2018a, p. 7). They further demonstrated that the relationship between that teachers' perceptions of a lack of facilitation for the use of ICT by school management was not associated with their self-efficacy for the use of ICT in teaching, or the use of ICT in their teaching. This was in contrast to teachers perceived collaboration with colleagues, which was significantly positively associated with both variables (I. Hatlevik & Hatlevik, 2018a). Further to these findings, I. Hatlevik and Hatlevik (2018b) demonstrated that the degree of emphasis teachers place on the evaluation of digital information in their teaching is positively associated with their use of ICT in their teaching and also mediated by teacher's self efficacy for the use of ICT in their teaching. Konstantinidou and Scherer (2022) applied mulitlevel SEM and regression trees to ICILS 2018 data supplemented by external country data to investigate teacher-, school-, and countrylevel effects on teachers' emphasis on CIL and CT and their use of ICT in teaching. Consistent with the findings of I. Hatlevik and Hatlevik (2018a) and I. Hatlevik and Hatlevik (2018b) they also reported that the predictors of teachers' use of technology and emphasis on CIL and CT are mainly at the teacher-level, with teacher motivation, expertise and collaboration playing more important roles in explaining variation in instructional practices than collective school-level factors or country-level factors, although the profile

of these contributions varied across countries (Konstantinidou & Scherer, 2022).

Lomos et al. (2023) applied the theoretical lens of the *Four in Balance* model of the implementation of ICT in schools (Kennisnet, 2013; Tondeur et al., 2009) to ICILS 2018 data from Luxembourg. They also concluded that individual teacher attributes (reported as teachers' *vision* with respect to the outcomes of the use of ICT in teaching and teachers' *expertise* regarding the use of ICT in their teaching) were key factors that differentiated teacher use of ICT rather than school-level attributes such as the provision materials or ICT infrastructure (Lomos et al., 2023).

ICILS data have been used to establish profiles of students' computer use (Scherer et al., 2017) and their association with CIL (Bundsgaard & Gerick, 2017). Drossel et al. (2020) sought to address a suggested "research gap" (p.4) with respect to "school characteristics related to the successful teaching of CIL" (p.3). They applied latent profile analysis to ICILS 2018 data in order to establish a typology of *organizationally resilient* schools—schools with student averages that are in the lowest third of SES and highest third of CIL achievement within each country (Drossel et al., 2020). They identified three profiles of organizationally resilient schools that vary in particular with respect to teachers' perceptions of the availability of ICT resources in the schools, collaboration, and their use of and attitudes toward the use of ICT in their teaching (Drossel et al., 2020). ICILS 2018 data from European countries were used by Gerick (2018) to establish profiles of schools based on their *visions and strategies, teacher professional development and ICT infrastructure*. Five profiles were established, with varying distributions across countries. There was no clear pattern of association between student CIL and school profile type across the countries (Gerick, 2018).

Tulowitzki et al. (2022) used European ICILS 2018 data together with qualitative data to compare the ICT use of German school principals with those of other European countries, to establish profiles of German school principals according to their ICT use, and to explore challenges with respect to the use of ICT in their work as perceived by school principals. They identified two profiles of school principals with respect to their ICT use, with 56 percent of German school leaders classified as using *partial digital school management* and 44 percent as using *comprehensive digital school management* (Tulowitzki et al., 2022).

A number of studies have explored aspects of design and analytic methodological issues associated with Large Scale Assessment (LSA) using ICILS data. These have included considerations associated with the application of multilevel modeling (Bokhove, 2022; Yildiz et al., 2022), alternative analysis procedures (Ozbasi & Ilgaz, 2019) including alternative item response theory (IRT) models (Yalçin, 2019) and the use of the outcomes of differential item function (DIF) analysis outcomes as information to support the teaching of CIL (Bundsgaard, 2019).

1.8 Areas of increased focus in ICILS 2023

Across each cycle of ICILS, there has been a commitment to innovation with a view to maximizing the relevance of ICILS to stakeholders. ICILS 2013 was the first International Large Scale Assessment (ILSA) to measure and report on students' digital literacy-related competencies (CIL) as the central learning outcome. In addition, the study introduced the thematically based modular assessment of CIL in authentic real-world contexts together with the cross-national application of analytic criteria to assess students' work on digital information products (such as presentations, websites or posters). In the second cycle of ICILS, the optional assessment of CT was introduced, including the technical innovation of using a live block-based coding environment within the assessment. In ICILS 2023, we have expanded the breadth and depth of contextual information to be collected as part of the assessment. Two new focus areas for ICILS 2023 are *teaching practices and teachers' beliefs* and *leadership for ICT*.

1.8.1 Teaching practices and teachers' beliefs

In the first two ICILS cycles, teachers were asked about their use of ICT when engaging in different teaching and learning activities with their students. These items were used to create scales describing the extent of use of ICT for teaching and learning at school, but they were not providing information on which types of teaching and learning practices were prevalent in schools. That information would be relevant, for example, when trying to determine if some teaching and learning practices were associated with higher CIL or CT scores. For this reason, in ICILS 2023, teachers are asked both how often they and their students are engaging in a number of different teaching and learning activities, and to what extent they used ICT in each activity. The purpose of this is to be able to identify teaching practices used within and across countries. Identification of different teaching practices or instructional design models (Reigeluth & Carr-Chellman, 2009) has proven to be a challenge in previous cycles of ICILS. This might be because teachers' classroom activities may reflect more immediate, contextually expedient responses to the classroom context rather than a consistent and coherent underlying theoretically and epistemologically-driven approach. An example of this could be inferred from the high percentages of teachers who in ICILS 2018 reported that their students used ICT both for working individually on learning materials at their own pace, and on extended projects lasting over a week (Fraillon et al., 2020). The first practice would theoretically be part of a direct instructional design model, while the second would be part of a problem or project based model. In the IEA precursor to ICILS, SITES 2006, three "teacher-practice orientations" were identified: Traditionally important, Lifelong learning, and Connectedness, but for some participating education systems the reliability of some of the scales were less than satisfactory (Law et al., 2008, p. 128). In ICILS 2023, two approaches to teaching, *direct instruction* and *inquiry based instruction* (Reigeluth & Carr-Chellman, 2009) underpin the teaching and learning activities that are included in the questionnaire instruments.

Another approach to understanding how teachers teach, is to inquire into their epistemological beliefs about knowledge, learning, and cognition. In theory, teachers' beliefs shape their teaching methods. Research using data from Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS) 2013 indicates a somewhat weak correlation between constructivist beliefs and adaptable learning environments that support students' knowledge construction (OECD, 2014). As an international option in ICILS 2023 teachers are asked about their epistemological beliefs. The question includes statements that express different views on the nature of learning and cognition, and on how to characterize knowledge. The statements were developed to represent three distinct types of epistemological beliefs, 1) Embodied cognition, knowledge is built on the physical experience of one's environment and connected to both the associated psychological experience of being in the environment; 2) Cognitivist, knowledge is identifiable as facts or information which can be acquired by transmission from someone who knows already, and 3) Constuctivist, knowledge is constructed by the individual by relating and situating new experiences into the existing system of knowledge. Where feasible, ICILS 2023 aims to explore the degree to which teachers' expressed epistemological beliefs are reflected in their teaching practices.

1.8.2 Leadership for ICT

In previous ICILS cycles, aspects of the school context were not directly addressed but could be considered as indirect indicators of leadership for ICT. ICILS 2023 includes leadership for ICT as an explicit area of research interest. Selected questions from previous cycles addressing school context for ICT teaching and learning are retained and supplemented by explicit new questions representing key functions of leadership for ICT.

The inclusion of this focus area reflects the growing body of evidence indicating that leadership does play a role in the nature and extent of ICT use in a school, influencing both teachers' conceptions of appropriate ICT use in the classroom and the support they receive for their integration. In ICILS, how leadership exerts influence on ICT use is mapped to the findings of how leaders influence any aspect of a school. The ICILS 2023 leadership context variables are categorized using the same framework utilized in two reviews of approximately 20 years of peer-reviewed literature (Dexter et al., 2016; Dexter & Richardson, 2020). This framework, the Unified Model of Effective Leadership Practices (Hitt & Tucker, 2016), is a synthesis of three previous evidence-based school leadership frameworks (Leithwood, 2012; Murphy et al., 2006; Sebring et al., 2006). Thus, the leadership context variables conceptualize leadership for ICT in terms of previous research on school leaders' practices. As a result, the emphasis in ICILS is also on leadership—the process of exerting influence in a particular direction and the marshaling of means to achieve that end. While the head leaders of the school, the principals, are asked many of the questions, the questions are not focused on whether persons in those roles complete that work, but they do ascertain their estimation regarding the understandings, processes, and resources that are present in their schools. To gain insight from the individuals most able to report on certain aspects or outcomes of leadership for ICT, the ICT coordinators and teachers are also asked some questions.

While in ICILS 2018, framed as part of the school/classroom context, there were questions that asked

about the expectations of teachers to integrate ICT and the provision of resources to support this, in 2023 new questions are added to create a more complete portrayal of the vision, professional capability building, and supportive organizational features at the school for ICT use.

1.9 Research questions

The core student achievement measure of ICILS is CIL and CT is available as an optional additional measure. As a consequence, two sets of ICILS research questions are presented relating to these two outcome measures, and the contexts in which CIL and CT are developed.

1.9.1 CIL

- RQ CIL 1 What variations exist in students' CIL within and across countries?
- RQ CIL 2 How is CIL education implemented across countries, and what aspects of schools and countries are related to students' CIL?

Following are some of the aspects of schools and education systems that could potentially be related to students' CIL:

- (a) General approaches and priorities accorded to computer and information literacy education at system and school level
- (b) School coordination and collaboration regarding the use of ICT in teaching
- (c) School and teaching practices regarding the use of technologies in students' CIL
- (d) Teacher proficiency in, attitudes towards, and experience with using computers
- (e) ICT resources in schools
- (f) Teacher professional development
- (g) School leadership for technology
- RQ CIL 3 How has CIL changed since ICILS 2013?
- RQ CIL 4 What aspects of students' personal and social backgrounds (such as gender, and socioeconomic background) are related to students' CIL?
- RQ CIL 5 What are the relationships between students' levels of access to, familiarity with, and self-reported proficiency in using computers and their CIL?

1.9.2 CT

The proposed research questions relating to CT closely reflect those proposed for CIL. Analyses will include data from those countries participating in the international option assessing students' CT achievement.

- RQ CT 1 What variations exist in students' CT within and across countries?
- RQ CT 2 How is CT education implemented across countries, and what aspects of schools and countries are related to students' CT?
- RQ CT 3 How has CT changed since ICILS 2018?
- RQ CT 4 What aspects of students' personal and social backgrounds (such as gender, and socioeconomic background) are related to students' CT?
- RQ CT 5 What are the relationships between students' levels of access to, familiarity with, and self-reported proficiency in using computers and their CT?
- RQ CT 6 What is the association between students' CIL and CT, and how has this changed since 2018?

1.10 Target population and instruments

1.10.1 Target population and sampling

The ICILS target student population comprises students in their eighth year of schooling. In most education systems, this is grade 8, provided that the average age of students in this grade is 13.5 years or above. In education systems where the average age in grade 8 is below 13.5 years old, the adjacent upper grade (9) is defined as the ICILS target population. Schools with students enrolled in the target grade will be selected randomly proportional to size (PPS). Within each sampled school, one intact class of the target grade is selected randomly.

The target population for the ICILS teacher survey is defined as all teachers teaching regular school subjects at the target grade. Within each school, eligible teachers are those teachers who teach target grade students during the testing period and have been employed at school from the beginning of the school year. In schools with more than 20 eligible teachers, 15 eligible teachers are randomly selected to participate.³ In schools with 20 or fewer eligible teachers, all eligible teachers are selected to participate.

School-level data are provided by the principal and ICT coordinator from each sampled school. In addition, national centers will provide information about the national contexts for CIL and CT learning by drawing on relevant expertise in each country.

1.10.2 Instruments

The following instruments form part of ICILS.

An international computer-based student test consisting of:

- questions and tasks set in authentic contexts designed to measure students' CIL⁴
- questions and tasks set in authentic contexts designed to measure CT⁵

A *student questionnaire* consisting of a computer-based set of items measuring student background, access to, experience and use of, and familiarity with ICT at home and at school (including their experiences of using ICT in their lessons). The questionnaire also includes questions designed to gauge students' attitudes toward using ICT.

A *teacher questionnaire* administered to selected teachers teaching any subject in the target grade. It gathers information about teacher background, their use of ICT and their experiences of professional learning associated with ICT. The questionnaire includes items that ask teachers to rate their confidence in using computers in their teaching, to indicate the frequency with which they engage in specified teaching activities and the degree to which they use ICT and which ICT tools they use, to indicate the degree to which they emphasize aspects of CIL and CT in their teaching, and to express their attitudes toward using computers in teaching and learning.

A *school principal questionnaire*, administered to the principals of sampled schools and designed to capture school characteristics, school policies, and approaches regarding the application of ICT in teaching and learning, and aspects of the management of ICT at school and vision and implementation of leadership for technology use in the school.

An *ICT coordinator questionnaire* administered to ICT coordinators of sampled schools designed to capture information on resources and support for ICT and the use of ICT in teaching and learning at schools.

A *national contexts survey* completed by ICILS national research centers drawing on relevant expertise in each country. The survey will gather information on the structure of the education system, the status of CIL-related education in the national curriculum and policies, initiatives and resourcing associated with ICT, and CIL-related education. The online questionnaire also includes questions related to extent in which CT learning is incorporated into the national educational policies (for instance, questions on the extent in which CT processes such as writing or evaluating code, programs or macros are included in the curriculum). The data obtained from this survey should provide a description of the contexts for CIL- and CT-related

³ Some countries selected more than 15 teachers per school in order to meet the minimum sample size.

⁴ This is the core test instrument completed by students in all participating countries.

⁵ This test instrument is completed only by students in countries participating in the international option of assessing CT.

education in each country and assist with the interpretation of results from the student, school, and teacher questionnaires.

References

All Digital. (n.d.). Communities of practice. https://all-digital.org/communities-of-practice/

- Anderson, R. E., & Plomp, T. (2009). Introduction. In T. Plomp, R. E. Anderson, N. Law, & A. Quale (Eds.), Cross-national information and communication technology. policies and practices in education (Revised Second). Information Age Publishing.
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2015). *National Assessment Program —ICT Literacy Years 6 & 10 Report 2014* (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-ass essments/results-and-reports
- Aydin, M. (2021). Does the digital divide matter? factors and conditions that promote ICT literacy. *Telem*atics and Informatics, 58, 101536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2020.101536
- Bocconi, S., Chioccariello, A., Dettori, G., Ferrari, A., & Engelhardt, K. (2016). Developing computational thinking in compulsory education. Implications for policy and practice (tech. rep. EUR 28295 EN). Joint Research Centre. Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2791/792 158
- Bocconi, S., Chioccariello, A., Kampylis, P., Dagienė, V., Wastiau, P., Engelhardt, K., Earp, J., Horvath, A. A., Jasutė, E., Malagoli, C., Masiulionytė-Dagienė, V., & Stupurienė, G. (2022). *Reviewing computational thinking in compulsory education* (A. Inamorato dos Santos, R. Cachia, N. Giannoutsou, & Y. Punie, Eds.; tech. rep.). Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2760/12 6955
- Bokhove, C. (2022). The role of analytical variability in secondary data replications: A replication of Kim et al. (2014). *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 27(1-2), 141–163. https://doi.org/10.1080/138 03611.2021.2022319
- Bundesanzeiger. Verwaltungsvereinbarung. digitalpakt schule 2019 bis 2024. 2019. https://www.digitalpak tschule.de/files/VV_DigitalPaktSchule_Web.pdf
- Bundsgaard, J. (2019). Dif as a pedagogical tool: Analysis of item characteristics in ICILS to understand what students are struggling with. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 7(1), 9. https://doi.org/1 0.1186/s40536-019-0077-2
- Bundsgaard, J., & Gerick, J. (2017). Patterns of students' computer use and relations to their computer and information literacy: Results of a latent class analysis and implications for teaching and learning. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 5(17), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-017-0052-8
- Caeli, E. N., & Bundsgaard, J. (2019). Datalogisk tænkning og teknologiforståelse i folkeskolen tur-retur. *Tidsskriftet Læring og Medier (LOM)*, 11(19), 30. https://doi.org/10.7146/lom.v11i19.110919
- Caeli, E. N., & Bundsgaard, J. (2020). Computational thinking in compulsory education: A survey study on initiatives and conceptions. *Educational technology research and development*, 68(1), 551–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09694-z
- Cansu, S. K., & Cansu, F. K. (2019). An overview of computational thinking. *International Journal of Computer* Science Education in Schools, 3(1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.21585/ijcses.v3i1.53
- Code School Finland. (n.d.). Code School Finland. https://www.codeschool.fi
- Denning, P. J., & Tedre, M. (2021). Computational thinking: A disciplinary perspective. Informatics in Education, 20(3), 361–390. https://doi.org/10.15388/infedu.2021.21
- Department for Education. (2014). *The national curriculum in England: Framework document*. Department for Education. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/at tachment_data/file/381344/Master_final_national_curriculum_28_Nov.pdf
- Dexter, S., Richardson, J. W., & Nash, J. B. (2016). Leadership for technology use, integration, and innovation: A review of the empirical research and implications for leadership preparation. In M. D. Young & G. M. Crow (Eds.), *Handbook of research on the education of school leaders* (2nd, pp. 202–228). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315724751
- Dexter, S., & Richardson, J. (2020). What does technology integration research tell us about the leadership of technology? *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 52(1), 17–36. https://doi.org/10.1 080/15391523.2019.1668316

- Drossel, K., Eickelmann, B., & Vennemann, M. (2020). Schools overcoming the digital divide: In-depth analyses towards organizational resilience in the computer and information literacy domain. *Largescale Assessments in Education*, 8(9), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-020-00087-w
- EMU. (2019). Technology comprehension. https://emu.dk/grundskole/teknologiforstaaelse/technologycomprehension
- Ercikan, K., Asil, M., & Grover, R. (2018). Digital divide: A critical context for digitally based assessments. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 26, 51. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.26.3817
- European Commission. (n.d.). EU science hub | DigComp. https://joint-research-centre.ec.europa.eu/digco mp_en
- European Commission. (2021). Council resolution on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training towards the European Education Area and beyond (2021-2030). https://eur-lex .europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021G0226(01)
- European Commission. (2023). Czechia National reforms in school education. https://eurydice.eacea.ec .europa.eu/national-education-systems/czech-republic/national-reforms-school-education
- European Commission. (2023). National reforms related to transversal skills and employability in Slovenia. European Commission. https://eurydice.eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-education-systems/slovenia /national-reforms-related-transversal-skills-and-employability
- European Commission and Joint Research Centre, Redecker, C., & Punie, Y. (2017). European framework for the digital competence of educators – DigCompEdu (Y. Punie, Ed.). Publications Office. https://d oi.org/10.2760/159770
- Finnish National Agency for Education. (n.d.-a). *The Framework for Digital Competence Digital competence*. https://eperusteet.opintopolku.fi/#/en/digiosaaminen/8706410/osaamiskokonaisuus/870643 1
- Finnish National Agency for Education. (n.d.-b). The Framework for Digital Competence Media literacy. htt ps://eperusteet.opintopolku.fi/#/en/digiosaaminen/8706410/osaamiskokonaisuus/8709070
- Finnish National Agency for Education. (n.d.-c). The Framework for Digital Competence Programming competence. https://eperusteet.opintopolku.fi/#/en/digiosaaminen/8706410/osaamiskokonaisuus /8709075
- Finnish National Agency for Education. (n.d.-d). The Literacy Movement. https://lukuliike.fi
- Finnish National Agency for Education. (2016). New national core curriculum for basic education.
- Flury, C., & Geiss, M. (2023). How computers entered the classroom, 1960–2000. In M. S. Baader, E. Kleinau, & K. Priem (Eds.), Studies in the history of education and culture (pp. 1–12). De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110780147
- Fraillon, J. (2018). International large-scale computer-based studies on information technology literacy in education. In J. Voog, G. Knezek, R. Christensen, & K.-W. Lai (Eds.), Second handbook of information technology in primary and secondary education (pp. 1161–1180). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53803-7_80-1
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Duckworth, D., & Friedman, T. (2019). IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 Assessment framework. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007 /978-3-030-19389-8
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020). Preparing for life in a digital world: IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 international report. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38781-5
- Fraillon, J., Schulz, W., & Ainley, J. (2013). International computer and information literacy study 2013: Assessment framework. International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement. https://www.iea.nl/publications/assessment-framework/international-computer-and-informati on-literacy-study-2013
- Fryč, J., Matušková, Z., Katzová, P., Kovář, K., Beran, J., Valachová, I., Seifert, L., Běťáková, M., & Hrdlička, F. (2020). Strategy for the education policy of the Czech Republic up to 2030+ (A. Faberová & V. Kohoutová, Eds.). Ministry of Education, Youth; Sports. https://www.msmt.cz/uploads/brozura _S2030_en_fin_online.pdf
- Gebhardt, E., & Schulz, W. (2015). Scaling procedures for ICILS test items. In J. Fraillon, W. Schulz, T. Friedman, J. Ainley, & E. Gebhardt (Eds.), *ICILS 2013 technical report* (pp. 155–176). International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). https://www.iea.nl/sites/defa ult/files/2019-02/ICILS_2013_Technical_Report.pdf

- Geiss, M. (2023). Computer education in Switzerland: Politics and markets in a highly decentralized country. In M. S. Baader, E. Kleinau, & K. Priem (Eds.), *Studies in the history of education and culture* (pp. 147–170). De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110780147-007
- Gerick, J. (2018). School level characteristics and students' CIL in Europe: A latent class analysis approach. Computers & Education, 120, 160–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.01.013
- GESCI. (2011). ICT, education, development, and the knowledge society. https://en.unesco.org/icted/sit es/default/files/2019-04/ict_education_development_and_the_knowledge_society1.pdf
- Gov.si. (2023). Služba za digitalizacijo izobraževanja. https://www.gov.si/drzavni-organi/ministrstva/minist rstvo-za-vzgojo-in-izobrazevanje/o-ministrstvu/sluzba-za-digitalizacijo-izobrazevanja/
- Hao, C., & Hsin-Hsien, F. (2014). Education in Taiwan: The vision and goals of the 12-year curriculum. https: //www.brookings.edu/articles/education-in-taiwan-the-vision-and-goals-of-the-12-year-curri culum/
- Hatlevik, I., & Hatlevik, O. (2018a). Examining the relationship between teachers' ICT self-efficacy for educational purposes, collegial collaboration, lack of facilitation and the use of ICT in teaching practice. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 935. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00935
- Hatlevik, I., & Hatlevik, O. (2018b). Students' evaluation of digital information: The role teachers play and factors that influence variability in teacher behaviour. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 83, 56–63. https://doi.org//10.1016/j.chb.2018.01.022
- Hatlevik, O., Throndsen, I., Loi, M., & Gudmundsdottir, G. (2018). Students' ICT self-efficacy and computer and information literacy: Determinants and relationships. *Computers & Education*, 118, 107–119. https://doi.org//10.1016/j.compedu.2017.11.011
- Heldt, M., Massek, C., Drossel, K., & Eickelmann, B. (2020). The relationship between differences in students' computer and information literacy and response times: An analysis of IEA-ICILS data. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 8(12), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-020-00090-1
- Hitt, D. H., & Tucker, P. D. (2016). Systematic review of key leader practices found to influence student achievement: A unified framework. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(2), 531–569. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315614911
- Hohlfeld, T. N., Ritzhaupt, A. D., Barron, A. E., & Kemker, K. (2008). Examining the digital divide in K-12 public schools: Four-year trends for supporting ICT literacy in Florida. *Computers & Education*, 51(4), 1648–1663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2008.04.002
- Innokas Network. (n.d.). Innokas. https://www.innokas.fi/en
- INTEF. (2022). Plan de digitalización y competencias digitales del sistema educativo (plan #DigEdu). https://in tef.es/Noticias/plan-de-digitalizacion-y-competencias-digitales-del-sistema-educativo-plan-dig edu/
- ISTE. ISTE standards. 2018. https://cdn.iste.org/www-root/ISTE%20Standards-One-Sheet_Combined_1 1-22-2021_vF4%20(1)%20(4).pdf
- ISTE. (2018b). ISTE standards. https://www.iste.org/standards
- ISTE. (2023a). ISTE standards. https://www.iste.org/iste-standards
- ISTE. (2023b). ISTE standards: Educators. https://www.iste.org/standards/iste-standards-for-teachers
- ISTE. (2023c). ISTE standards: For coaches. https://www.iste.org/standards/iste-standards-for-coaches
- ISTE. (2023d). ISTE standards: For education leaders. https://www.iste.org/standards/iste-standards-for-e ducation-leaders
- ISTE. (2023e). ISTE standards: Students. https://www.iste.org/standards/iste-standards-for-students
- Jago, C. (2009). A history of NAEP assessment frameworks (ERIC Document Reproduction Service ED509382). National Assessment Governing Board. http://www.nagb.org/content/nagb/assets/documents /who-we-are/20-anniversary/jagoframeworks-formatted.pdf
- Kaarakainen, M., Kivinen, O., & Vainio, T. (2018). Performance-based testing for ICT skills assessing: A case study of students and teachers' ICT skills in Finnish schools. Universal Access in the Information Society, 17(2), 349–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-017-0553-9
- Karpiński, Z., Di Pietro, G., & Biagi, F. (2023). Non-cognitive skills and social gaps in digital skills: Evidence from ICILS 2018. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 102, 102254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lin dif.2022.102254
- Kennisnet. (2013). Four in balance monitor 2013. ICT in Dutch primary, secondary and vocational education. https://www.kennisnet.nl/app/uploads/kennisnet/publicatie/vierinbalans/Four_in_balance _Monitor_2013.pdf

- KMK. (2016). Bildung in der digitalen Welt. Strategie der Kultusministerkonferenz [Education in a Digital World. Strategy of the Conference of the Ministers of Education and Cultural Affairs of the Länder in the Federal Republic of Germany]. Kultusministerkonferenz.
- Konstantinidou, E., & Scherer, R. (2022). Teaching with technology: A large-scale, international, and multilevel study of the roles of teacher and school characteristics. *Computers & Education*, 179, 104424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104424
- Koskinen, K. (2017). Finland: Country report on ICT in education (tech. rep.). European Schoolnet. http://w ww.eun.org/documents/411753/839549/Country+Report+Finland+2017.pdf
- Kozma, R. (Ed.). (2003). *Technology, innovation, and educational change:* A *global perspective*. International Society for Technology in Education.
- KP. (n.d.). Teknologiforståelse i det danske uddannelsessystem. https://www.kp.dk/om-koebenhavns-pro fessionshoejskole/teknologiforstaaelse-i-uddannelsessystemet/
- KP. (2021). Grønt lys til teknologiforståelse på læreruddannelsen. https://www.kp.dk/nyheder/groent-ly s-til-teknologiforstaaelse-paa-laereruddannelsen/
- Kultusministerkonferenz. Lehren und lernen in der digitalen welt. die ergänzende empfehlung zur strategie "bildung in der digitalen welt. 2021. https://www.kmk.org/fileadmin/veroeffentlichungen_beschlues se/2021/2021_12_09-Lehren-und-Lernen-Digi.pdf
- Kunnskapsdepartementet. (2023). Strategi for digital kompetanse og infrastruktur i barnehage og skole. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/3fc31c3d9df14cc4a91db85d3421501e/no/pdfs/s trategi-for-digital-kompetanse-og-infrastruktur.pdf
- Law, N., Pelgrum, W. J., & Plomp, T. (2008). Pedagogy and ICT use in schools around the world: Findings from the IEA SITES 2006 study. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8928-2
- Leithwood, K. (2012). Ontario leadership framework with a discussion of the research foundations. Institute for Education Leadership, OISE. https://www.education-leadership-ontario.ca/application/file s/2514/9452/5287/The_Ontario_Leadership_Framework_2012_-_with_a_Discussion_of_the _Research_Foundations.pdf
- Lennon, M., Kirsch, I., Von Davier, M., Wagner, M., & Yamamoto, K. (2003). Feasibility study for the PISA ICT literacy assessment: Report to network a. (tech. rep.). Educational Testing Service. https://files.eric .ed.gov/fulltext/ED504154.pdf
- Lomos, C., Luyten, J. W., & Tieck, S. (2023). Implementing ICT in classroom practice: What else matters besides the ICT infrastructure? *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 11(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-022-00144-6
- Martínez-Bravo, M. C., Sádaba Chalezquer, C., & Serrano-Puche, J. (2022). Dimensions of digital literacy in the 21st century competency frameworks. *Sustainability*, 14(3), 1867. https://doi.org/10.339 0/su14031867
- McDougall, A., Murnane, J., & Wills, S. (2014). The education programming language logo: Its nature and its use in Australia. In A. Tatnall & B. Davey (Eds.), *Reflections on the history of computers in education* (pp. 1–11). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-55119-2_28
- Ministère de l'Education Nationale et de la Jeunesse. (n.d.-a). L'utilisation du numérique à l'école. https://w ww.education.gouv.fr/l-utilisation-du-numerique-l-ecole-12074
- Ministère de l'Education Nationale et de la Jeunesse. (n.d.-b). *Stratégie du numérique pour l'éducation* 2023-2027. https://www.education.gouv.fr/strategie-du-numerique-pour-l-education-2023-2027-344263
- Ministerio de Asuntos Económicos y Transformación Digital. (n.d.). *Home* | *España digital* 2026. https://es panadigital.gob.es/en
- Ministry of Digital Transformation. (2023). Digital Slovenia 2030 an overarching strategy for Slovenia's digital transformation by 2030. https://nio.gov.si/nio/cms/download/document/26907469a23 71a17b54ec34dcd53fe24473ab870-1684233114816?lang=en
- Ministry of Education and Culture. (n.d.). New literacies programme. https://okm.fi/en/new-literacies-prog ramme
- Ministry of Education and Research. (2019). Core curriculum –values and principles for primary and secondary education. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/53d21ea2bc3a4202b86b83cfe8 2da93e/core-curriculum.pdf

- Ministry of Education in Taiwan. (2014). *Curriculum guidelines of* 12-year basic education: General guidelines. https://www.curriculum1-12.nknu.edu.tw/_files/ugd/b38f85_2b6094de81c84c748217ab20d 810fa1f.pdf?index=true
- Ministry of Education in Taiwan. (2018). Curriculum guidelines of 12-year basic education: Technology domain guidelines for secondary schools https://www.k12ea.gov.tw/files/class_schema/課綱/13-科技/13-1/十二年國民基本教育課程綱 要國民中學暨普通型高級中等學校 — 科技領域.pdf.
- Ministry of Education in Taiwan. (2022). "Every classroom has internet access, every student has a tablet" project for self-directed digital learning. https://pads.moe.edu.tw/pads_front/index.php
- Ministry of Education, Science and Sport. (2022). Akcijski načrt digitalnega izobraževanja (andi) 2021–2027. Government of Slovenia. https://www.gov.si/assets/ministrstva/MIZS/SDIG/JR-NOO-usposab ljanja-303-35/2022/Akcijski-nacrt-digitalnega-izobrazevanja-2021-2027.pdf
- Misheva, G. (2021). Belgium Flemish reform programme 2020. https://digital-skills-jobs.europa.eu/en /actions/national-initiatives/national-strategies/belgium-flemish-reform-programme-2020
- Murphy, J., Elliot, S. N., Goldring, E., & Porter, A. C. (2006). *Learning-centered leadership: A conceptual foundation*. Wallace Foundation.
- National Assessment Governing Board. (2018). Technology and engineering literacy framework for the 2018 national assessment of educational progress. https://www.nagb.gov/content/dam/nagb/en/documents/publications/frameworks/technology/2018-technology-framework.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2014). National assessment of educational progress (NAEP), 2014 technology and engineering literacy assessment. https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/tel _2014/#about/overview
- NKNU. (2014). English translation project of curriculum guidelines of 12-year basic education https://www.naer.edu.tw/upload/1/16/doc/1325/十二年國教課程綱要總綱 (英譯版).pdf.
- NKNU. (2021). English translation project of curriculum guidelines of 12-year basic education https://www.naer.edu.tw/upload/1/16/doc/288/(111 學年度實施) 十二年國教課程綱要總綱.pdf.
- Ockwell, L., Daraganov, A., & Schulz, W. (2020). Scaling procedures for ICILS test items. In J. Fraillon, J. Ainley, W. Schulz, T. Friedman, & D. Duckworth (Eds.), *IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018. Technical report.* (pp. 133–158). International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). https://www.iea.nl/publications/technical-reports/icils-2018 -technical-report
- OECD. (2014). TALIS 2013 results: An international perspective on teaching and learning. https://doi.org/10 .1787/9789264196261-en
- Oinas, S., Vainikainen, M.-P., Asikainen, M., Gustavson, N., Halinen, J., Hienonen, N., Kiili, C., Kilpi, N., Koivuhovi, S., Kortesoja, L., Kupiainen, R., Lintuvuori, M., Mergianian, C., Merikanto, I., Mäkihonko, M., Nazeri, F., Nyman, L., Polso, K.-M., Schöning, O., ... Hotulainen, R. (2023). The impact of digitalisation on learning situations, learning and learning outcomes in lower secondary schools: Initial results and recommendations of a national research project (tech. rep.). Faculty of Education and Culture: University of Tampere. https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-03-2782-8
- Ozbasi, D., & Ilgaz, G. (2019). An examination of educational inputs with data envelopment analysis: The example of ICILS 2013. *Educational Policy Analysis and Strategic Research*, 14(3), 129–153. https://doi.org/10.29329/epasr.2019.208.7
- Pangrazio, L., Godhe, A.-L., & Ledesma, A. G. L. (2020). What is digital literacy? A comparative review of publications across three language contexts. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 17(6), 442–459. https: //doi.org/10.1177/2042753020946291
- Pelgrum, W. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2001). ICT and the emerging paradigm for life-long learning. An IEA educational assessment of infrastructure, goals, and practices in twenty-six countries. IEA.
- Pelgrum, W. J., Janssen Reinen, I. A. M., & Plomp, T. (1993). Schools, teachers, students and computers: A cross-national perspective. IEA-comped study stage 2. IEA.
- Pelgrum, W. J., & Plomp, T. (1993). The IEA study of computers in education: Implementation of an innovation in 21 education systems. Pergamon.
- Pelgrum, W. J., & Plomp, T. (2011). IEA assessments of information and communications technologies (ICT). In C. Papanastasiou, T. Plomp, & E. Papanastasiou (Eds.), IEA 1958-2008: 50 years of experiences and memories. Culture Center of the Kykkos Monastery.

- Pereiro, E., Montaldo, M., Koleszar, V., & Urruticoechea, A. (2022). *Computational thinking, artificial intelligence and education in Latin America* (programme and meeting document [179877]). IBE-UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381761
- Phillips, F., Yu, C.-Y., Hameed, T., & El Akhdary, M. A. (2017). The knowledge society's origins and current trajectory. *International Journal of Innovation Studies*, 1(3), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iji s.2017.08.001
- Punter, R., Meelissen, M., & Glas, C. (2017). Gender differences in computer and information literacy: An exploration of the performances of girls and boys in ICILS 2013. European Educational Research Journal, 16(6), 762–780. https://doi.org/10.1177/1474904116672468
- Reddy, P., Sharma, B., & Chaudhary, K. (2020). Digital literacy: A review of literature. International Journal of Technoethics (IJT), 11(2), 65–94. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJT.20200701.oa1
- Reigeluth, C. M., & Carr-Chellman, A. A. (2009). Instructional-design theories and models, volume iii: Building a common knowledge base. Routledge.
- RINOS. (2023). About the RINOS group: Computer science and informatics for all. Računalništvo in informatika za vse. https://www.racunalnistvo-in-informatika-za-vse.si/about/
- Saari, A., & Säntti, J. (2018). The rhetoric of the 'digital leap' in Finnish educational policy documents. European Educational Research Journal, 17(3), 442–457. https://doi.org/10.1177/14749041177 21373
- Scherer, R., Rohatgi, A., & Hatlevik, O. (2017). Students' profiles of ICT use: Identification, determinants, and relations to achievement in a computer and information literacy test. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 70, 486–499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.01.034
- Scherer, R., & Siddiq, F. (2019). The relation between students' socioeconomic status and ICT literacy: Findings from a meta-analysis. *Computers & Education*, 138, 13–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.c ompedu.2019.04.011
- Sebring, P. B., Allensworth, E., Bryk, A. S., Easton, J. Q., & Luppescu, S. (2006). *The essential supports for school improvement*. Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- Service-Public.fr. (n.d.). PIX : Plateforme d'évaluation et de certification des compétences numériques. https: //www.service-public.fr/particuliers/vosdroits/F19608
- Siddiq, F., & Scherer, R. (2019). Is there a gender gap? A meta-analysis of the gender differences in students' ICT literacy. *Educational Research Review*, 27, 205–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019 .03.007
- Tanhua-Piiroinen, E., Kaarakainen, S.-S., Kaarakainen, M.-T., & Viteli, J. (2020). *Digiajan peruskoulu ii* (tech. rep.). Ministry of Education and Culture. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-823-6
- Tapper, H., Swarts, P., Twinomugisha, A., Kumar, S., Mikkonen, J., Hooker, M., Bassi, R., Nyambura, M., & Brannigan, N. (2007). ICT in education in the Asia-Pacific region: Progress and plans. https://un esdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000154992
- Tondeur, J., Coenders, A., van Braak, J., Brummelhuis, A., & Vanderlinde, R. (2009). Using online tools to support technology integration in education. *Handbook of Research on New Media Literacy at the K-12 Level: Issues and Challenges*, 1, 389–402. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-120-9.ch 025
- Tsai, M.-J., Liang, J.-C., & Hsu, C.-Y. (2021). The computational thinking scale (CTS) for computer literacy education. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 59(4), 579–602. https://doi.org//10.1177 /0735633120972356
- Tsai, M.-J., Wang, C.-Y., & Hsu, P.-F. (2019). Developing the computer programming self-efficacy scale (CPSES) for computer literacy education. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 56(8), 1345– 1360. https://doi.org//10.1177/0735633117746747
- Tulowitzki, P., Gerick, J., & Eickelmann, B. (2022). The role of ICT for school leadership and management activities: An international comparison. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 36(2), 133– 151. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-06-2021-0251
- UN. (2017). A work of the statistical commission pertaining to the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1291226
- UNESCO. (2018). UNESCO ICT competency framework for teachers (Version 3). https://unesdoc.unesco.or g/ark:/48223/pf0000265721

- UNESCO Institute for Statistics. SDG 4 ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all metadata. 2021. https://tcg.uis.unesco.org/wp-content/uploads/site s/4/2021/08/Metadata-4.4.2.pdf
- UNICEF. (2022). Educators' digital competence framework. https://www.unicef.org/eca/media/24526/file /Educators'%20Digital%20Competence%20Framework.pdf
- Utdanningsdirektoratet. (n.d.). Videreutdanning. https://www.udir.no/kvalitet-og-kompetanse/etter-og-vi dereutdanning/
- Utdanningsdirektoratet. (2019). Algoritmisk tenkning. https://www.udir.no/kvalitet-og-kompetanse/digit alisering/algoritmisk-tenkning/
- Utdanningsdirektoratet. (2022). Ledelse og digitalisering. https://www.udir.no/kvalitet-og-kompetanse/le delse/leiing-i-skolen/digitalisering-og-ledelse---modulbasert-videreutdanning-for-skoleledere/
- van de Werfhorst, H. G., Kessenich, E., & Geven, S. (2022). The digital divide in online education: Inequality in digital readiness of students and schools. *Computers and Education Open*, *3*, 100100. https://d oi.org/10.1016/j.caeo.2022.100100
- Vuorikari, R., Kluzer, S., & Punie, Y. (2022). *DigComp 2.2: The digital competence framework for citizens* (tech. rep. EUR 31006 EN). Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2760/1153 76
- Yalçin, S. (2019). Use of mixed item response theory in rating scales. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 11(3), 273–278. https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2019349251
- Yildiz, M., Shi, R., & Kara, M. (2022). How to improve the design of experimental studies in computing education: Evidence from the international assessments. *Education and Information Technologies*, 27(4), 5075–5102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10800-z

CHAPTER 2

Computer and information literacy framework

Julian Fraillon and Daniel Duckworth

2.1 Background

Computer and information literacy (CIL) is the core student achievement outcome measured and reported on in the International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS). It was first defined and described for use in ICILS 2013 (Fraillon et al., 2013) and is reviewed at the beginning of each new ICILS cycle, with reference to developments in CIL-related research, policies and curriculums, and with respect to its operationalization in previous ICILS cycles (Fraillon et al., 2019). In managing the ongoing challenge of measuring student achievement over time in an area of dynamic change, ICILS seeks to identify and emphasize the connections between the competencies described in the CIL construct and those that emerge as young people engage with new software platforms and information contexts (Fraillon et al., 2013).

In this chapter we begin by outlining key influences on the establishment and ongoing review of the CIL construct and test instrument, before describing in detail how the CIL construct was established, and explicate its constituent definitions and content.

In the late 1970s and early 1980s, when personal computers were being introduced into schools, the concept of *computer literacy* was narrowly defined, emphasizing an individual's ability to use computers and related applications for occupational purposes (see, for example, Binkley et al., 2011; Haigh, 1985). This perspective was expanded during the 1990s, with the development of a broader range of software applications that could be used within schools and, most significantly, with the development of the internet as an information and communication resource (Flury & Geiss, 2023). In this evolving landscape, terms such as "digital competence," "digital literacy," "digital skills," and "e-skills" were, and are still frequently used interchangeably, adding a layer of complexity to the discourse (Lemke, 2003; Martínez-Bravo et al., 2022; Van Laar et al., 2017).

To understand the relationship between Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) and student literacy, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) commissioned a feasibility study in 2001 to explore the potential for integrating an assessment of ICT literacy into the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). The resulting framework, published in 2002, proposed a more comprehensive definition of ICT literacy, extending beyond mere technological proficiency to include components representing skills and knowledge for information access, management, integration, evaluation, and creation (Educational Testing Service, 2002). During these formative stages of conceptualizations of ICT literacy, a distinction emerged between the operational aspects of hardware and software, which were the focus of computer literacy, and the broader competencies of information literacy and communication, which were emphasized in ICT literacy (Binkley et al., 2011).

Subsequent developments in the field have continued to integrate technological proficiency with facets of information literacy and communication (Catts & Lau, 2008). ICILS 2013 introduced the term "Computer and Information Literacy" (CIL) (Fraillon et al., 2014; Fraillon et al., 2013) to underscore the significance of internet-based information search and evaluation within the broader competency of utilizing contemporary technology. CIL combined the traditional conceptualizations of computer literacy, which focused on hardware and software operation, with those of information literacy and communication, which were rapidly evolving to encompass the internet as both a repository of digital information and a platform facilitating digital communication (Catts & Lau, 2008; Erstad, 2010; Markauskaite, 2006).

In 2010 the European DigComp project set out to identify key components of digital competence, develop descriptors of those components, and establish a framework for the field (Ferrari, 2012). Initially, seven

competence areas were specified: information management; collaboration; communication and sharing; creation of content and knowledge; ethics and responsibility; evaluation and problem solving; and technical operations. The DigComp framework was further developed and refined in 2013 with DigComp 1.0 describing five competence areas: information; communication; content creation; safety; and problem solving (Ferrari, 2013). These areas were further revised as part of DigComp 2.0 in 2016, resulting in the following competence areas: information and data literacy; communication and collaboration; digital content creation; safety; and problem solving (Vuorikari et al., 2016). In 2017, DigComp 2.1 was released to provide additional information about the five competence areas described in DigComp 2.0 and included the introduction of eight proficiency levels which outline the progression in the acquisition of each competence by "expanding the initial three proficiency levels to a more fine-grained eight level description as well as providing examples of use for these eight levels" (Carretero et al., 2017, p. 6). The proficiency levels are based on the complexity of tasks, autonomy and guidance needed, and the cognitive domain. The most recent update released in 2022, DigComp 2.2, involved close collaboration with stakeholders and addresses new and emerging topics in the digital world. It was released with a focus on "[E]xamples of the knowledge, skills, and attitudes applicable to each competence" (Vuorikari et al., 2022, p. 4). For each of the 21 competencies, 10-15 statements are given to illustrate timely examples that highlight contemporary themes such as "misinformation and disinformation; Artificial Intelligence (AI); remote working, data-related skills and datafication of digital services; emerging technologies such as virtual reality, social robotics, Internet of things, green ICT skills" (Vuorikari et al., 2022, p. 72). Importantly, DigComp 2.2 also includes a fully accessible version of the framework, reflecting the growing priority of creating accessible digital resources and a demonstration of applying theory to practice.

The evolution of the DigComp framework reflects the dynamic nature of digital competence and the need to adapt to the rapidly changing digital landscape. The updates in each version were driven by the goal of creating a common understanding using agreed vocabulary, addressing contemporary themes, and tailoring interventions to fit specific needs. The collaborative approach, involving stakeholders, experts, and the wider user-base, helps the framework remain relevant and responsive to the challenges arising from digitization in various aspects of modern lives.

In the context of the United States, the landscape of digital literacy and technological competence in education has been shaped by several key initiatives and frameworks. Initially, the International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) laid the groundwork by establishing the National Educational Technology Standards, aimed at providing a structured approach to technology integration in educational settings (ISTE, 2007). These standards were renamed as the ISTE Standards in 2017, evolving from a national guideline into an international framework. The updated standards not only cater to both students and educators but also extend beyond the geographical boundaries of the United States, thereby gaining a broader scope of global applicability (ISTE, 2018).

Adjacent and complementary to the work of ISTE, the US National Education Technology Plan places considerable emphasis on the cultivation of 21st-century competencies. These include "critical thinking, complex problem solving, collaboration, multimedia communication, and adding multimedia communication into the teaching of traditional academic subjects" (US Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology, 2017, p. 10). This plan serves as a strategic roadmap for educational institutions, guiding them in the incorporation of these competencies into their curricula.

Further contributing to the discourse is the Technology and Engineering Literacy (TEL) assessment, which is part of the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) in the United States. The TEL assessment includes ICT literacy as a major area, encompassing knowledge and capabilities associated with "computers and software learning tools, networking systems and protocols, hand-held digital devices, digital cameras and camcorders, and other technologies, including those not yet developed, for accessing, managing, creating, and communicating information" (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018, p. 53). Furthermore, it delineates five sub-areas of ICT literacy: construction and exchange of ideas and solutions; information research; investigation of problems; acknowledgment of ideas and information; and selection and use of digital tools. Notably, these sub-areas resonate with the 21st-century competencies outlined in the US National Education Technology Plan, offering educational stakeholders with a nuanced and integrated framework.
Collectively, these initiatives and frameworks—ranging from the ISTE Standards and the US National Education Technology Plan to the TEL assessment—represent a multi-faceted approach to the development and assessment of digital literacy in the United States. They not only provide structured guidelines but also reflect the evolving nature of digital literacy, accommodating both national and international contexts as well as emerging technological trends.

Assessments of ICT literacy as a curriculum and learning outcome have included traditional multiple-choice items, text responses items, and skills and performance assessments. Siddig et al. (2016) noted that many of the assessments focus on lower secondary-school students, and that most of them are computer-based and measure aspects such as searching, retrieving, and evaluating information, as well as technical skills. They also noted that many of these assessments include performance assessments in which students are required to perform tasks on a computer, with those tasks being embedded in a narrative. ICILS 2013 and 2018, involving grade 8 students, is one example of this approach to the assessment of ICT literacy-related outcomes (Fraillon et al., 2014). Other examples of studies using this type of assessment strategy include the national assessments of ICT literacy that have been conducted every three years among grade 6 and grade 10 students in Australia since 2005 (Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority, 2007, 2010, 2015, 2018, 2023), the national evaluations of ICT literacy in Chile (Claro et al., 2012), the NAEP TEL assessment of grade 8 students in the United States (NAGB, 2013; National Center for Education Statistics, 2018) (for a detailed comparison of NAEP TEL and ICILS assessment frameworks see Wang and Murphy, 2020), and the ICT literacy assessment of middle school students in the Republic of Korea (Kim et al., 2011). Aesaert et al. (2014) also used similar performance measures to assess the ICT competence of primary school students in the Netherlands. In France PIX (Direction of Legal and Administrative Information (Prime Minister), 2023), a digital platform designed to evaluate and certify digital competencies, is recognized throughout Europe, and is based on the Reference Framework for Digital Competencies (CRCN), which is aligned with DigComp.

In ICILS, the measure of CIL needs to meet the potentially contradictory needs of measuring change in student achievement over time, and maintaining relevance given the ongoing changes in software applications and digital learning environments. In ICILS we monitor the development of CIL-related learning, learning environments, initiatives, frameworks and assessments at both the international and national levels and reviewing the CIL construct accordingly as part of each study cycle. Furthermore, the core informationliteracy and communicative aspects of ICILS (as described and defined in the following sections of this chapter) are conceptualized such that they can be demonstrated across a range of software and internet application environments, with the expectation that new ones will be introduced into ICILS in order for the study to remain contemporary and relevant. The ICILS assessment of CIL which is rooted in *real-world* contexts and expressions of CIL in contemporary and relevant digital information and communication contexts for students. Details of the ICILS student assessment instrument are provided in Chapter 5.

2.2 Establishing the parameters of CIL

The ICILS CIL framework was initially developed for ICILS 2013 "to investigate the competencies associated with computer and information literacies as the enabling components of digital competence and 21st century skills" (Fraillon et al., 2013, p. 16). At the time, it was noted that there was a variety of terms relating to CIL in the research literature (see, for example Virkus, 2003) and that the development of context-specific constructs related to CIL had led to a "proliferation of frequently overlapping and confusing definitions" (Fraillon et al., 2013, p. 15). Since the development of ICILS 2013, the range of concepts associated with students' use of digital technologies has further increased. For example, Siddiq et al. (2016, p. 15) listed nine different names for "concepts for describing what and how students acquire, use, adapt to and learn with technology," ranging from "internet skills" through to "21st century skills" ; (Siddiq et al., 2016, p. 60), these include the ICILS 2013 conceptualization of CIL. The expanding variety of competencies associated with the use of digital technologies is partly influenced by the diversity of local contexts, including local curriculum needs. As countries develop their own approaches to CIL-related education, they focus both on teaching students how to use digital technologies and on leveraging these technologies to enhance learning across various subjects and domains. The ICILS 2013 framework acknowledged the analogy between CIL and reading literacy, highlighting their dual role as both a means and an end in education. It elaborated on how technology served as a tool for both discipline-specific and cross-disciplinary learning, leading to two distinct approaches to assessing computer-based achievement. When the CIL construct was first defined and described for use in ICILS 2013, it was necessary to locate CIL within the existing broad suite of constructs related to digital literacy and to clearly articulate the scope of the CIL construct. The CIL construct also embraced information literacy (for a discussion of this in contrast to media literacy see Fraillon et al., 2013, p. 16), which emphasizes the processes of information management including the evaluation of the veracity of information (Catts & Lau, 2008; Christ & Potter, 1998; Livingstone et al., 2008; Ofcom, 2006; Peters, 2004). While information literacy that are conceptualized and measured in ICILS are defined according to their application to digital information sources, with particular consideration given to the characteristics of internet-based information.

Following is a summary of the key decisions made by the research team in this process with some reflection on their ongoing relevance for ICILS 2018 and ICILS 2023.

The CIL construct was formulated during a period when there was a tension in the research literature between: i) beliefs in the need to develop new constructs to describe and measure the new skills being demonstrated with changes in technology; and ii) beliefs that the description and measurement of new skills should be assimilated into those of existing constructs. This tension was described by Voogt and Roblin (2012) in their comparative analysis of international frameworks for 21st century skills as an "ongoing controversy on whether these terms are actually used to designate new competences, or rather to give greater emphasis to a specific set of long known competences that are considered as especially relevant to the knowledge society" (Voogt & Roblin, 2012, pp. 301-302). One of the conceptual challenges for ICILS 2013 was to decide whether the construct of CIL should address a new set of competencies or emphasize its connection to existing ones. The research team, in consultation with external experts, eventually opted for the second approach (Fraillon et al., 2013, pp. 15–16). The chosen approach for ICILS aligns with the broader aim of assessing ICT literacy-related competencies, which have been progressively seen as a broad set of transferable, cross-curricular skills. This approach has been maintained in ICILS, which has reported in both 2013 and 2018 that, while approaches varied among and within countries, CIL-related content was included within specific ICT-related subjects and was also regarded as a cross-curricular responsibility (Fraillon et al., 2020; Fraillon et al., 2014). More recently, the OECD Future of Education and Skills 2030 policy analyses of curricula also reported a pattern across countries for ICT/digital literacy to be embedded within learning areas (OECD, 2020). The ICILS conceptualization of CIL reflects the paradigm of CIL-related skills being integrated within and operating across learning areas (Fraillon et al., 2013). Furthermore, the ICILS conceptualization of CIL required consideration of two fundamental parameters specific to ICILS, which guided the framework and approach:

- ICILS targets school-aged children (in their eighth year of schooling)
- The assessment is completed using computers and focuses on computer use

The second of these parameters necessitated the establishment of a working definition of *computer* for ICILS. In the final decades of the 20th century, the predominant concept of the computer associated with school-aged children was either as a desktop or laptop computer (but not a smartphone or tablet). These devices could be used for a range of educational purposes, including but not limited to: program development, use of productivity tools (such as word processing or spreadsheet tools), tuition applications, art and design tools, data collection, the conduct of simulations, and searching for information (such as from an encyclopedia). As the internet evolved, many learning and information resources became internet delivered rather than residing on personal devices or local networks, and electronic communication was added to the suite of activities associated with computer use in schools. In the early part of the 21st century, the concept of the computer in education has broadened, largely due to the proliferation of portable digital technologies, in particular tablet devices and smartphones, which can access the internet and run applications.

The use of tablet devices has become increasingly prevalent in schools since ICILS 2013. With each new ICILS cycle we consider the suitability of tablet devices for use in ICILS. For ICILS, the concept of the computer was developed with reference to the primary use of the device in the context of education rather than with reference to the size and portability of the device. However, in doing this, it was acknowledged that the properties of a device do impact on the purposes for which it can best be used. Haßler et al.

(2016), following an extensive literature review of reported use of tablet devices in school, suggested that:

Unsurprisingly, certain technologies are more appropriate for particular tasks than others and this is also true when considering uses for tablets: for example, keyboards, larger screens and specialized software (perhaps only available for certain operating systems) may be needed to support specialized tasks such as extensive writing, mathematical constructions and computer programming. (Haßler et al., 2016, p. 148)

The ICILS test of CIL contains tasks that require students to act as both information consumers and producers. While tablet devices are well suited for information consumption, information production tasks performed on tablet devices are best conducted with sufficiently large screens to manage layout. Screen size can be considered in terms of both the physical size of the screen and the available space on the screen. For tablet devices, the latter is maximized by the use of an external keyboard, which consequently excludes the need for an on-screen keyboard from displaying and greatly reducing the visible screen space. For ICILS 2023, the concept of the computer was operationally defined as any device able to run the assessment software with a minimum screen size of 29cm and an external keyboard and mouse. This included conventional desktop computers, portable computers, and tablet devices with an external keyboard and mouse. The CIL construct for ICILS 2023 was consequently conceptualized with reference to this concept of computer rather than the broader device contexts implicit (although not always measured in practice) in constructs relating to digital literacy, ICT literacy, and digital competence (Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority, 2023; Carretero et al., 2017; Janssen & Stoyanov, 2012; Pangrazio, 2016). In essence, when considering the environment in which CIL can be expressed in ICILS, the manifestation of a computer is deemed to require a sufficiently large screen and external keyboard and mouse so that all participating students can be considered to have an equivalent experience of using a computer to manage a broad range of information consumption and production tasks.

At the time ICILS 2013 was in its planning and development stage, the concept of 21st century skills was emerging as an umbrella term to account for skills that are broadly regarded as necessary for successful participation in life, work, and education in the 21st century. Definitions and conceptualizations of 21st century skills in the research literature are varied, but largely influenced by six prominent frameworks (Chalkiadaki, 2018). Some scholars have attempted to identify the common elements of the broad suite of 21st century skills. For example, Van Laar et al. (2017) listed core 21st century digital skills as: technical; information management; communication; collaboration; creativity; critical thinking; and problem solving. They further listed contextual 21st century digital skills as: ethical awareness; cultural awareness; flexibility; self-direction; and lifelong learning. Chalkiadaki (2018) classified 21st century skills into four sets: personal skills; interpersonal and social skills; knowledge and information management skills; and digital literacy (p.6). What is common across the different conceptualizations of 21st century skills is that they comprise a broad range of skills that typically include a sub-set of skills consistent with CIL as defined in ICILS, but also extending well beyond the reach of what can be assessed in a study such as ICILS. CIL can be regarded as fitting under the broader umbrella of 21st century skills. ICILS was established to investigate the competencies associated with computer and information literacies as enabling components of a broader digital competence, which sits firmly within the suite of 21st century skills. The ICILS research team developed the CIL construct independently of specific curriculum goals; the construct focused on what Lampe et al. (2010) characterized as technology-mediated educational priorities for middle-school students (p.62). These include finding and synthesizing relevant resources, connecting to people and networks, and knowing how to present and express oneself online in general and through online systems in particular.

With each new cycle of ICILS we need to consider the nature of students' interactions with, and learning with and about newly developing application interfaces, functions and functional types of application (such as the the use of social media platforms, collaborative work-spaces, and the shift from the use of locally installed to web-apps). As part of this process are decisions about how much the introduction of new digital environments necessitates the development of new skills that represent a new *category* of learning in students, in comparison with how much the digital environments initiate an adaptation of existing skills that represent existing *categories* of learning.

2.3 Defining CIL

ICILS defined CIL for use in ICILS 2013 with reference to definitions and constructs associated with information literacy and computer literacy. Information literacy constructs developed first through the fields of librarianship and psychology (Bawden, 2001; Church, 1999; Homann, 2003; Marcum, 2002) and are acknowledged as having the following processes in common: identifying information needs, searching for and locating information, and evaluating the quality of information (Catts & Lau, 2008; Livingstone et al., 2008; UNESCO, 2003). Information literacy constructs evolved to include the ways in which the collected information can be transformed and used to communicate ideas (Catts & Lau, 2008; Peters, 2004). Computer literacy constructs in education typically focus not on the logical reasoning of programming (or the syntax of programming languages) but rather on declarative and procedural knowledge about computer use, familiarity with computers, and, in some cases, attitudes toward computers (Richter et al., 2000; Wilkinson, 2006). As the use of digital technologies expanded for them to become the world's primary information sources, information literacy constructs adopted and then largely subsumed computer literacy constructs (see, for example, Cartelli, 2009).

Some scholars have emphasized the potential for information literacy and ICT skills to develop independently of each other. Catts and Lau (2008) observed that "people can be information literate in the absence of ICT," (p.7) and Rowlands et al. (2008) commented that "the information literacy of young people, has not improved with the widening access to technology: in fact, their apparent facility with computers disguises some worrying problems" (p.295). The CIL skills measured and reported on in ICILS, however, address computer literacy skills in the context of information literacy as applied to digital information sources. They reflect a combination of skills that, given the pervasiveness of digital information, continue to have a high profile in contemporary frameworks. For example, as described earlier in this chapter, the DigComp framework defines digital competence in terms of five competences (established in DigComp 2.0 and maintained in DigComp 2.1 and 2.2): information and data literacy; communication and collaboration; digital content creation; safety; and problem solving (Vuorikari et al., 2016). The US NAEP TEL framework also described ICT proficiency in terms of five, albeit different, subareas: construction and exchange of ideas and solutions; information research; investigation of problems; acknowledgment of ideas and information; and selection and use of digital tools.

The definition of CIL established for ICILS 2013 was derived with reference to pre-existing definitions of ICT and digital literacy that illustrated the convergence between information literacy and computer literacy skills in practical real-world applications.

These definitions were:

- Digital literacy is "... the ability to use digital technology, communications tools, and/or networks to access, manage, integrate, evaluate, and create information in order to function in a knowledge society" (Lemke, 2003, p. 22).
- Technological literacy is "Knowledge about what technology is, how it works, what purposes it can serve, and how it can be used efficiently and effectively to achieve specific goals" (Lemke, 2002, p. 15).
- Information literacy is "The ability to evaluate information across a range of media; recognize when information is needed; locate, synthesize, and use information effectively; and accomplish these functions using technology, communication networks, and electronic resources" (Lemke, 2002, p. 15).
- "ICT literacy is using digital technology, communications tools, and/or networks to access, manage, integrate, evaluate, and create information in order to function in a knowledge society" (Educational Testing Service, 2002, p. 2).
- "ICT literacy is the ability of individuals to use ICT appropriately to access, manage and evaluate information, develop new understandings, and communicate with others in order to participate effectively in society" (Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority, 2007, p. 14).

Common to these definitions is the assumption that individuals have the technical skills needed to use the technologies. The definitions also list very similar sets of information literacy and communication processes. Each also maintains that individuals need to acquire these forms of literacy in order to participate and function effectively in society. Binkley et al. (2011) postulated six categories under which ICT literacy knowledge, skills, attitudes, values, and ethics can be classified: access and evaluate information and communication technology; analyze media; create media products; use and manage information; apply technology effectively; and apply and employ technology with honesty and integrity.

The definition of CIL established in ICILS 2013 and maintained as the definition in ICILS 2018 and ICILS 2023 is:

Computer and information literacy refers to an individual's ability to use computers to investigate, create, and communicate in order to participate effectively at home, at school, in the workplace, and in society.

This definition relies on, and brings together, technical competence (computer literacy) and intellectual capacity (conventional literacies including information literacy) to achieve a highly context-dependent communicative purpose that presupposes and transcends its constituent elements. This view of CIL is congruent with the Audunson and Nordlie (2003) conceptual model of information literacy and, when considering the digital and ICT literacy definitions cited above, is most closely aligned with the construct evident in the Educational Testing Service (2002) definition.

2.4 Revising the structure of the CIL construct

According to the ICILS 2013 assessment framework (Fraillon et al., 2013), CIL was described as comprising two strands each of which was specified in terms of a number of aspects.

Strand 1 collecting and managing information comprised three aspects:

- Aspect 1.1: Knowing about and understanding computer use
- Aspect 1.2: Accessing and evaluating information
- Aspect 1.3: Managing information

Strand 2 producing and exchanging information comprised four aspects:

- Aspect 2.1: Transforming information
- Aspect 2.2: Creating information
- Aspect 2.3: Sharing information
- Aspect 2.4: Using information safely and securely

The structure described above did not presuppose an analytic structure although, at the time of its development, the ICILS research team anticipated the possibility that Strands 1 and 2 might lead to separate measurement dimensions. Analyses of the ICILS 2013 main survey data included an investigation of the dimensionality (for details regarding the analytic approach see Gebhardt and Schulz, 2015) but the very high latent correlations between the two strands led to the decision to report CIL achievement as a single dimension.

Following ICILS 2013, the project team together with ICILS 2013 national researchers evaluated the CIL construct with reference to its use throughout the full life-cycle of study (Fraillon et al., 2019). While the content of the construct was deemed to be appropriate, they identified potential improvements that could be made to the structure of the CIL construct. Firstly, positioning *knowing about and understanding computer use* (aspect 1.1) within Strand 1 (the receptive strand) and *using information safely and securely* (aspect 2.4) within Strand 2 (the productive strand) was problematic because it undermined the stated acknowledgment that each of these aspects was applicable across both the receptive and productive strands. At the time the CIL construct was specified, this problem was acknowledged with the caveat that the aspects were included in the strands in which they were deemed to have the greatest applicability. However, on reflection, the ICILS research team decided that it would be better to remove any implication that either aspect was more closely associated with receptive or productive skills. Furthermore, in a time of increasing opportunity for young people to become content creators, it became apparent that aspect 2.3 (*sharing*)

information) should be afforded greater prominence in the structure of the CIL construct. In response to these concerns, and in consultation with ICILS national researchers, the project team established a revised structure for the CIL construct for ICILS 2018 (Fraillon et al., 2019). It is important to note that the restructuring of the CIL construct was undertaken to better communicate the contents and emphases of the construct and to minimize overlap across the aspects of the construct. The change in structure neither means a change in ICILS assessment content nor presupposes a change to the analytic structure of the CIL construct. A similar process of evaluation of the structure of the described CIL construct was conducted following completion of ICILS 2018 and in preparation for or ICILS 2023. No further changes were suggested and, therefore the structure of the described CIL construct used in ICILS 2018.

2.5 Structure of the ICILS 2023 CIL construct

The CIL construct includes the following elements:

- Strand: This refers to the overarching conceptual category for framing the skills and knowledge addressed by the CIL instruments.
- Aspect: This refers to the specific content category within a strand.

The construct comprises four strands, each with two aspects (summarized in Figure 2.1 and described in detail in section 2.6). The aspects encompass the set of knowledge, skills, and understandings held in common by the range of definitions of ICT literacy and digital competency discussed previously.

Figure 2.1: ICILS 2023 CIL construct

Computer and information literacy refers to an individual's ability to use computers to investigate, create, and communicate in order to participate effectively at home, at school, in the workplace, and in society.



2.6 Strands and aspects of CIL

2.6.1 Strand 1: Understanding computer use

Understanding computer use refers to the fundamental technical knowledge and skills that underpin the operational use of computers as tools for working with information. This includes a person's knowledge and understanding of the generic characteristics and functions of computers. Early constructs of ICT and digital literacies typically focused on the receptive and productive elements of information literacy and de-emphasized generic computing technical knowledge and skills (see, for example, Educational Testing Service, 2002). However, as described earlier in this chapter, it soon was acknowledged that fundamental knowledge and skills when using technology could be blended with information literacy in conceptualizations of ICT literacy (Catts & Lau, 2008), and ICILS 2013 included understanding computer use as an aspect of CIL to reflect the evolution of the domain (Fraillon et al., 2013). The role of basic technological skill in digital literacy continues to be important. The DigComp 2.2 framework includes skills associated with solving technical problems and identifying needs and technological responses as part of the problem solving competence area (Vuorikari et al., 2022). The 2018 US NAEP TEL framework included ICT as a major area of assessment and "understanding technological principles" as a practice. Understanding technological principles "focuses on students' knowledge and understanding of technology and their capability to think and reason with that knowledge" (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018, p. 69) and the constituent understanding and reasoning is deemed to be applicable across all three major areas of TEL.

Understanding computer use comprises two aspects:

- Foundations of computer use
- Computer use conventions

Aspect 1.1: Foundations of computer use

Foundations of computer use includes the knowledge and understanding of the principles underlying the function of computers, rather than the technical detail of exactly how they work. This knowledge and understanding underpins effective and efficient computer use, including troubleshooting basic technical problems. At a declarative level, students should know, for example, that computers use processors and memory to run programs; or that operating systems, word processors, games, and viruses are examples of programs. Students should be able to demonstrate knowledge that computers can be connected and so can "communicate" with one another through networks, and that these can be local or global. They should understand that the internet is a form of computer network that is run through computers, and that websites, blogs, wikis, and all forms of computer software are designed to meet specific purposes. They should further be aware that information (such as files) can be stored across a range of locations including locally on a device, on removable media (such as USB flash drives, SD cards and portable hard disk drives), and on local or remote networks (such as in cloud storage), and be aware that the various storage locations have specific user benefits, risks, and security procedures.

Following are examples that provide evidence of a student's knowledge and understanding of the foundations of computer use:

- Understanding that computers require physical memory, and that this is finite but may be expanded
- Suggesting basic strategies to improve the performance of a computer that is running slowly
- Explaining why the content of a completed web-based form might be lost if a user navigates away from the page and then returns to the page
- Describing the consequences of working offline on a shared file in comparison to working online
- Identifying components of a computer network that might be malfunctioning if a network connection has been lost

Aspect 1.2: Computer use conventions

Computer use conventions include the knowledge and use of software interface conventions that help users make sense of and operate software. This knowledge supports the efficient use of applications,

including the use of devices or applications that are unfamiliar to the user. Accordingly, at the procedural level, a student may know how to execute basic, generic file and software functions, such as opening and saving files in given locations, resizing images, copying and pasting text, entering text in a chat interface, and utilizing accessibility functions (e.g., text to voice), or modifying settings such as display resolution or font size scaling. The procedural knowledge included in aspect 1.2 is thus limited to generic basic commands that are common across digital devices, operating systems and software applications.

Following are examples that provide evidence of a students' s ability to apply computer use conventions:

- Editing an image using a graphical user interface with conventional controls typical of graphics editing software
- Clicking on a hyperlink to navigate to a web-page
- Navigating between two or more browser tabs to access multiple web-pages
- Saving an existing file to a new location with a new name
- Opening a file of a specified type
- Selecting one or more contacts to send a message to

2.6.2 Strand 2: Gathering information

Gathering information embraces the receptive and organizational elements of information processing and management. This strand comprises two aspects:

- Accessing and evaluating information
- Managing information

Aspect 2.1: Accessing and evaluating information

Accessing and evaluating information refers to the combined investigative processes that enable a person to find, retrieve, and make judgments about the relevance, integrity, and usefulness of computer-based information. The extensive reach and wide accessibility of the internet in many countries, make it a primary communication medium for diverse actors (including individuals and groups) who use it in ways specific to their needs and objectives. Consequently, a vast array of competing information is available to individual end-users. At the point of accessing information, a user may know very little about how the information was created, including the quality assurance processes undertaken in the creation of the information. This information is not only increasing in volume but is also evolving with advances in technologies such as the capacity of AI to generate digital content. One consequent challenge is for information seekers to filter information to identify what is relevant, credible and ultimately useful.

Further to this, the increasing intuitiveness of computer-based information search and retrieval programs,⁶ and the presentation of "curated" content by information platforms places an additional demand on users to consider the processes that are leading to the presentation of content to them, and to use this to evaluate the breadth and adequacy of their access to information.

While accessing and evaluating information are rooted in conventional literacies, the multimodal and evolving nature of computer-based information requires different processes that stand apart from those related only to traditional literacies. Accessing and evaluating computer-based information involves a unique amalgamation of skills (i.e., those typically associated with digital and media literacies) that differ from, and are broader than, the range of skills employed with conventional literacies.

The following examples illustrate tasks that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to access and evaluate computer-based information:

• Selecting information from within a website or file list that is relevant to a particular topic

⁶ This includes search engines that tailor search results to individual searchers using their personal data, algorithmically curated news feeds in social media, and large language models that synthesize new information in response to a user's query.

- Describing and explaining the functions and parameters of different computer-based information search programs
- Suggesting strategies for searching for information and/or adjusting the parameters of searches to better target information
- Recognizing and explaining characteristics of computer-based information (such as hyperbole and unsubstantiated claims) that detract from its credibility
- Analyzing the bias in social media influencers' product reviews by considering factors such as financial incentives for positive reviews
- Suggesting and implementing strategies to verify information, such as cross-checking with multiple sources.

Aspect 2.2: Managing information

Managing information involves understanding and applying techniques and tools to handle, organize, store, and protect computer-based information. It plays a central role in today's digital age, where information is a valuable asset to be managed with care and expertise. Information to be *managed* can take various forms, such as files that can be saved, accessed, and modified using specific applications, or data that can be systematically organized within these files. File management involves handling files that can be stored and opened with various applications for later use. These files may contain different types of content, including text documents, spreadsheets, or multimedia. Within files, data can be organized in structured formats like tables or tabular data grids. Metadata properties might also be used to describe the document's content, references, version, or other pertinent attributes.

The process of managing information includes the ability to adopt and adapt different classification and organization schemes. These schemes enable users to arrange and store information systematically, ensuring that it can be accessed, used, or reused efficiently. Managing information also involves selecting and utilizing various file storage locations, such as local drives, remote network locations, or cloud-based services. These choices must be evaluated in terms of the trade-offs that support user access and collaboration across different platforms and devices. For example, local file storage can be accessed quickly and reliably without internet access, while cloud storage provides redundancy in the event of accidental or malicious local data loss.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to manage information:

- Creating a file and folder structure according to given parameters
- Sorting or filtering information on an internet database
- Explaining how the application of metadata tags can enhance searchability and categorization of digital content
- Recognizing the most relevant data type (i.e., text string or numerical) for a given purpose within a simple database

2.6.3 Strand 3: Producing information

This strand, which focuses on using computers as productive tools for thinking and creating, has two aspects:

- Transforming information
- Creating information

Aspect 3.1: Transforming information

Transforming information refers to a person' s ability to use computers to modify and present information in a way that enhances its clarity and communicative efficacy for specific audiences and purposes. The process of transforming information is more than merely changing the appearance of the content of information. Guided by an understanding of the audience and purpose of a communication, this process involves thoughtful selection and integration of the formatting, graphical, and multimedia capabilities of software applications to augment the communicative impact of information that might otherwise be presented as plain text or data. Computers offer a wide array of formatting tools that can be used to enhance the flow and visual appeal of information. These include adjusting fonts and colors to signal the purpose of text elements (such as headings, lists or labels) in order to guide viewers' attention and support their comprehension of the content. By integrating images, icons, diagrams, charts, and animations, content creators can use visual information to supplement or even replace text.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to transform information:

- Formatting the titles in a document or presentation to enhance the flow of and readability of information
- Using, modifying, or creating images to supplement or replace text in a document (such as with a flow chart, diagram, or iconography)
- Creating visual representations of tabular data (such as temperature or velocity) to illustrate change over time
- Creating a short animated sequence of images to illustrate a sequence of events

Aspect 3.2: Creating information

Creating information refers to a person' s ability to use computers to design and generate information products tailored to specified purposes and audiences. These original products may involve the creation of entirely new content or may expand upon existing content to generate new understandings.

Typically, the quality of information created relates to how the content is structured (whether or not the flow of ideas is logical and easy to understand) and the way in which layout and design features (such as images and formatting) are used together to support the viewer's understanding of the emergent information product. Even though information design and layout design are executed together in creation of an information product, they are typically conceptualized and assessed as discrete elements of creating information.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to create information:

- Defining a descriptive title for document, presentation or animation
- Organizing facts and figures under relevant sub-headings in some research notes
- Integrating text, data, and graphics from multiple sources to make recommendations in a report
- Using a simple graphics program to design a birthday card
- Designing and writing a presentation that explains the key elements of an historical event

2.6.4 Strand 4: Digital communication

Digital communication encompasses the competencies associated with information sharing through various online platforms, such as instant messaging, social media, and other public or private community forums together with the social, legal, and ethical responsibilities that entail sharing information with others. This strand also includes the implementation of strategies and mechanisms to protect against the misuse of communication tools and personal information by others.

This strand has two aspects:

- Sharing information
- Using information safely and securely

Aspect 4.1: Sharing information

Sharing information refers to a person's knowledge and understanding of how computers are used and can be used, as well as his or her ability to use computers to exchange information with others. This includes knowledge and understanding of the conventions established by a range of computer-based communication platforms such as, email, instant messaging, blogs, wikis, media sharing platforms, and social media networks. Given the rapidly changing nature of this area, aspect 4.1 focuses on the knowledge

and understanding of technical and social conventions associated with sharing information and, at the higher end of the achievement spectrum, the social impact of sharing information through computer-based communication media.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to share information:

- Recognizing some key differences between computer-based communication media
- Using software to disseminate information (such as attaching a file to an email or adding content to a social media network)
- Evaluating the appropriateness of information for a specified audience
- Explaining why a communication platform is best suited for a particular communicative purpose
- Limiting the visibility of content added to a social media network to a set of known contacts

Aspect 4.2: Using information responsibly and safely

Using information responsibly and safely refers to a person' s understanding of the legal and ethical issues of computer-based communication from the perspectives of both a content creator and an information consumer. Many internet-based communication platforms facilitate and encourage users to create and share information with others, including those outside their own network of personal contacts. With this facility comes the risk of contributing to the spread of misinformation and the misuse of one's own information by others, particularly when dealing with personal information. As both consumers and creators of content, individuals bear a significant responsibility to exercise respectful discretion and to critically evaluate information when sharing it with others. Using information responsibly and safely hence includes risk identification and prevention, as well as the parameters of appropriate conduct, including awareness and prevention of cyberbullying, identity theft, and online scams. It furthermore encompasses the responsibility of users to maintain a certain level of information security and identity protection by keeping virus software up to date, using contemporary authentication methods to prevent unauthorized access to devices and online accounts, and withholding private information from unknown contacts and publishers.

The following examples reflect content and contexts related to using information responsibly and safely:

- Fake news dissemination
- Identity theft
- Unauthorized access and impersonation
- Identity concealment
- Phishing
- Online scams
- Malicious software distribution
- Automatic collection of internet usage data
- Publicly shared social media posts
- Provision and use of personal information
- Disclosure of affiliations
- Attribution and copyright

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual's ability to use information safely and securely:

- Explaining why people engage with fake news
- Identifying the characteristics that influence the strength of passwords
- Explaining the consequence(s) of making personal information publicly available
- Describing protocols for appropriate behavior in group communications
- Suggesting ways to protect private information

- Suggesting ways to verify a person's online identity
- Identifying various forms of paid advertising on website
- Explaining the techniques used in a phishing email scam

References

- Aesaert, K., Van Nijlen, D., Vanderlinde, R., & van Braak, J. (2014). Direct measures of digital information processing and communication skills in primary education: Using item response theory for the development and validation of an ICT competence scale. *Computers & Education*, 76, 168–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.03.013
- Audunson, R., & Nordlie, R. (2003). Information literacy: The case or non-case of Norway? *Library Review*, 52(7), 319–325. https://doi.org/10.1108/00242530310487416
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2007). *National Assessment Program —ICT Literacy Years 6 & 10 Report 2005* (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-ass essments/results-and-reports
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2010). *National Assessment Program –ICT Literacy Years 6 & 10 Report 2008* (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-ass essments/results-and-reports
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2015). *National Assessment Program —ICT Literacy Years 6 & 10 Report 2014* (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-ass essments/results-and-reports
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2018). NAP Sample Assessment ICT Literacy: Years 6 and 10 November 2017 (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-asses sments/results-and-reports
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2023). National Assessment Program –ICT Literacy 2022 Public Report. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-assessments/results-and-rep orts
- Bawden, D. (2001). Information and digital literacies: A review of concepts. *Journal of Documentation*, 57(2), 218–259. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000007083
- Binkley, M., Erstad, E., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., Miller-Ricci, M., & Rumble, M. (2011). Defining 21st century skills. In P. Griffin, B. McGaw, & E. Care (Eds.), Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills (pp. 17–66). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2324-5_2
- Carretero, S., Vuorikari, R., & Punie, Y. (2017). Digcomp 2.1: The digital competence framework for citizens with eight proficiency levels and examples of use (tech. rep. EUR 28558 EN). Joint Research Centre. Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2760/38842
- Cartelli, A. (2009). Frameworks for digital literacy and digital competence assessment. In D. Remenyi (Ed.). University of Bari.
- Catts, R., & Lau, J. (2008). Towards information literacy indicators. UNESCO.
- Chalkiadaki, A. (2018). A systematic literature review of 21st century skills and competencies in primary education. *International Journal of Instruction*, 11(3), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2018.11 31a
- Christ, W. G., & Potter, W. J. (1998). Media literacy: Symposium. *Journal of Communication*, 48(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1998.tb02733.x
- Church, A. (1999). The human—computer interface and information literacy: Some basics and beyond. Information Technology and Libraries, 18(1), 3–21. https://librarytechnology.org/document/1937
- Claro, M., Preiss, D., San Martín, E., Jara, I., Hinostroza, J., Valenzuela, S., Cortes, F., & Nussbaum, M. (2012). Assessment of 21st century ICT skills in Chile: Test design and results from high school level students. *Computers & Education*, 59, 1042–1053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.20 12.04.004
- Direction of Legal and Administrative Information (Prime Minister). (2023). PIX: Platform for evaluation and certification of digital skills. https://www.service-public.fr/particuliers/vosdroits/F19608
- Educational Testing Service. (2002). *Digital transformation: A framework for ICT literacy* (tech. rep.). Educational Testing Service. https://www.ets.org/Media/Research/pdf/ICTREPORT.pdf

- Erstad, O. (2010). Conceptions of technology literacy and fluency. In P. Peterson, E. Baker, & B. McGaw (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of education* (3rd ed., pp. 34–41). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.10 16/B978-0-08-044894-7.00694-1
- Ferrari, A. (2012). Digital competence in practice: An analysis of frameworks (tech. rep.). Institute for Prospective Technological Studies, European Commission. http://www.ifap.ru/library/book522.pdf
- Ferrari, A. (2013). Digcomp: A framework for developing and understanding digital competence in Europe (tech. rep. EUR 26035 EN). Joint Research Centre. Publication Office of the European Union. https://d oi.org/10.2788/52966
- Flury, C., & Geiss, M. (2023). How computers entered the classroom, 1960–2000. In M. S. Baader, E. Kleinau, & K. Priem (Eds.), Studies in the history of education and culture (pp. 1–12). De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110780147
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Duckworth, D., & Friedman, T. (2019). IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 Assessment framework. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007 /978-3-030-19389-8
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020). *Preparing for life in a digital world: IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 international report.* Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38781-5
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Gebhardt, E. (2014). Preparing for life in a digital age: The IEA international computer and information literacy study international report. Springer. https://doi .org/10.1007/978-3-319-14222-7
- Fraillon, J., Schulz, W., & Ainley, J. (2013). International computer and information literacy study 2013: Assessment framework. International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement. https://www.iea.nl/publications/assessment-framework/international-computer-and-information-literacy-study-2013
- Gebhardt, E., & Schulz, W. (2015). Scaling procedures for ICILS test items. In J. Fraillon, W. Schulz, T. Friedman, J. Ainley, & E. Gebhardt (Eds.), *ICILS 2013 technical report* (pp. 155–176). International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). https://www.iea.nl/sites/default/files/2019-02/ICILS_2013_Technical_Report.pdf
- Haigh, R. W. (1985). Planning for computer literacy. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 56(2), 161–177. http s://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.1985.11777083
- Haßler, B., Major, L., & Hennessy, S. (2016). Tablet use in schools: A critical review of the evidence for learning outcomes. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 32(2), 139–156. https://doi.org/10.11 11/jcal.12123
- Homann, B. (2003). German libraries at the starting line for the new task of teaching information literacy. *Library Review*, 52(7), 310–318. https://doi.org/10.1108/00242530310487407
- ISTE. (2007). National educational technology standards for students (2nd ed.) International Society for Technology in Education.
- ISTE. (2018). ISTE standards. https://www.iste.org/standards
- Janssen, J., & Stoyanov, S. (2012). Online consultation on experts' views on digital competence (tech. rep.). Joint Research Centre Institute for Prospective Technological Studies. https://doi.org/10.2788 /97099
- Kim, K., Lee, S., Jun, W., Kim, H., Kim, J., & Kwak, H. (2011). Measuring ICT literacy of primary and junior high school students in South Korea. *Korean Journal of Elementary Education*, 22, 195–211. https ://doi.org/10.20972/kjee.22.3.201112.195
- Lampe, C., Resnick, P., Forte, A., Yardi, S., Rotman, D., Marshall, T., & Lutters, W. (2010). Educational priorities for technology-mediated social participation. *IEEE Computer*, 43(11), 60–67. https://d oi.org/10.1109/MC.2010.316
- Lemke, C. (2002). enGauge 21st century skills: Digital literacies for a digital age. https://www.researchg ate.net/publication/234731444_enGauge_21st_Century_Skills_Digital_Literacies_for_a_Digital _Age
- Lemke, C. (2003). Standards for a modern world: Preparing students for their future. *Learning and Leading with Technology*, 31(1), 6–9. https://www.google.com.au/books/edition/Standards_for_the_Mo dern_World/HtiqYgEACAAJ?hl=en
- Livingstone, S., Van Couvering, E., & Thumim, N. (2008). Converging traditions of research on media and information literacies. In J. Corio, M. Knobel, C. Lankshear, & D. Leu (Eds.), *Handbook of research*

on new literacies (pp. 103–132). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. https://newliteracies.uconn.edu /wp-content/uploads/sites/448/2014/07/Handbook_of_Research_On_NL__Front_Matter.pdf

- Marcum, J. (2002). Rethinking information literacy. *Library Quarterly*, 72(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.108 6/603335
- Markauskaite, L. (2006). Towards an integrated analytical framework of information and communications technology literacy: From intended to implemented and achieved dimensions. *Information Research: An International Electronic Journal*, 11(3), 1–23. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1104648
- Martínez-Bravo, M. C., Sádaba Chalezquer, C., & Serrano-Puche, J. (2022). Dimensions of digital literacy in the 21st century competency frameworks. *Sustainability*, 14(3), 1867. https://doi.org/10.339 0/su14031867
- NAGB. (2013). 2014 Abridged technology and engineering literacy framework for the 2014 national assessment of educational progress (tech. rep.). National Assessment Governing Board. https://www.nagb.go v/content/dam/nagb/en/documents/publications/frameworks/technology/2014-technology-f ramework-abridged.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). Naep technology & engineering literacy: TEL results. htt ps://www.nationsreportcard.gov/tel/
- OECD. (2020). ICT/digital literacy in curricula. https://doi.org/10.1787/fec4f892-en
- Ofcom. (2006). Media literacy audit: Report on media literacy amongst children. https://www.ofcom.org .uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0030/23898/children.pdf
- Pangrazio, L. (2016). Reconceptualising critical digital literacy. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 37(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2014.942836
- Peters, J. (2004). *Learning outcomes and information literacy*. Society of College, National and University Libraries. https://www.enssib.fr/bibliotheque-numerique/documents/1915-learning-outcomes -and-information-literacy.pdf
- Richter, T., Naumann, J., & Groeben, N. (2000). The computer literacy inventory (INCOBI): An instrument for the assessment of computer literacy and attitudes toward the computer in university students of the humanities and the social sciences. *Psychologie in Erziehung und Unterricht*, 48(1), 1–13. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/290196669_The_Computer_Literacy_Inventory _INCOBI_An_Instrument_for_the_Assessment_of_Computer_Literacy_and_Attitudes_toward_th e_Computer_in_University_Students_of_the_Humanities_and_the_Social_Sciences
- Rowlands, I., Nicholas, D., Williams, P., Huntington, P., Fieldhouse, M., Gunter, B., Withey, R., Jamali, H. R., Dobrowolski, T., & Tenopir, C. (2008). The Google generation: The information behaviour of the researcher of the future. *Aslib proceedings*, 60(4), 290–310. https://doi.org/10.1108/00012530 810887953
- Siddiq, F., Hatlevik, O., Olsen, R., Throndsen, I., & Scherer, R. (2016). Taking a future perspective by learning from the past: A systematic review of assessment instruments that aim to measure primary and secondary school students' ICT literacy. *Educational Research Review*, 19, 58–84. https://doi.org /10.1016/j.edurev.2016.05.002
- UNESCO. (2003). The Prague declaration: Towards an information literate society. United Nations Education Scientific; Cultural Organisation. https://ar.unesco.org/sites/default/files/praguedeclaration.pdf
- US Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology. (2017). *Reimagining the role of technology in education: 2017 national education technology plan update* (tech. rep.). https://tech.ed.gov/files /2017/01/NETP17.pdf
- Van Laar, E., van Deursen, A. J., van Dijk, J. A., & de Haan, J. (2017). The relation between 21st-century skills and digital skills: A systematic literature review. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 77, 577–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.03.010
- Virkus, S. (2003). Information literacy in Europe: A literature review. *Information Research: An International Electronic Journal*, 8(4), 329–345. http://www.informationr.net/ir/8-4/paper159.html
- Voogt, J., & Roblin, N. (2012). A comparative analysis of international frameworks for 21st century competences: Implications for national curriculum policies. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 44(3), 299– 321. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2012.668938
- Vuorikari, R., Kluzer, S., & Punie, Y. (2022). DigComp 2.2: The digital competence framework for citizens (tech. rep. EUR 31006 EN). Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2760/1153 76

- Vuorikari, R., Punie, Y., Gomez, S. C., & Van Den Brande, G. (2016). *DigComp 2.0: The digital competence framework for citizens. update phase 1: The conceptual reference model* (tech. rep.). Joint Research Centre. https://doi.org/10.2791/11517
- Wang, Y., & Murphy, K. B. (2020). A comparison study of NAEP-TEL and ICILS (tech. rep.). American Institutes for Research. U.S. Department of Education. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED609149.pdf
- Wilkinson, K. (2006). Students' computer literacy: Perception versus reality. *Delta Pi Epsilon Journal*, 48(2), 108–120. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ765448

CHAPTER 3

Computational thinking framework

Daniel Duckworth and Julian Fraillon

3.1 Background

The International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS) 2013 was established to address the growing consensus on the importance of computer and information literacy (CIL)-related skills for effective participation in the 21st century. At the same time as ICILS was being developed and implemented, there was a renewed focus among researchers, educators, and policymakers on the significance of computational thinking (CT) in education (Voogt et al., 2015; Weintrop et al., 2021). The decision to include CT as an international option in ICILS 2018 was influenced by the growing emphasis on computer science and CT in educational curricula, as well as international efforts to broaden student access to these domains (Bocconi et al., 2022; Caeli & Bundsgaard, 2020; Peyton Jones, 2011; Yadav et al., 2018). Similar to CIL, CT is measured and reported using an internationally comparable achievement scale. In ICILS 2018, a unidimensional CT scale was established with "exploration of the potential of sub-dimensions of CT to be reported... planned for future cycles of ICILS" (Fraillon et al., 2020, p. 92). The ICILS 2023 is the first cross-national study to measure trends in CT, and offers the first opportunity to further investigate the dimensional structure of the CT construct.

In this chapter we describe the key influences that have shaped the field of CT and discuss the establishment and ongoing review of the ICILS CT construct. We then explain the development of the ICILS CT construct and provide detail of its constituent definitions and content.

Early conceptualizations of *computer literacy* in education typically focused not on the logical reasoning of programming (or the syntax of programming languages) but rather on declarative and procedural knowledge about computer use, familiarity with computers (including their uses), and, in some cases, attitudes toward computers (Richter et al., 2000; Wilkinson, 2006).

In the early stages of computer integration into educational settings, the focus was on teaching foundational computing principles. During this period, the relationship between "programming" and problemsolving was increasingly recognized as important for educational development (Papert, 1980). A notable development in the 1980s was the introduction of the text-based programming language, *Logo*. In *Logo*, typed commands controlled a cursor or a robotic "turtle" on the screen, facilitating line graphics. Many educational methodologies rooted in constructionism and cognitive development often employed *Logo* as a foundational tool (Maddux & Johnson, 1997; McDougall et al., 2014; Tatnall & Davey, 2014). However, by the mid 1990s *Logo* had "acquired the character of a cannonical curriculum topic" (Kilpatrick & Davis, 1993, p. 208) and it arguably lost status as a transformative pedagogical tool (Agalianos et al., 2001; Cansu & Cansu, 2019).

The advent of block-based coding platforms, such as *Scratch*, *Blockly Games*, *Code.Org*, *AppInventor*, *mBlock*, *Alice*, *KoduGameLab*, *Snap!*, and *Tynker* has allowed users to construct programs by dragging and dropping graphical blocks that symbolize computational concepts (e.g., variables, logical expressions) and code structures. Block-based coding environments are regarded as valuable tools in the teaching of CT competencies, in particular for novice or beginning programmers (Fadhillah et al., 2023; Fidai et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2019). In a content analysis of practice-based research, Kiliç (2022) found that programming and robotics are very commonly used approaches in the teaching of CT, with the use of block-based coding tools being "generally preferred" (Kiliç, 2022, p. 296). Within the context of assessing learning in this area, block-based coding is especially relevant because it codifies the algorithmic logic that underpins CT, while eliminating the need for syntactic knowledge and the potential for keyboard errors, as no manual code typing is required.

The inclusion of CT in ICILS has provided an opportunity to separately define and measure the functional aspects of digital literacy that support the use of digital devices when managing digital information (measured using the CIL assessment), from the problem solving and algorithmic thinking features of computer literacy that are core to CT. By defining CT and operationalizing its measurement in an international large scale assessment, ICILS implicitly aimed to contribute to a reduction of some of the inevitable definitional confusion that existed across the various efforts to reestablish the role of CT in school education (Denning, 2017; Grover, 2017; Grover & Pea, 2013; Lodi & Martini, 2021; Selby & Woollard, 2013; Voogt et al., 2015).

3.2 Establishing the parameters of CT

While CT has been recognized "since the beginning of the computing field in the 1940s" (Denning, 2017, p. 34), many researchers refer to the work of Papert (1980) and Papert (1991) in the late 20th century as a touchstone for CT research. Papert's conceptualization of CT is embedded in his constructionist educational philosophy. In contrast to focusing only on technical proficiencies, Papert also emphasizes the social and affective dimensions of CT. By *social dimensions*, Papert refers to the cooperative and communicative aspects that emerge when students engage in computational projects, often necessitating teamwork, sharing of resources, and communal problem-solving. The *affective dimensions* imply the emotional investment and motivation that students experience when actively involved in the construction of computational artifacts.⁷ Papert believed that these social and affective aspects enrich the learning experience, making CT an interdisciplinary tool applicable across various educational contexts. Wing's 2006 article on CT has been regarded by many researchers as the catalyst, or at least as a common point of reference, for the re-emergence of interest in CT (see, for example, V. Barr and Stephenson, 2011; Bower et al., 2017; Grover and Pea, 2013; Shute et al., 2017; Voogt et al., 2015). In this article, Wing characterized CT as "a universally applicable attitude and skill set everyone, not just computer scientists, would be eager to learn and use" (Wing, 2006, p. 33).

Wing (2006) regarded CT as a concept that embraces problem solving and system design, and is based on the principles and technical competencies associated with computer science. This concept includes the ways of thinking when programming a computer as part of computer literacy (Grover & Pea, 2013; Lye & Koh, 2014). For Wing, CT is the foundation for understanding the algorithmic fabric of the world and is supported by the "computational concepts we use to approach and solve problems, manage our daily lives, and communicate and interact with other people" (Wing, 2006, p. 35). Computational thinking can be seen as "applying tools and techniques from computer science to understand and reason about both natural and artificial systems and processes" (The Royal Society, 2012, p. 29).

Shute et al. (2017) argued that CT is required to solve problems algorithmically (with or without the assistance of computers) by applying solutions that are reusable in different contexts. They elaborated that CT is "a way of thinking and acting, which can be exhibited through the use of particular skills, which then can become the basis for performance-based assessments of CT skills" (Shute et al., 2017, p. 142). They suggested that CT involves six facets: decomposition, abstraction, algorithms, debugging, iteration, and generalization. Note that such conceptualizations of CT do not necessarily involve developing or implementing a formal computer program (D. Barr et al., 2011), since algorithmic instructions can be carried out by a human or a computer (Shute et al., 2017, p. 12). Consequently, assessments of CT can be conducted on a computer or without the use of technology depending on the parameters of the assessment including, but not limited to, its purpose and the age and CT experience of the test-takers (Weintrop et al., 2021). ICILS makes use of computer-based delivery to capture data that reflect the steps involved with students' use of CT to solve problems. These steps can include any of the aspects of planning, solution generation and evaluation that include but also extend beyond developing or assembling instructions (often including blocks of code) that are necessary to accomplish a task (Brennan & Resnick, 2013; Fraillon, 2018).

At the time when CT was reemerging as an area of interest in curriculum and assessment, there was a broad

⁷ Computational artifacts refer to tangible byproducts or outcomes generated through computational processes or CT. For example, a text prompt for a large language model like ChatGPT serves as a specialized input designed to elicit a specific output, encapsulating the abstraction and algorithmic thought involved in its creation.

range of perspectives on CT and that could be characterized in the divergent conceptualizations advocated by Wing and Papert (Lodi & Martini, 2021). Wing's perspective highlighted the technical competencies and the role of CT as a lens for understanding the world, while Papert's perspective emphasized the broader social and affective aspects of cross-disciplinary learning through CT.

The National Academies Press (NAP) reported on a 2009 workshop on the nature of CT that cited the following perspectives on CT (National Research Council, 2010, pp. 11–12):

- CT is "closely related to, if not the same as...procedural thinking...that includes developing, testing, and debugging procedures"
- CT is about "expanding human mental capacities through abstract tools that help manage complexity and allow for automation of tasks"
- CT is primarily about "processes" and "is a subset of computer science"
- CT is "the use of computation-related symbol systems (semiotic systems) to articulate explicit knowledge and to objectify tacit knowledge, to manifest such knowledge in concrete computational forms"
- CT is about "rigorous analyses and procedures for accomplishing a defined task"
- CT "is a bridge between science and engineering—a meta-science about studying ways or methods of thinking that are applicable to different disciplines"
- CT is "'what humans do as they approach the world [that is, their framing, paradigm, philosophy, or language], considering processes, manipulating digital representations (and [meta] models),' and hence all humans engage in computational thinking to some extent already in their daily lives"
- CT "plays a role in the manipulation of software in support of problem solving"
- "What makes computational thinking especially relevant is that computers can execute our 'computational thoughts'"

The range of different perspectives listed above exemplifies some of the tensions that have existed in conceptualizations of CT. These tensions are associated with identifying where CT should be located on a spectrum of capabilities that, at one end, are characterized by algorithmic procedural thinking associated with computer programming and, at the other end, are described by a broader suite of problem solving capabilities and dispositions (see, for example, D. Barr et al., 2011; V. Barr and Stephenson, 2011; Cansu and Cansu, 2019; Voogt et al., 2015). In reflecting on attempts to define CT, Voogt described the tension between "thinking of the 'core' qualities of CT versus certain more 'peripheral' qualities" (Voogt et al., 2015, p. 718).

For ICILS, the definition and explication of CT, as for CIL, were established in the context of the ICILS assessment parameters. In this case the assessment of CT must be:

- Applicable to students in their eighth year of schooling
- Applicable across a broad range of country and curriculum contexts
- Complementary to the ICILS assessment of CIL
- Minimally overlapping with assessment content in other curriculum areas (such as in mathematics or science)

With these parameters in mind, the conceptualization of CT in ICILS combines the competencies associated with (a) framing solutions to real-world problems in a way that these solutions could be executed by computers; and then (b) implementing and testing solutions using the procedural algorithmic reasoning that underpins programming.

3.3 Defining CT

Computational thinking was defined for use in ICILS 2018 with reference to existing conceptualizations and definitions of CT at the time. In a review of CT literature, Selby and Woollard (2013) identified three consistently shared constituent components of CT: (a) a *thought process* (a way of thinking about computing); (b) *abstraction* (describing the common underlying properties and functionality of a set of entities); and

(c) *decomposition* (breaking a complex problem into well-defined parts). More recently, based on a review of existing CT constructs, Cansu and Cansu (2019) suggested five essential concepts of CT: *abstraction, problem decomposition, algorithmic thinking, automation,* and *generalization.* The International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) Standards list five core components of CT: *decomposition, gathering and analyzing data, abstraction, algorithm design,* and *how computing impacts people and society* (ISTE, 2018). These are examples of the differences in the number and nature of attributes listed across descriptions of CT. These differences are, however, primarily influenced by the degree of specificity with which the way of thinking about computing (Selby & Woollard, 2013) is defined (whether this includes, for example, algorithmic thinking, or algorithm design) and the emphasis and specificity provided for the application of CT to solve real-world problems (whether this includes, for example, generalization, gathering and analyzing data and the interaction between humans and computers). These differences are primarily ones of emphasis and breadth. In contrast Voogt et al. (2015) adopted a broader conceptual approach by suggesting that many definitions of CT focus on the "skills, habits and dispositions needed to solve complex problems with the help of computing" (p.720).

Following is a selection of definitions and descriptions of CT that were used to inform the development of the definition of CT established for use in ICILS.

- 1. "Computational thinking is the thought processes involved in formulating problems and their solutions so that the solutions are represented in a form that can be effectively carried out by an information-processing agent" (Wing, 2006, as cited by Grover and Pea, 2013, p. 39).
- 2. "We consider computational thinking to be thought processes involved in formulating problems so their solutions can be represented as computational steps and algorithms" (Aho, 2012, p. 832).
- 3. "It [computational thinking] is a cognitive or thought process that reflects:
 - the ability to think in abstractions,
 - the ability to think in terms of decomposition,
 - the ability to think algorithmically,
 - the ability to think in terms of evaluations, and
 - the ability to think in generalizations" (Selby & Woollard, 2013, p. 5).
- 4. "Computational thinking describes the processes and approaches we draw on when thinking about how a computer can help us to solve complex problems and create systems" (Education Services Australia [ESA], 2018).
- "Computational thinking is the process of recognizing aspects of computation in the world that surrounds us, and applying tools and techniques from Computer Science to understand and reason about both natural and artificial systems and processes" (The Royal Society, 2012, p. 29).
- 6. "Computational thinking is a problem-solving process that includes:
 - Formulating problems in a way that enables us to use a computer and other tools to help solve them
 - Logically organizing and analyzing data
 - Representing data through abstractions, such as models and simulations
 - Automating solutions through algorithmic thinking (a series of ordered steps)
 - Identifying, analyzing, and implementing possible solutions with the goal of achieving the most efficient and effective combination of steps and resources
 - Generalizing and transferring this problem-solving process to a wide variety of problems" (D. Barr et al., 2011, p. 21).
- 7. "Computational thinking is a term often used to describe the ability to think with the computer-astool" (Berland & Wilensky, 2015, p. 630).

More recently, Denning and Tedre (2021) proposed the definition: "Computational thinking is the mental skills and practices for *designing* computations that get computers to do jobs for us, and for *explaining* and *interpreting* the world in terms of information processes" (p.365).

In all these definitions, CT is viewed as a problem-solving approach where problems are framed in a manner suitable for algorithmic and step-by-step solutions that can be executed by a computer. These characteristics are consistent with the ICILS conceptualization of CT as focusing on problem solving with computerbased solutions. While it can reasonably be argued that the core of this conceptualization of CT may be applied to other learning domains, the ICILS test of CT does not include measurement of cross-domain applications of CT. Based on the outcomes of the review of CT literature published since ICILS 2018 and the consultation with ICILS researchers the definition of CT established in 2018 for ICILS has remained unchanged.

The definition of CT established within the context of ICILS is:

Computational thinking refers to an individual's ability to recognize aspects of real-world problems which are appropriate for computational formulation and to evaluate and develop algorithmic solutions to those problems so that the solutions could be operationalized with a computer.

3.4 Structure of the ICILS 2023 CT construct

The CT construct includes the following elements:

- Strand: This refers to the overarching conceptual category for framing the skills and knowledge addressed by the CT instruments.
- Aspect: This refers to the specific content category within a strand.

The CT construct comprises two strands. One strand contains three aspects and the other comprises two aspects (summarized in Figure 3.1 and described in detail in section 3.5). The aspects encompass the set of knowledge, skills, and understandings held in common across the range of definitions of CT as discussed previously.

Figure 3.1: ICILS 2023 CT construct

Computational thinking refers to an individual's ability to recognize aspects of real-world problems which are appropriate for computational formulation and to evaluate and develop algorithmic solutions to those problems so that the solutions could be operationalized with a computer.

Strand 1 Conceptualizing problems

Aspect 1.1 Knowing about and understanding digital systems

Aspect 1.2 Formulating and analyzing problems

Aspect 1.3 Collecting and representing relevant data **Strand 2** Operationalizing solutions

Aspect 2.1 Planning and evaluating solutions

Aspect 2.2 Developing algorithms, programs and interfaces The structure shown above does not presuppose a sub-dimensional structure of the CT construct. The primary purpose of describing CT using this structure is to organize the CT content in a way that allows readers to clearly see the different related aspects of CT and to support the auditing of the CT instruments against the full breadth of content in the CT construct. In ICILS 2018 CT was reported as a single measurement dimension (Fraillon et al., 2020) and, although we anticipate that ICILS 2023 will again report CT as a single dimension, the dimensional structure of the CT data will be examined as part of ICILS 2023 to explore the potential for reporting any sub-dimensions of CT.

3.5 Strands and aspects of CT

3.5.1 Strand 1: Conceptualizing problems

Conceptualizing problems acknowledges that before solutions can be developed, problems must first be understood and framed in a way that allows algorithmic or systems thinking to assist in the process of developing solutions. This strand comprises three aspects:

- Knowing about and understanding digital systems
- Formulating and analyzing problems
- Collecting and representing relevant data

Aspect 1.1: Knowing about and understanding digital systems

Knowing about and understanding digital systems refers to a person's ability to identify and describe the properties of systems by observing the interaction of the components within a system.

Systems thinking is used when individuals conceptualize the use of computers to solve real-world problems, which is fundamental to CT.

At a declarative level a person can describe rules and constraints that govern a sequence of actions and events, or they may provide a prediction for why a procedure is not working correctly by observing the conditions of the error. For example, if a student was required to design a game, they would need to specify: the initial state of the game, the winning condition of the game, the parameters of the permissible actions, and sequence of actions within the game.

At a procedural level, a person can monitor a system in operation, make use of tools that help to describe a system (such as tree diagrams or flow charts), and observe and describe outcomes of processes operating within a system. These procedural skills are based on a conceptual understanding of fundamental operations such as iteration, looping, conditional branching, and the outcomes of varying the sequence in which they are executed (control flow). An understanding of these operations can enhance a person' s understanding of both the digital world and the physical world; and it can therefore assist in solving problems. With reference to the above example of a student designing a game, at the procedural level the student might initiate and adjudicate the game play. The student would need to monitor the players' actions and the consequent outcomes according to the specified rules and conditions of the game. In conducting this oversight, the student may identify problems within the game, such as unresolvable or ambiguous scenarios (e.g., a stalemate in chess). Conceptually, the student would then have the capacity to adjust the game parameters to resolve these problems.

It is not always necessary that the game be created as a computer application, as *digital systems thinking* can also be applied to non-digital systems. In the context of ICILS, *digital systems thinking* can be applied to describe the actions of a physical system (such as filling a glass with water from a tap) in such a way that these actions could later be controlled by a computer program.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual's ability to know about and understand digital systems:

- Exploring a system to describe rules about its behavior
- Operating a system to produce relevant data for analysis
- Identifying opportunities for efficiency and automation

• Explaining why simulations help to solve problems

Aspect 1.2: Formulating and analyzing problems

Formulating problems entails the decomposition of a problem into smaller manageable parts and specifying and systematizing the characteristics of the task so that a computational solution can be developed (possibly with the aid of a computer or other digital device). Analyzing problems consists of making connections between the properties of, and solutions to, previously experienced and new problems to establish a conceptual framework to underpin the process of breaking down a large problem into a set of smaller, more manageable parts.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to formulate and analyze problems:

- Breaking down a complex task into smaller, more manageable parts
- Creating a self-contained sub-task that could potentially be applied repeatedly
- Exploring the connection between the whole and its individual constituent parts

Aspect 1.3: Collecting and representing relevant data

In order to make effective judgments about problem solving within systems it is necessary to collect and make sense of data from the systems. The process of collecting and representing data effectively is underpinned by knowledge and understanding of the characteristics of the data and of the mechanisms available to collect, organize, and represent these data for analysis. This could involve creating or using a simulation of a complex system to produce data that may show patterns or characteristics of behavior that are otherwise not clear when viewed from an abstract system level.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to collect and represent data:

- · Identifying an abstracted representation of map directions
- Using a route simulation tool to store data
- Displaying data to help draw conclusions and inform planning
- Using a simulation tool to collect data and evaluate outcomes

3.5.2 Strand 2: Operationalizing solutions

Operationalizing solutions comprises the processes associated with creating, implementing and evaluating computer-based system responses to real-world problems. It includes the iterative processes of planning for, implementing, testing, and evaluating algorithmic solutions (as the potential bases for programming). The strand includes an understanding of the needs of users and their likely interaction with the system under development. The strand comprises two aspects:

- Planning and evaluating solutions
- Developing algorithms, programs and interfaces

Aspect 2.1: Planning and evaluating solutions

Planning solutions refers to the process of establishing the parameters of a system, including the development of functional specifications or requirements relating to the needs of users and desired outcomes and with a view to designing and implementing the key features of a solution. Evaluating solutions refers to the ability to make critical judgments about the quality of computational artifacts (such as algorithms, code, programs, user interface designs, or systems) against criteria based on a given model of standards and efficiency. These two processes are combined in a single aspect because they are iteratively connected to the process of developing algorithms and programs. While the process of developing algorithms may begin with planning and end with evaluation, throughout the process there is an ongoing iterative cycle of planning, implementation, evaluation, and revision (with resolution being a final end-point). Typically, there is a broad array of potential solutions to any given problem and, consequently, it is important to be able to plan and evaluate solutions from a range of perspectives, and to understand the advantages, disadvantages, and effects of alternative solutions. Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to plan and evaluate computational solutions:

- Identifying the starting point for an algorithmic solution to a problem by reflecting on solutions to similar problems
- Designing components of a solution taking into account the limitations of the system and the needs of users
- Testing a solution method against a known outcome and adjusting it as necessary
- · Comparing the relative advantages and disadvantages of a solution against alternative solutions
- · Locating a faulty step in an algorithm
- Describing solutions and explaining why they are the best solution among many
- Implementing and managing strategies to test the efficacy of a solution (such as user testing)

Aspect 2.2: Developing algorithms, programs and interfaces

This aspect focuses on the logical reasoning that underpins the development of algorithms (and code) to solve problems. It can involve developing or implementing an algorithm (systematically describing the steps or rules required to accomplish a task) and also automating the algorithm, typically using computer code in a way that can be implemented without the need for students to learn the syntax or features of a specific coding language. Creating an interface relates to the intersection between users and the system. This may relate to development of the user interface elements in an application including implementation of specifications for dynamic interfaces that respond to user input.

Following are examples that provide evidence of an individual' s ability to develop algorithms, programs, and interfaces include the following:

- Modifying an existing algorithm for a new purpose
- Adapting visual directions into instructions for a computer
- · Creating visual representations of instructions for a computer
- Creating a simple algorithm
- Using a new statement in a simple algorithm
- Creating an algorithm that combines simple command statements with a repeat or conditional statement
- Correcting a specified step in an algorithm

References

- Agalianos, A., Noss, R., & Whitty, G. (2001). Logo in mainstream schools: The struggle over the soul of an educational innovation. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 22(4), 479–500. https://doi.org /10.1080/01425690120094449
- Aho, A. V. (2012). Computation and computational thinking. *The Computer Journal*, 55(7), 832–835. https://doi.org/10.1093/comjnl/bxs074
- Barr, D., Harrison, J., & Conery, L. (2011). Computational thinking: A digital age skill for everyone. *Learning* & *Leading with Technology*, 38(6), 20–23. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ918910
- Barr, V., & Stephenson, C. (2011). Bringing computational thinking to K-12: What is involved and what is the role of the computer science education community? ACM Inroads, 2(1), 48–54. https://doi.o rg/10.1145/1929887.1929905
- Berland, M., & Wilensky, U. (2015). Comparing virtual and physical robotics environments for supporting complex systems and computational thinking. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 24, 628–647. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-015-9552-x

- Bocconi, S., Chioccariello, A., Kampylis, P., Dagienė, V., Wastiau, P., Engelhardt, K., Earp, J., Horvath, A. A., Jasutė, E., Malagoli, C., Masiulionytė-Dagienė, V., & Stupurienė, G. (2022). *Reviewing computational thinking in compulsory education* (A. Inamorato dos Santos, R. Cachia, N. Giannoutsou, & Y. Punie, Eds.; tech. rep.). Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2760/12 6955
- Bower, M., Wood, L. N., Lai, J. W., Highfield, K., Veal, J., Howe, C., Lister, R., & Mason, R. (2017). Improving the computational thinking pedagogical capabilities of school teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(3), 53–72. https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2017v42n3.4
- Brennan, K., & Resnick, M. (2013). Imagining, creating, playing, sharing, reflecting: How online community supports young people as designers of interactive media. In C. Mouza & N. Lavigne (Eds.), *Emerging technologies for the classroom: A learning sciences perspective* (pp. 253–268). Springer. https://doi .org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4696-5_17
- Caeli, E. N., & Bundsgaard, J. (2020). Computational thinking in compulsory education: A survey study on initiatives and conceptions. *Educational technology research and development*, 68(1), 551–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09694-z
- Cansu, S. K., & Cansu, F. K. (2019). An overview of computational thinking. *International Journal of Computer* Science Education in Schools, 3(1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.21585/ijcses.v3i1.53
- Denning, P. J. (2017). Remaining trouble spots with computational thinking. *Communications of the ACM*, 60(6), 33–39. https://cacm.acm.org/magazines/2017/6/217742-remaining-trouble-spots-with -computational-thinking/abstract
- Denning, P. J., & Tedre, M. (2021). Computational thinking: A disciplinary perspective. Informatics in Education, 20(3), 361–390. https://doi.org/10.15388/infedu.2021.21
- Education Services Australia. (2018). Computational thinking. *Digital Technologies Hub, Education Services Australia Ltd.* https://www.digitaltechnologieshub.edu.au/teach-and-assess/classroom-resource s/topics/computational-thinking/
- Fadhillah, M. R., Budiyanto, C. W., & Hatta, P. (2023). The influence of block-based programming to computational thinking skills: A systematic review. AIP Conference Proceedings, 2540(1). https://doi.o rg/10.1063/5.0105716
- Fidai, A., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2020). "Scratch" -ing computational thinking with Arduino: A meta-analysis. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 38, 100726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.1 00726
- Fraillon, J. (2018). International large-scale computer-based studies on information technology literacy in education. In J. Voog, G. Knezek, R. Christensen, & K.-W. Lai (Eds.), Second handbook of information technology in primary and secondary education (pp. 1161–1180). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53803-7_80-1
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020). Preparing for life in a digital world: IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 international report. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38781-5
- Grover, S. (2017). Assessing algorithmic and computational thinking in K-12: Lessons from a middle school classroom. In P. J. Rich & J. Hodges (Eds.), *Emerging research, practice, and policy on computational thinking* (pp. 269–288). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52691-1_17
- Grover, S., & Pea, R. (2013). Computational thinking in K-12: A review of the state of the field. *Educational Researcher*, 42(1), 38–43. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X12463051
- ISTE. (2018). ISTE computational thinking competencies. https://www.iste.org/standards/iste-standards -for-computational-thinking
- Kiliç, S. (2022). Tendencies towards computational thinking: A content analysis study. *Participatory Educational Research*, 9(5), 288–304. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.22.115.9.5
- Kilpatrick, J., & Davis, R. B. (1993). Computers and curriculum change in mathematics. In C. Keitel & K. Ruthven (Eds.), *Learning from computers: Mathematics education and technology* (pp. 203–221). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-78542-9_9
- Lodi, M., & Martini, S. (2021). Computational thinking, between Papert and Wing. *Science & Education*, 30(4), 883–908. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-021-00202-5
- Lye, S. Y., & Koh, J. H. L. (2014). Review on teaching and learning of computational thinking through programming: What is next for K-12? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 41, 51–61. https://doi.org /10.1016/j.chb.2014.09.012

- Maddux, C. D., & Johnson, D. L. (1997). Logo: A retrospective. *Computers in the Schools Monographs/Separates*, 14(1-2). https://doi.org/10.1300/J025v14n01_01
- McDougall, A., Murnane, J., & Wills, S. (2014). The education programming language logo: Its nature and its use in Australia. In A. Tatnall & B. Davey (Eds.), *Reflections on the history of computers in education* (pp. 1–11). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-55119-2_28
- National Research Council. (2010). Committee for the workshops on computational thinking: Report of a workshop on the scope and nature of computational thinking. National Academies Press. https://doi.org /10.17226/12840
- Papert, S. (1980). Mindstorms: Children, computers, and powerful ideas. Basic Books.
- Papert, S. (1991). Situating constructionism. In I. Harel & S. Papert (Eds.), *Constructionism* (pp. 1–11). Ablex. https://archive.org/download/papert-harel-situating-constructionism/papert-harel-situating-constructionism.pdf
- Peyton Jones, S. (2011). Computing at school: International comparisons. Microsoft Research. https://www .computingatschool.org.uk/media/1u1jmkeb/internationalcomparisons-v5.pdf
- Richter, T., Naumann, J., & Groeben, N. (2000). The computer literacy inventory (INCOBI): An instrument for the assessment of computer literacy and attitudes toward the computer in university students of the humanities and the social sciences. *Psychologie in Erziehung und Unterricht*, 48(1), 1–13. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/290196669_The_Computer_Literacy_Inventory _INCOBI_An_Instrument_for_the_Assessment_of_Computer_Literacy_and_Attitudes_toward_th e_Computer_in_University_Students_of_the_Humanities_and_the_Social_Sciences
- Selby, C. C., & Woollard, J. (2013). Computational thinking: The developing definition (tech. rep.). University of Southampton. https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/id/eprint/356481
- Shute, V. J., Sun, C., & Asbell-Clarke, J. (2017). Demystifying computational thinking. *Educational Research Review*, 22, 142–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.09.003
- Tatnall, A., & Davey, B. (2014). Reflections on the beginnings of an educational revolution (?) In A. Tatnall & B. Davey (Eds.), *Reflections on the history of computers in education: Early use of computers and teaching about computing in schools* (pp. 417–422). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-64 2-55119-2_30
- The Royal Society. (2012). Shut down or restart: The way forward for computing in UK schools. https://w ww.stem.org.uk/rx326t
- Voogt, J., Fisser, P., Good, J., Mishra, P., & Yadav, A. (2015). Computational thinking in compulsory education: Towards an agenda for research and practice. *Education and Information Technologies*, 20(4), 715–728. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-015-9412-6
- Weintrop, D., Wise Rutstein, D., Bienkowski, M., & McGee, S. (2021). Assessing computational thinking: An overview of the field. *Computer Science Education*, 31(2), 113–116. https://doi.org/10.1080 /08993408.2021.1918380
- Wilkinson, K. (2006). Students' computer literacy: Perception versus reality. *Delta Pi Epsilon Journal*, 48(2), 108–120. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ765448
- Wing, J. M. (2006). Computational thinking. *Communications of the ACM*, 49(3), 33–35. https://doi.org/1 0.1145/1118178.1118215
- Xu, Z., Ritzhaupt, A. D., Tian, F., & Umapathy, K. (2019). Block-based versus text-based programming environments on novice student learning outcomes: A meta-analysis study. *Computer Science Education*, 29(2-3), 177–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/08993408.2019.1565233
- Yadav, A., Sands, P., Good, J., & Lishinki, A. (2018). Computer science and computational thinking in the curriculum: Research and practice. In J. Voogt, G. Knezek, R. Christensen, & K.-W. Lai (Eds.), Second handbook of information technology in primary and secondary education (pp. 89–106). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71054-9_6

CHAPTER 4

Contextual framework

Mojca Rožman, Julian Fraillon, Sara Dexter, Jeppe Bundsgaard, and Wolfram Schulz

4.1 Overview

This chapter describes the contextual information collected during the International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS) 2023 in order to aid understanding of variation in the primary outcome achievement measures of the study: students' computer and information literacy (CIL) and computational thinking (CT). Throughout this chapter, the abbreviation CIL/CT has been used where each of CIL and CT may be considered as an outcome measure potentially influenced by a given set of contextual information. We provide a classification of contextual factors that accords with the multilevel structure inherent in the process of student CIL/CT learning, and consider the relationship of these factors to the learning process (antecedents or processes). We also list the different kinds of variables that will be collected via the different ICILS 2023 contextual instruments and briefly outline prior findings from educational research in order to explain why these variables are included in ICILS 2023.

4.2 Classification of contextual factors

When studying student outcomes related to CIL/CT, it is important to set these in the context of the different factors influencing them. Students acquire competencies in this area through a variety of activities and experiences at the different levels of their education and through different processes in school and out of school. It is also likely that students' out-of-school experiences of using ICT influence their learning approaches in school (Ainley et al., 2009; Biagi & Loi, 2013; Bundsgaard & Gerick, 2017). Contextual variables can also be classified according to their measurement characteristics, namely, factual (e.g., age), attitudinal (e.g., enjoyment of computer use), and behavioral (e.g., frequency of computer use).

Different conceptual frameworks for analyzing educational outcomes frequently point out the multilevel structure inherent in the processes that influence student learning (see, for example, Fraillon et al., 2020b; Gerick et al., 2017; O. Hatlevik et al., 2015; Schulz et al., 2016; Vanderlinde et al., 2014). The learning of individual students is set in the overlapping contexts of school learning and out-of-school learning, both of which are embedded in the context of the wider community that comprises local, national, supranational, and international contexts. As for the two previous cycles of ICILS, the contextual framework of ICILS distinguishes the following levels:

- Wider community: This level describes the wider context in which CIL/CT learning takes place. It comprises local community contexts (e.g., remoteness and access to internet facilities), as well as characteristics of the education system and country. Furthermore, it encompasses the global context, a factor widely enhanced by access to the internet.
- Schools and classrooms: This context encompasses all school-related factors. Given the cross-curricular nature of CIL/CT learning, it is not useful to distinguish between classroom level and school level.
- *Home environment:* This context relates to the student's background characteristics, especially in terms of the learning processes associated with family, home, and other immediate out-of-school contexts.
- *The individual:* This context includes the characteristics of the student, the processes of learning, and the student's level of CIL/CT.

The status of contextual factors within the learning process is also important. Factors can be classified either as antecedents or processes:

- Antecedents are exogenous factors that condition the ways in which CIL/CT learning takes place. They are contextual factors that are not directly influenced by learning-process variables or outcomes. It is important to recognize that antecedent variables are level specific and may be influenced by antecedents and processes found at higher levels, for example, the availability of ICT resources in schools/classrooms (a school/classroom antecedent) is likely to be influenced by ICT education policies at the level of the education system (a wider community antecedent).
- Processes are those factors that directly influence CIL/CT learning. They are constrained by antecedent factors and factors found at higher levels. This category contains variables such as opportunities for CIL/CT learning during class, teacher attitudes toward using ICT for study tasks, and students' use of computers at home.

Both antecedents and processes need to be taken into account when explaining variation in CIL/CT learning outcomes. Whereas antecedent factors shape and constrain the development of CIL/CT, process factors can be influenced by the level of (existing) CIL/CT learning. For example, the level and scope of classroom exercises using ICT generally depend on the existing CIL/CT-related proficiency of the students.

When classifying antecedent and process-related contextual factors according to their relationship with CIL/CT outcomes located at the different levels, each type of factor at each level is accompanied by examples of variables that have the potential to influence learning processes and outcomes (Figure 4.1). It is important to note that there is a reciprocal association between learning processes and learning outcomes while there is a unidirectional influence between antecedents and processes. Reference to this



Figure 4.1: Contexts for ICILS 2023 CIL/CT learning outcomes

Notes: The double arrow between process-related factors and outcomes emphasizes the possibility of a reciprocal association between learning processes and learning outcomes. The single arrow between antecedents and processes indicates the assumption within the ICILS contextual framework of a unidirectional influence between these types of contextual factors.

general conceptual framework enables potential contextual factors to be located on a two-by-four grid, where antecedents and processes constitute the columns and the four levels the rows (Table 4.1) shows examples of the contextual variables collected by the ICILS 2023 instruments). Data on contextual factors pertaining to the level of the individual student and his or her home context are collected in the student questionnaire. Data on contextual factors associated with the school/classroom level are collected using

the student, teacher, school principal, and ICT coordinator questionnaires. Contextual data at the level of the wider community is collected using the national contexts survey, the principal and ICT coordinator questionnaires and other available sources (e.g., published statistics).

Level of	Antecedents	Processes
Wider community	NCS, PQ, ICQ and other sources: Structure of education Availability of ICT	NCS, PQ, ICQ and other sources: Role of ICT in curriculum Approaches to ICT use
School/classroom	PrQ, ICQ, & TQ: School characteristics ICT resources School leadership	PrQ, ICQ, TQ and StQ: ICT use in teaching and learning CIL/CT instruction
Student	StQ: Gender Age	StQ: ICT activities Use of ICT CIL/CT
Home environment	StQ: Parent socioeconomic status ICT resources	StQ: Learning about ICT at home

Table 4.1: Mapping of variables to contextual framework (examples)

Notes: NCS = national contexts survey; PrQ = principal questionnaire; ICQ = ICT coordinator questionnaire; TQ = teacher questionnaire; StQ = student questionnaire.

4.3 Contextual levels and variables

4.3.1 The wider community context

Levels within the wider community context all have the potential to affect student learning at school or at home. Conceptually, this context has several levels:

- Local communities, where remoteness and lack of stable and fast internet connections may affect conditions for ICT use
- *Regional and national contexts*, where communication infrastructure, educational structures, curricula, and general economic/social factors may be of importance
- Supranational or even international contexts, where a long-term perspective brings in, for example, factors such as the general advance of ICT on a worldwide scale

The most important factors potentially explaining variation in CIL/CT are located at the national level (or subnational level in those instances of sub-regions participating in the study). Across previous cycles of ICILS there was evidence of broad differences across countries in terms of access to digital technology (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014).

Information relating to the contexts of education systems will primarily be sourced from the ICILS 2023 national contexts survey, and supplemented by information from external databases and other published sources. Typically, these published sources provide information about antecedent country-context variables, while the national contexts survey will deliver data on antecedent and process variables at the education-system level.

More specifically, the national contexts survey is designed to collect systemic data on the following:

- Structure and makeup of the education system (with specific focus on the target grade)
- Educational policy and practice in CIL/CT education (including curriculum approaches to CIL and CT)
- Policies and practices for developing the CIL/CT expertise of teachers

 Current policies and reforms relating to the implementation of digital technology in schools (including approaches to the assessment of CIL/CT and the provision of ICT resources in schools)

Antecedent variables at the level of the wider community

Previous cycles of ICILS have shown relatively strong associations between the general socioeconomic development of countries and student learning outcomes (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014). ICILS 2023 will again select national (and where appropriate possible subnational) indicators related to general human development status as regularly reported by the United Nations Development Programme. Examples of these indicators are gross domestic product per person, access to education, and health statistics.

Given ICILS' focus on students' CIL/CT, it is important to take into account the general availability of and infrastructure for ICT. To this end, ICILS 2023 will collect, with the aim of describing the general ICT-related resources at the national level, information relating to variables such as the proportion of the population with access to the internet. Relevant data can be sourced from international agencies such as the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) that routinely collect and publish high quality data associated with aspects of digital development.

Data from a range of international surveys, including previous cycles of ICILS, show that the provision of ICT resources in schools varies widely across countries (see, for example, Anderson and Ainley, 2010; Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014; OECD, 2020). In order to obtain information related to the general policies regarding the ICT resourcing of schools, the ICILS 2023 national contexts survey will collect data about the organization and and characteristics of the education systems in each country. System-level variables related to this aspect include length of schooling, age-grade profiles, and structure of school education (e.g., study programs, public/private management), as well as the degree of autonomy of educational providers. In addition, the survey will collect information about approaches to the provision of school-based ICT infrastructure, as well as policy provisions and expectations regarding the teaching, learning and assessment of CIL and CT.

These system-level data will be complemented by school-level information from the ICT coordinator questionnaire, which will collect information about the access to hardware and software resources to support teaching and learning within schools.

Process-related variables

The process-related variables on CIL/CT-related education policy that will be collected by the ICILS 2023 national contexts survey include:

- The definition of and the priority that each country gives to CIL education in its educational policy and provision
- Reforms implemented in the past 5 years in the use of ICT in education
- The emphasis on ICT use and CIL/CT learning in the curriculum
- Support by education authorities for teacher professional development in CIL/CT education
- The influence of different institutions or groups on decisions relating to those goals and aims

The initial ICILS 2013 contextual framework references policies and practices developed as outcomes of earlier large-scale surveys of ICT in education. These studies include IEA's Second Information Technology in Education Study (SITES) (Plomp et al., 2009), the European Commission's Indicators of ICT in Primary and Secondary Education (Pelgrum & Doornekamp, 2009), and the International Experiences with Technology in Education survey, which covered policies and experiences in 21 countries (Bakia et al., 2011). ICILS 2023 builds on this foundation of data relating to students' learning contexts and learning processes and on the outcomes of the previous two cycles of ICILS.

The information from these studies shows that countries take different approaches to the implementation of CIL/CT education in their curricula. Some education systems include it as a subject within the curriculum, whereas others include it by integrating it into other subjects. The explicitness with which countries describe their CIL/CT curricula and the learning outcomes they want from them also vary across education systems. Some have very explicit curricula regarding CIL education and its expected learning outcomes; others describe CIL/CT education as an "implicit" curriculum that weaves through the curriculum documents for other learning areas.

In order to build on what is already known, the national contexts survey will gather data on the inclusion of CIL/CT education (as a separate subject, integrated into different subjects, or as a cross-curricular approach) in the formal curriculum at different stages of schooling and in different study programs. It will also capture the nomenclature for CIL/CT-related curriculum subjects and whether they are compulsory or optional in each program of study. There will also be specific questions regarding the curriculum emphasis on CIL/CT education.

Another important process-related variable at the system level is the development of teacher expertise in ICT-related teaching and learning (Fernández-Batanero et al., 2022; Law et al., 2008; Scherer & Siddiq, 2015). Teacher education programs often provide aspiring teachers with opportunities to develop ICT-related competencies. To aid assessment of the variety of different approaches to teacher education in the field, the national contexts survey gathers (where applicable) data on ICT-related requirements for becoming a teacher. The survey also collects information on the extent to which ICT-related education is a requirement of preservice or initial teacher education and teacher registration, and on the on expectations for teachers' ongoing learning about developments in CIL/CT education including the provision of inservice or continuing professional development for the use of ICT in education.

Education systems continue to undertake reforms involving the expansion in the use of digital technology in education. Results from previous cycles of ICILS have illustrated the considerable variation in such reforms across countries (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2013). The ICILS 2023 national contexts survey will again collect qualitative information from participating countries about the plans or policies are in place to support the use of ICT in education, including initiatives relating to the use of ICT in education and any major recent (within the past 5 years) changes to the approach and use of ICT in education.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, as direct contact between teachers and students was limited, distance learning became more frequent. In many countries ICT played an important role in mitigating the negative effects of disrupted schooling (Meinck et al., 2022; Pokhrel & Chhetri, 2021; Schleicher, 2020). The participating education systems will have the opportunity to describe the extent of ICT use in teaching and learning and its approaches during the COVID-19 pandemic.

4.3.2 School/classroom context

Any study of students' acquisition of CIL/CT must acknowledge the key role that school and classroom contexts play in that acquisition. Use of ICT is increasingly becoming standard practice in education and is therefore an important part of preparing young people for participation in modern society. Factors associated with the school and classroom context will be collected through the teacher, school principal, and ICT coordinator questionnaires. In addition, the student questionnaire includes some questions gauging student perceptions about classroom practices related to ICT. Even though ICILS 2023 will not attempt to investigate the relationship between ICT use in schools or classrooms and achievement in academic learning areas such as language, mathematics, or science, it is of interest to note the evidence of a positive impact of ICT use on classroom achievement in a meta-analysis conducted by Lei et al. (2021).

Antecedent variables at the school/classroom level

In line with the need to consider basic school characteristics in the analysis of variations in CIL/CT, the school principal questionnaire will collect information on student enrollment, teachers, the range of grades, and the location of each participating school. It will also collect data on school management (public or private).

When considering *leadership for ICT* the vision for ICT is often mentioned as a necessary antecedent to effective ICT integration by teachers (Al Sharija & Watters, 2012; Anderson & Dexter, 2005; Dexter, 2011; Yee, 2000). While school leaders are in a particularly influential role regarding forming a vision for ICT and sharing it with teachers (Davidson & Olson, 2003; Yuen et al., 2003), the vision and resulting shared goals are ideally created with the school community and revisited for guidance and decision making, and updated, on an ongoing basis (Vanderlinde et al., 2010). In ICILS 2023, principals were asked about

the distribution of leadership for specific ICT related aspects. Further, principals, ICT coordinators and teachers were all asked a number of new questions to identify specific aspects of their school's vision to use ICT for teaching and learning. Creating expectations for performance related to the vision, and collecting data about progress are also important aspects of achieving a vision (Vanderlinde et al., 2010; Yee, 2000). New questions asked of the ICT coordinators and principals capture those aspects. When compared to previous cycles, ICILS 2023 will allow a more complete understanding of the how school-level vision serves as an antecedent for teachers' uses of ICT.

The research is definitive about the need to provide teachers with opportunities to learn to use ICT to support teaching and learning, and findings often indicate these opportunities are either ill-timed, too general, or not provided at all (Dexter et al., 2016). Previously in ICILS principals were asked about teachers' participation in professional learning about ICT. To better reflect the a large body of research on the importance of considering ICT integration through the lens of teaching needs and pedagogy and beliefs (Zhao & Frank, 2003; Zhao et al., 2002) questions added to the 2023 instruments provide detail about school approaches to developing teachers' professional capacity to teach with and about ICT. These include the use of individualized professional learning plans for teachers and opportunities for teachers to engage in activities that contribute to communities of practice within schools.

Leaders' contribution to creating a supportive organization for learning has in increased focus in ICILS 2023, through a number of new questions principals answer regarding teachers' culture for collaboration on ICT. As a result of the increasing recognition that teachers integrate ICT according to their personal beliefs about teaching and learning as well as having different levels of readiness (Ertmer et al., 2015; Tondeur et al., 2009), the collaboration culture of a school is seen to contribute to teachers' learning to integrate ICT in their teaching, supporting them to use a broader variety of approaches and activities when teaching with ICT, and to better target these approaches and activities to meet specific teaching and learning needs. For ICILS 2023, a number of new questions have been added to the principal and ICT coordinator questionnaires to collect data about who contributes to the leadership of ICT. Distributed leadership is a "leader-plus" perspective of leadership in schools that focuses less on specific roles and more so on the interactions among members of a school that move its work forward (Spillane et al., 2004; Spillane, 2006). These added questions ask about the different people who provide support across a variety of leadership functions that contribute to the successful uses of ICT in schools.

SITES 2006 findings suggested that ICT use by science and mathematics teachers is influenced by the school principal's views about its value, as well as the ICT-related support teachers have at hand (Law et al., 2008). Findings also indicated that ICT-related teaching and learning can be constrained or facilitated by the school's stated curriculum and its policies with regard to ICT. The ICILS school principal questionnaire will therefore collect data on the following factors:

- The extent to which the school has policies and procedures relating to ICT use
- The extent to which the school prioritizes ICT acquisition and resourcing
- Perception of the importance ascribed to ICT learning outcomes in teaching at the school
- School-level expectations for teachers' knowledge of and skills in using ICT
- The extent to which teachers participate in ICT-related professional development

School-level factors related to ICT resourcing and priorities are known to influence both the way in which teachers use ICT for teaching and learning, and students' ICT-related learning (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014; Gerick et al., 2017; Konstantinidou & Scherer, 2022). The ICILS questionnaire for each school's ICT coordinator includes questions on the availability of school-owned computing devices at school, their location within the school, how many students have access to them, and the number of years the school has been using ICT. The instrument will also collect data on the support the school provides for ICT use in teaching and learning in terms of personnel and technology or software resources. It additionally includes a question measuring the coordinator's perceptions of the adequacy of the ICT on hand for learning and teaching at school. Analysis of this type of information will support investigation of the role of digital resourcing in schools as an antecedent for CIL/CT learning as well as its relationship to the approaches to teaching with ICT within schools.

The background and experiences of teaching staff potentially influence the acquisition of students' CIL/CT.

Teachers' sense of self-efficacy in the use of basic ICT has been reported as linked to greater use of ICT in the classroom (I. Hatlevik & Hatlevik, 2018; O. Hatlevik, 2016; Law et al., 2008). In ICILS 2013, teacher ICT self-efficacy was the teacher-level variable that showed the strongest association with teachers' reported emphasis on developing students CIL, and "teachers who were confident about their own ICT capability were more likely than their less-confident colleagues to place a greater degree of emphasis on developing their students' ICT-related skills" (Fraillon et al., 2014, p. 217). Furthermore, ICILS 2013 and 2018 reported that older teachers typically expressed lower confidence than younger teachers in their ability to use ICT in their teaching practice (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014). The ICILS 2023 teacher questionnaire will therefore collect information on the background of teaching staff (such as age, gender, subject taught at school) and on their ICT experience (number of years using ICT for teaching purposes, general use of computers at different locations, participation in ICT-related professional development activities, and perceived self-confidence in using ICT for different tasks).

Teachers will also be asked to give their views on the positive and negative consequences of using ICT for teaching and learning, and to identify any factors that they think impede the use of ICT for teaching and learning at their school. Results from ICILS 2013 and 2018 indicated that teachers across participating countries tended to recognize positive benefits from using ICT in teaching (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014).

Process-related variables at the school/classroom level

The use of ICT in school education has been seen as having the potential to influence teaching and learning processes by enabling wider access to a range of resources, allowing greater power to analyze and transform information, and providing enhanced capacities to present information in different forms. Based on student reports from ICILS 2018, school-related use of ICT most often involved internet searching and document production. In addition, teachers' use of ICT for student activities and teaching practices was limited and varies across the different types of activities/practices as well as across countries (Fraillon et al., 2020b).

The ICILS 2023 teacher questionnaire accordingly asks teachers to consider one of their classes (specified in the questionnaire) and to report on the frequency of specific teaching activities, the use of ICT in these activities, and proportion of lessons in which specific ICT-based activities take place. Related to that, an optional question inquires about their epistemological beliefs (their beliefs about how knowledge is created). Furthermore, the teacher questionnaire asks to identify (where applicable) the types of ICT applications used in that class, and the emphasis placed on developing ICT-based student capabilities and skills. A consistent finding reported across both previous ICILS cycles was the positive association between teachers' perceptions of working in a school environment with a collaborative teaching approach and teacher self-efficacy and use of ICT for classroom purposes (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014; I. Hatlevik & Hatlevik, 2018), the questionnaire also asks teachers about their perceptions of whether and how ICT is used as part of collaborative teaching and learning at their school.

Actual student use of ICT in the learning process is another important factor. The student questionnaire also asks students to report on how often they use computers at school, their use of computers for different school-related purposes, and the frequency with which they use ICT in their learning of different subjects. Furthermore, ICILS 2023 asks students about the frequency with which they use different ICT tools (such as multimedia, word processing, or presentation software) in the classroom.

To assess how much students perceive they have learned about ICT use, ICILS 2023 contains a question that is similar to one used in ICILS 2013 and 2018. This question measures the extent to which students think they have learned at school about different ICT-related tasks (such as providing internet sources or looking for different types of digital information on the internet). In response to the ever-increasing need to educate students about online safety and security issues (European Commission, 2022; Ranguelov, 2010; UNESCO, 2014), ICILS 2023 also contains items on whether students believe they have learned at school about the importance of tasks related to security and privacy when using digital devices (such as checking the origin of emails before opening them, or managing privacy settings on internet accounts). To complement this information, ICILS 2023 also asks about learning these tasks outside of school. In addition, the student questionnaire includes a new question about perceived learning of specific topics on responsible ICT use at school.

Students and teacher questionnaires include a set of questions to collect data on the degree to which instruction relating to the skills that underpin CT takes place in classrooms. These questions address process-related context factors that may influence the development of CT skills.

4.3.3 Home context

Antecedent variables related to the home environment

The influence of student home background on students' acquisition of knowledge has been shown in many studies, and there is evidence that home background is associated with the learning of ICT skills (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014; Nasah et al., 2010; National Assessment of Educational Progress, 2016). Influences that have been shown to be associated include parental socioeconomic status, language used at home, ethnicity, and whether or not the student and/or his or her parents have an immigrant background.

A large body of literature shows the influence of students' socioeconomic background on student achievement in a variety of learning areas (see, for example, National Assessment of Educational Progress, 2016; Saha, 1997; Scherer and Siddiq, 2019; Sirin, 2005; Woessmann, 2004). ICILS 2018 results showed that, in participating countries, socioeconomic background consistently explained considerable variation in students' CIL and CT (Fraillon et al., 2020b). To assess the socioeconomic status of the students' parents, ICILS 2023 will include questions on the highest educational levels of parents, their occupations, and the number of books at home. This procedure is the same as was used successfully in ICILS 2013 and 2018.

In the questionnaire, the highest educational levels achieved by the student's mother and father are defined in accordance with the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) (UNESCO, 2011). The occupation of each parent will be recorded through open-ended questions, with occupations classified according to the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO) framework (ILO, 2012) and then scored using the International Socioeconomic Index (SEI) of occupational status (Ganzeboom et al., 1992). Home literacy resources are measured through a question asking students to report the approximate numbers of books at home.

There is evidence from many countries of considerable disparities in students' access to digital resources in homes, and researchers and commentators claim that these disparities affect the opportunities that students have to develop the capabilities required for living in modern societies (Warschauer & Matuchniak, 2010). ICILS 2013 provided evidence for these claims in many participating countries, however, in some highly developed countries only small effects were observed (Fraillon et al., 2014). And the results of ICILS 2018 showed that availability of computers at home was a positive predictor of CIL and CT in most countries but the relationship weakened after controlling for personal and social background (Fraillon et al., 2020b). The student questionnaire gathers information about the digital resources in students' homes to use these data to examine the relationship between resource levels and CIL/CT. In order to take into account changes in technology and use of digital devices, the set of items for measuring digital home resources include computers, tablet devices and smartphones.

Many studies, including ICILS 2013 and 2018, have found that the cultural and language background of students can be associated with their educational performance (see, for example, Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014; Schulz et al., 2017). To measure these aspects of student background, the ICILS student questionnaire includes questions about students' and parents' country of birth, as well as about the language which is spoken most frequently at home.

Process-related variables related to the home environment

Home environment factors that potentially influence the learning process include the use of ICT in the home context and learning through interaction with family members. The student questionnaire therefore includes questions about how often they use ICT outside of school (including at home), their perceptions about how much they learned about ICT use outside of school (including at home), and how often they do activities using digital devices at the same time as doing schoolwork (known as academic-media multi-tasking (see, for example van der Schuur et al., 2020).

4.3.4 Individual context

Antecedent variables at the individual level

Antecedent variables at the level of the individual student consist of basic background characteristics that may influence students' CIL-related knowledge and skills. Relevant factors in this category are age, gender, and educational aspirations.

Students' knowledge and skills in different learning areas increase with age (see, for example, Kawaguchi, 2011; Mavilidi et al., 2022; Peña, 2017) and a similar relationship is assumed for the development of CIL and CT with age. However, cross-national data from grade-based surveys tend to find negative associations between age and achievement within a given grade-level within some countries (see, for example, Schulz et al., 2017, p. 63). Findings from ICILS 2013 and 2018 (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014) showed a similar negative association which could be due to retention and progression policies where older students in the same grade (grade 8 for ICILS) are also those with lower achievement.

Studies on educational achievement in numerous learning areas have found considerable differences between gender groups. This is why gender differences in CIL/CT are of interest as well. In particular, cross-national research on reading literacy has shown larger gender differences in favor of females (Mullis et al., 2023; Mullis et al., 2017; OECD, 2016). Cross-national results from ICILS 2013 and 2018 also indicated that female students tended to have higher levels of CIL than their male counterparts (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014). With regard to CT skills, however, male students tended to have higher achievement across all participating countries (Fraillon et al., 2020b).

Individual aspirations with regard to education provide an indication of students' belief in their capacity to succeed in education and should be taken into account during any analysis of variation in students' CIL and CT. In ICILS 2018, expected university education was a consistent positive predictor of both CIL and CT achievement (Fraillon et al., 2020b). The ICILS 2023 student questionnaire includes the same question as in the previous cycle to gauge students' expected highest level of educational qualification.

Process-related variables at the individual level

Process-related variables at the individual level in this context include attitudinal (e.g. attitudes towards the value of ICT, or ICT self-efficacy), as well as behavioral factors (e.g. use of ICT within and outside of school) that are hypothesized to contribute to the process of student learning. An individual' s self-beliefs regarding their own ability with respect to a certain learning area are often viewed as central to the process of learning, and are likely to have a reciprocal association with knowledge and skills (see for example, Schöber et al., 2018; Talsma et al., 2018). Furthermore, it is also important to include student perceptions about responsible and appropriate use of ICT, which can also be seen as intended learning outcomes from teaching CIL and CT. Behavioral variables also relate to using ICT for different purposes and needs, especially in terms of the potential that frequent and varied use of these tools has for facilitating student learning.

The student questionnaire includes items designed to measure the extent to which students express confidence in doing a range of ICT-related tasks. According to Bandura (1993), students' confidence in their ability to carry out specific tasks in an area (self-efficacy) is strongly associated with their performance, as well as perseverance, emotions, and later study or career choices. Moos and Azevedo (2009) concluded from their review of research on computer self-efficacy that this variable plays an integral role in learning in computer-based learning environments. The two authors examined factors related to computer selfefficacy and the relationships between computer self-efficacy, learning outcomes, and learning processes. They found a number of positive associations between behavioral and psychological factors, and computer self-efficacy. A particular finding was that students who experience behavioral modeling also report significantly higher computer self-efficacy than do students who experience more traditional instruction methods. Sample assessments in the United States and Australia have similarly reported positive associations between student ICT-related self-efficacy and technological and ICT-literacy achievement (Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority, 2018; National Center for Education Statistics, 2018).

In ICILS 2013 and 2018, two dimensions of self-efficacy were identified, one related to student confidence in undertaking basic ICT tasks (such as searching and finding a file on a computer) and another one reflecting confidence in more advanced tasks (such as creating a database, computer program or macro) (Fraillon et al., 2020a; Schulz & Friedman, 2015). While self-efficacy related to basic tasks tended to be positively correlated with CIL, confidence in undertaking advanced tasks was not consistently associated with students' CIL (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014). The ICILS 2023 includes a modified set of items measuring both student confidence in basic and more advanced ICT tasks that will be analyzed with regard to CIL/CT achievement.

Applying ICT for different purposes on a regular basis has considerable potential to increase knowledge and skills in this area (see, for example, Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority, 2015; Fletcher et al., 2012; National Assessment of Educational Progress, 2016). ICILS 2013 and 2018 showed frequent use of ICT for a wide range of activities (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Fraillon et al., 2014). The ICILS 2023 student questionnaire consequently includes questions (modified from the previous cycle) about the frequency of using different ICT applications, using the internet for social communication, and using ICT for recreational (leisure) activities.

Data from other studies suggest a positive association between attitudes toward using ICT and academic achievement (Petko et al., 2016). In ICILS 2023, the student questionnaire includes a series of questions on students' perceptions of the impact on ICT on society and whether they intend to use ICT in the future for work and study purposes.

To gauge the educational context for the acquisition of CT skills, the ICILS 2023 student questionnaire asks students whether they study a CT-related subject (e.g., computing, computer science, information technology, informatics, or similar) in their current school year.

References

- Ainley, J., Enger, L., & Searle, D. (2009). Students in a digital age: Implications for teaching and learning. In J. Voogt & G. Knezek (Eds.), International handbook of information technology in primary and secondary education (pp. 63–80). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73315-9_4
- Al Sharija, M., & Watters, J. J. (2012). Innovative leadership by school principals: Embedding information communication and technology in Kuwaiti schools. *Journal of International Education Research*, 8(4), 425–434. https://doi.org/10.19030/jier.v8i4.7290
- Anderson, R., & Ainley, J. (2010). Technology and learning: Access in schools around the world. In P. Peterson, E. Baker, & B. McGaw (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of education* (3rd, pp. 21–33). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-044894-7.01714-0
- Anderson, R., & Dexter, S. (2005). School technology leadership: An empirical investigation of prevalence and effect. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 41(1), 49–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316 1X04269517
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2015). National Assessment Program –ICT Literacy Years 6 & 10 Report 2014 (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-ass essments/results-and-reports
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (2018). NAP Sample Assessment ICT Literacy: Years 6 and 10 November 2017 (tech. rep.). ACARA. https://www.nap.edu.au/nap-sample-asses sments/results-and-reports
- Bakia, M., Murphy, R., Anderson, K., & Trinidad, G. E. (2011). *International experiences with technology in education: Final report.* US Department of Education.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational psychologist*, 28(2), 117–148. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep2802_3
- Biagi, F., & Loi, M. (2013). Measuring ICT use and learning outcomes: Evidence from recent econometric studies. European Journal of Education, 48(1), 28–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12016
- Bundsgaard, J., & Gerick, J. (2017). Patterns of students' computer use and relations to their computer and information literacy: Results of a latent class analysis and implications for teaching and learning. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 5(17), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-017-0052-8
- Davidson, J., & Olson, M. (2003). School leadership in networked schools: Deciphering the impact of large technical systems on education. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 6(3), 261–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360312032000138692
- Dexter, S. (2011). School technology leadership: Artifacts in a system of practice. *Journal of School Lead*ership, 21, 16–189. https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461102100202
- Dexter, S., Richardson, J. W., & Nash, J. B. (2016). Leadership for technology use, integration, and innovation: A review of the empirical research and implications for leadership preparation. In M. D. Young & G. M. Crow (Eds.), *Handbook of research on the education of school leaders* (2nd, pp. 202–228). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315724751
- Ertmer, P. A., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A., & Tondeur, J. (2015). Teacher beliefs and uses of technology to support 21st century teaching and learning. In H. R. Fives & M. Gill (Eds.), *International handbook of research on teacher beliefs* (pp. 403–418). Routledge, Taylor & Francis. https://www.research gate.net/publication/294736258_Teacher_Beliefs_and_Uses_of_Technology_to_Support_21st _Century_Teaching_and_Learning
- European Commission. (2022). A digital decade for children and youth: The new European strategy for a better internet for kids. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2022:212: FIN
- Fernández-Batanero, J. M., Montenegro-Rueda, M., Fernández-Cerero, J., & García-Martínez, I. (2022). Digital competences for teacher professional development. systematic review. *European Journal* of Teacher Education, 45(4), 513–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2020.1827389
- Fletcher, G., Schaffhauser, D., & Levin, D. (2012). *Out of print: Reimagining the K-12 textbook in a digital age.* State Educational Technology Directors Association (SETDA). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext /ED536747.pdf
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020a). *IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018. Technical report.* International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). https://www.iea.nl/publications/technical-reports/icils-2018-t echnical-report
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020b). Preparing for life in a digital world: IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 international report. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38781-5
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Gebhardt, E. (2014). Preparing for life in a digital age: The IEA international computer and information literacy study international report. Springer. https://doi .org/10.1007/978-3-319-14222-7
- Fraillon, J., Schulz, W., & Ainley, J. (2013). International computer and information literacy study 2013: Assessment framework. International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement. https://www.iea.nl/publications/assessment-framework/international-computer-and-information-literacy-study-2013
- Ganzeboom, H. B. G., de Graaf, P. M., & Treiman, D. J. (1992). A standard international socioeconomic index of occupational status. *Social Science Research*, 21(1), 1–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/004 9-089X(92)90017-B
- Gerick, J., Eickelmann, B., & Bos, W. (2017). School-level predictors for the use of ICT in schools and students' CIL in international comparison. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 5(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-017-0037-7
- Hatlevik, I., & Hatlevik, O. (2018). Examining the relationship between teachers' ICT self-efficacy for educational purposes, collegial collaboration, lack of facilitation and the use of ICT in teaching practice. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 935. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00935
- Hatlevik, O. (2016). Examining the relationship between teacher's self-efficacy, their digital competence, strategies to evaluate information, and use of ICT at school. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 61(5), 555–567. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2016.1172501
- Hatlevik, O., Ottestad, G., & Throndsen, I. (2015). Predictors of digital competence in 7th grade: A multilevel analysis. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 31(3), 220–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12065
- ILO. (2012). International standard classification of occupations: ISCO-08 volume i. https://ilostat.ilo.org /resources/concepts-and-definitions/classification-occupation/
- Kawaguchi, D. (2011). Actual age at school entry, educational outcomes, and earnings. *Journal of the Japanese and International Economies*, 25(2), 64–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjie.2009.02.002

- Konstantinidou, E., & Scherer, R. (2022). Teaching with technology: A large-scale, international, and multilevel study of the roles of teacher and school characteristics. *Computers & Education*, 179, 104424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104424
- Law, N., Pelgrum, W. J., & Plomp, T. (2008). *Pedagogy and ICT use in schools around the world: Findings from the IEA SITES 2006 study*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8928-2
- Lei, H., Xiong, Y., Chiu, M. M., Zhang, J., & Cai, Z. (2021). The relationship between ICT literacy and academic achievement among students: A meta-analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 127, 106123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106123
- Mavilidi, M. F., Marsh, H. W., Xu, K. M., Parker, P. D., Jansen, P. W., & Paas, F. (2022). Relative age effects on academic achievement in the first ten years of formal schooling: A nationally representative longitudinal prospective study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 114(2), 308. https://doi.org/10 .1037/edu0000681
- Meinck, S., Fraillon, J., & Strietholt, R. (2022). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on education: International evidence from the responses to educational disruption survey (REDS). International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement. https://www.iea.nl/sites/default/files/2 022-05/UNESCO%20IEA%20REDS%20International%20Report%20Revised%20Edition%200 4.05.2022.pdf
- Moos, D., & Azevedo, R. (2009). Learning with computer-based learning environments: A literature review of computer self-efficacy. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(2), 576–600. https://doi.org/10.31 02/0034654308326083
- Mullis, I. V. S., von Davier, M., Foy, P., Fishbein, B., Reynolds, K. A., & Wry, E. (2023). PIRLS 2021 international results in reading. Boston College, TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center, Boston College. https://doi.org/10.6017/lse.tpisc.tr2103.kb5342
- Mullis, I. V. S., Martin, M. O., Foy, P., & Hooper, M. (2017). PIRLS 2016 international results in reading. TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center, Boston College. http://timssandpirls.bc.edu/pirls2016/inter national-results/
- Nasah, A., DaCosta, B., Kinsell, C., & Seok, S. (2010). The digital literacy debate: An investigation of digital propensity and information and communication technology. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 58(5), 531–555. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-010-9151-8
- National Assessment of Educational Progress. (2016). *The nation's report card: 2014 technology & engineering literacy (TEL) report card* (tech. rep.). U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/tel_201 4/
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). NAEP technology & engineering literacy (TEL) report card, student questionnaire results. https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/tel/student-questionnaires/
- OECD. (2016). PISA 2015 results (volume i): Excellence and equity in education. https://doi.org/10.1787/9 789264266490-en
- OECD. (2020). PISA 2018 results (volume v): Effective policies, successful schools. https://doi.org/10.1787 /ca768d40-en
- Pelgrum, W. J., & Doornekamp, B. D. (2009). Indicators on ICT in primary and secondary education (Report IIPSE: EACEA-2007-3278/001-001). European Commission, Directorate General Education and Culture.
- Peña, P. A. (2017). Creating winners and losers: Date of birth, relative age in school, and outcomes in childhood and adulthood. *Economics of Education Review*, 56, 152–176. https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.econedurev.2016.12.001
- Petko, D., Cantieni, A., & Prasse, D. (2016). Perceived quality of educational technology matters: A secondary analysis of students' ICT use, ICT-related attitudes, and PISA 2012 test scores. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 54(8), 1070–1091. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633116649 373
- Plomp, T., Anderson, R. E., Law, N., & Quale, A. (2009). Cross national policies and practices on information and communication technology in education (2nd). Information Age Publishing.
- Pokhrel, S., & Chhetri, R. (2021). A literature review on impact of COVID-19 pandemic on teaching and learning. Higher Education for the Future, 8(1), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/2347631120 983481

- Ranguelov, S. (2010). Summary report. education on online safety in schools in Europe. *New Horizons in Education*, 58(3), 149–163.
- Saha, L. J. (1997). Introduction: The centrality of the family in educational processes. In L. J. Saha (Ed.), International encyclopedia of the sociology of education (pp. 587–588). Elsevier.
- Scherer, R., & Siddiq, F. (2019). The relation between students' socioeconomic status and ICT literacy: Findings from a meta-analysis. *Computers & Education*, 138, 13–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.c ompedu.2019.04.011
- Scherer, R., & Siddiq, F. (2015). Revisiting teachers' computer self-efficacy: A differentiated view on gender differences. Computers in Human Behavior, 53, 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.06.0 38
- Schleicher, A. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on education (tech. rep.). OECD. https://www.oecd.org/ed ucation/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-education-insights-education-at-a-glance-2020.pdf
- Schöber, C., Schütte, K., Köller, O., McElvany, N., & Gebauer, M. M. (2018). Reciprocal effects between self-efficacy and achievement in mathematics and reading. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 63, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2018.01.008
- Schulz, W., Ainley, J., Fraillon, J., Losito, B., & Agrusti, G. (2016). IEA international civic and citizenship education study 2016: Assessment framework. Springer. https://www.springer.com/gb/book/97833 19393568
- Schulz, W., Ainley, J., Fraillon, J., Losito, B., Agrusti, G., & Friedman, T. (2017). Becoming citizens in a changing world: IEA international civic and citizenship education study 2016 international report. Springer. htt ps://www.springer.com/gb/book/9783319739625
- Schulz, W., & Friedman, T. (2015). Scaling procedures for ICILS questionnaire items. In J. Fraillon, W. Schulz, T. Friedman, J. Ainley, & E. Gebhardt (Eds.), *ICILS 2013 technical report* (pp. 177–220). The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement. https://www.iea.n l/sites/default/files/2019-04/ICILS_2013_Technical_Report.pdf
- Sirin, S. R. (2005). Socioeconomic status and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(3), 417–453. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543075003417
- Spillane, J., Halverson, R., & Diamond, J. (2004). Towards a theory of leadership practice: A distributed perspective. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *36*(1), 3–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220270320 00106726
- Spillane, J. (2006). Distributed leadership. Jossey Bass.
- Talsma, K., Schüz, B., Schwarzer, R., & Norris, K. (2018). I believe, therefore I achieve (and vice versa): A meta-analytic cross-lagged panel analysis of self-efficacy and academic performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 61, 136–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2017.11.015
- Tondeur, J., Coenders, A., van Braak, J., Brummelhuis, A., & Vanderlinde, R. (2009). Using online tools to support technology integration in education. *Handbook of Research on New Media Literacy at the K-12 Level: Issues and Challenges*, 1, 389–402. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-120-9.ch 025
- UNESCO. (2011). International standard classification of education: ISCED 2011. United Nations Education Scientific; Cultural Organisation. https://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/internati onal-standard-classification-of-education-isced-2011-en.pdf
- UNESCO. (2014). Fostering digital citizenship through safe and responsible use of ICT: A review of current status in Asia and the Pacific as of December 2014. United Nations Education Scientific; Cultural Organisation. https://en.unesco.org/sites/default/files/sru-ict_mapping_report_2014.pdf
- van der Schuur, W. A., Baumgartner, S. E., Sumter, S. R., & Valkenburg, P. M. (2020). Exploring the longterm relationship between academic-media multitasking and adolescents' academic achievement. *New Media & Society*, *22*(1), 140–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819861956
- Vanderlinde, R., van Braak, J., & Tondeur, J. (2010). Using an online tool to support school-based ICT policy planning in primary education. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 26(5), 434–447. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2010.00358.x
- Vanderlinde, R., Aesaert, K., & van Braak, J. (2014). Institutionalised ICT use in primary education: A multilevel analysis. *Computers & Education*, 72, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2013.10 .007

- Warschauer, M., & Matuchniak, T. (2010). New technology and digital worlds: Analyzing evidence of equity in access, use, and outcomes. *Review of Research in Education*, 34, 179–225. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X09349791
- Woessmann, L. (2004). How equal are educational opportunities? Family background and student achievement in Europe and the United States (tech. rep. No. 1284). Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA). https: //doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.586784
- Yee, D. L. (2000). Images of school principals' information and communications technology leadership. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education, 9*(3), 287–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/14759390000200 097
- Yuen, A. K., Law, N., & Wong, K. C. (2003). ICT implementation and school leadership: Case studies of ICT integration in teaching and learning. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 41(2), 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1108/09578230310464666
- Zhao, Y., & Frank, K. A. (2003). Factors affecting technology uses in schools: An ecological perspective. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40(4), 807–840. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312040 004807
- Zhao, Y., Pugh, K., Sheldon, S., & Byers, J. L. (2002). Conditions for classroom technology innovations. *Teachers College Record*, 104(3), 482–515. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9620.00170

CHAPTER 5

ICILS instruments

Daniel Duckworth and Julian Fraillon

5.1 The ICILS tests of CIL and CT

5.1.1 Background

During the International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS) assessment of computer and information literacy (CIL), students engage with a broad range of tasks. These include multiple-choice questions, short text responses, skills-based activities, and tasks focused on information literacy and communication. These tasks are executed within specialized productivity applications, such as document editors, design software, and web browsers specifically developed for the assessment. It is important to emphasize that the web content accessed during the ICILS is exclusively developed for the test, serving as the sole source of web-based material accessible to students. Students in countries participating in the optional assessment of computational thinking (CT) complete a range of tasks that include multiple-choice questions, short text responses, visual representations of concepts (such as flow charts and tree diagrams), and block-based coding and debugging tasks.

A cornerstone of ICILS is its commitment to offering students an assessment experience that reflects authentic uses of ICT. This is achieved by establishing the test content in authentic narratives that students may reasonably experience and by including the types of software applications students are likely to encounter in real-world settings. To facilitate this, the test instrument design process incorporates a comprehensive design system and a user interface component library. These tools enable the creation of interactive interfaces and specialized productivity and block-based coding applications that form the test's stimulus material. ICILS adopts a dynamic approach to addressing the changes in application and interface design across the cycles. In ICILS we leave open the possibility to adapt, as appropriate, the presentation of the assessment content to align with contemporary user interface conventions. The inaugural ICILS cycle in 2013 specified a minimum screen size of 29 cm and a display resolution⁸ of 1024 px by 768 px. This resolution was the most universally compatible at that time (StatCounter Global Stats, 2023) and the specification was retained for the 2018 cycle to ensure equitable access for all students, including those without access to devices with higher resolutions. However, increases in standard screen resolutions, and the shift towards using wider screen ratios over the 10 years since ICILS began, necessitated a change in the ICILS screen design. For ICILS 2023, the minimum display resolution was updated to 1280 px by 800 px (see Figure 5.1 for a comparison of resolutions). This change not only aligns with the trend toward wider display screens but also accommodates the global increase in devices with larger display resolutions. Importantly, it provides a more versatile canvas for the development of test content that accurately reflects the evolving design norms of real-world software applications. All new test materials developed for ICILS 2023 were developed to fit this new resolution. The on-screen layout of materials from previous ICILS cycles (trend materials) was updated, task by task, to make use of the larger available screen resolution in ICILS 2023, while also ensuring the layouts maintained relative parity with the trend materials.

In summary, ICILS embraces a fluid approach to test instrument design, continuously evolving to maintain currency and consequently to provide an authentic and meaningful assessment of students' CIL and CT skills that reflects their real-world digital experiences.

⁸ Display resolution is the number of distinct pixels in each of width and height that can be displayed by the computer screen.



Figure 5.1: Common computer display resolutions

5.1.2 Test instrument overview

Students need to be able to both navigate the mechanics of the test and complete tasks presented to them. In order to support these two purposes, the test environment comprises two functional spaces: the test interface and the stimulus section (Figure 5.2).

Figure 5.2: Test environment comprised of two functional spaces



5.1.3 Test interface

The test interface serves a number of purposes. Firstly, it provides students with information about their progression through the assessment, including the total number of tasks to be completed, the number of tasks that have been completed, the number of tasks yet to be completed, and the remaining time allocated to complete the tasks. The instruction section is located at the bottom of the test interface. This section either presents specific questions to be answered—in which case the designated answer space is also incorporated-or instructions relating to the execution of one or more tasks within the stimulus section. The test interface includes navigation controls that allow students to move between tasks, and an information button that allows students to access general test-taking information and task-specific information, such as scoring criteria or detailed task instructions. The test interface also includes a stimulus section (Figure 5.2). The stimulus section can house interactive and non-interactive content. It may feature static elements, such as graphical representations of a website's login interface, or dynamic elements such as document editors and web browsers. While the visual style of the test interface been modernized over each successive cycle of ICILS, the core structural and functional attributes have remained consistent across the cycles. For example, the positioning and functionality of navigational elements and task progression indicators have been retained but their visual appearance has been updated to align with contemporary interface design conventions (Figure 5.3).

Figure 5.3: The ICILS test interface design from ICILS 2013, 2018, and 2023



5.1.4 Test instrument design

The test of CIL is core to ICILS and is completed by all students. All students also complete the ICILS student questionnaire. The test of CT, administered after the student questionnaire, is an *international option* that countries can choose to administer. The CT option is completed by students in countries participating in the CT international option only.

The CIL instrument comprises a total of seven CIL test modules, three newly developed for ICILS 2023 and four retained from previous ICILS cycles to support the reporting of CIL achievement trends across the ICILS cycles. The three new modules were designed to reflect contemporary software applications and contexts. Data collected from all seven modules in ICILS 2023 are used to report CIL test results on the ICILS CIL achievement scale, originally established in ICILS 2013.

Each student completes a randomly assigned pair of CIL test modules out of the seven available modules in a fully balanced rotational design. This test design allows for the CIL test instrument (comprising all seven modules) to assess content covering the full range of the CIL construct, but for each student to complete a manageable amount of assessment content.

For the ICILS 2018 CT test, two 25-minute test modules were developed and used to establish the ICILS CT achievement scale. These modules were used for reporting the CT test results in the ICILS 2018 international report (Fraillon et al., 2020b). In the ICILS 2023 cycle, two additional CT modules have been introduced. In countries participating in the CT international option, students complete two out of the four available CT modules. As with the CIL assessment, the CT modules are allocated to students using a fully balanced rotated design.

Across all booklets, each CIL module was presented an equal number of times in each of the first and second position in the CIL test instrument. Each CIL module was paired an equal number of times with each other CIL module. Each CT module was presented an equal number of times in each of the first and second position in the CT test instrument. Each CT module was paired an equal number of times with each other CT module. While each of the CIL and CT test instruments were fully balanced, the CIL and CT instruments were not full balanced with each other. Across the booklets, each CIL module was not presented an equal number of times with each CT module. It was not essential to the test design for the two different test instruments to be fully balanced with each other, and the ICILS 2023 test design was selected to keep the number of test booklets to a manageable amount.⁹ Full details of the ICILS 2023 test design will be provided in the ICILS 2023 Technical Report to be published following completion of ICILS 2023. The sequence of modules in an ICILS test session is shown in Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4: ICILS 2023 test session outline

5.1.5 CIL test modules

A CIL test module is a sequence of tasks contextualized by a real-world theme and driven by a plausible narrative. The modules typically begin with a sequence of five to eight small tasks, each of which is designed to take students less than one minute to complete. Within each module, these small tasks collectively contribute to the foundational contextual knowledge that underpins work on a singular, a more extensive large task. The large tasks typically take 10–15 minutes to complete and involve authoring an information product (such as a presentation, poster, written report or social media post) that makes use

⁹ In ICILS 2023 there were 84 test booklets in countries completing both CIL and CT, and 42 test booklets in countries completing CIL only. A fully balanced design combining CIL and CT would have required a total of 504 test booklets.

of information and resources managed by students in the small lead-up tasks. The parameters of large tasks are specified for students in terms of the software tools and format to be used, the communicative purpose, and the target audience of the information product. Students view a *demo video* to familiarize them with the software application and information resources they will use in the task, and students are provided with information about the criteria that will be used to assess their work for each large task. Students can view and re-view the criteria at any time when they are completing the large task.

The module themes are devised to be engaging and relevant to students, and the tasks are developed with a view to preventing prior content knowledge relating to a module theme from advantaging subgroups of students. This is achieved in four main ways: (1) by providing students with all requisite contextual information within the tasks themselves, thereby eliminating the need for external knowledge; (2) by ensuring that any specialized information, such as scientific terminology, is presented at a complexity level commensurate with upper-primary or elementary school understanding; (3) by preventing students from returning to previous tasks within a module to prevent the utilization of information from subsequent tasks for answering earlier ones (see Fraillon, 2018 for a detailed explanation of these design features); and (4) by ensuring that the scoring criteria applied to the tasks allow credit only for the use of relevant information that is available to all students.

While the themes of the CIL modules are situated within a school environment, they are not confined to traditional academic subjects. Modules may encompass themes related to school subject-based social or environmental issues, but can also extend to scenarios such as planning a class excursion or establishing an online interest club with a community and social emphasis rather than academic one.

5.1.6 CT test modules

The CT construct comprises two strands: *conceptualizing problems* and *operationalizing solutions* (see Chapter 3 for an elaboration of the construct). In ICILS 2018, each CT test module focused on assessing competencies associated with one strand. The data collected from the two CT modules in ICILS 2018 supported the reporting of CT as a single measurement dimension (Fraillon et al., 2020b; Ockwell et al., 2020, p. 92). For ICILS 2023, the new modules have been designed to include tasks from both strands so that the modules reflect the processes of understanding and conceptualizing problems, and executing and evaluating computer-based solutions to those problems.

The ICILS 2018 CT module focusing on *conceptualizing problems* related to planning aspects of a program to operate an automated bus. It included tasks that involved visual representations, such as path diagrams, flow charts, and decision trees, which facilitated the planning of computer programs for automated solutions. It also included tasks facilitating the use of simulations to collect data and draw conclusions, reflecting real-world applications.

The ICILS 2018 CT module focusing on *operationalizing solutions*, required students to work in a blockbased coding environment, where they were tasked with creating, testing, and debugging code that controlled the actions of a drone used in farming. The interface included a visual display of the coded actions of the drone. The tasks were designed to incrementally escalate in complexity, corresponding to the range of code functions available, the number of actions the drone was required to perform, and the intricacies of the sequences of those actions. Students were permitted to return to previous tasks within this module. This decision was made because, unlike within other ICILS test modules, the block-based coding tasks did not follow a sequence where information provided in later tasks could potentially reveal the answer to earlier tasks. Consequently the test interface for this module included the facility for students to "flag" tasks that they might wish to return to, and a navigation feature that allowed them to navigate freely between tasks they had already viewed.

For the ICILS 2023 cycle, new modules were developed that naturally complement the types of tasks found in the *Automated bus* and *Farm drone* modules. These new modules introduced unique contexts and problem-solving scenarios. One module is dedicated to game development, focusing on the evaluation and systematic testing of the underlying code. The other is centered around data collection from digital device sensors, aiming to store, explore, and represent these data for smartphone application usage.

The decision in ICILS 2023 to design tasks that integrate both strands of the CT construct was taken so

that the modules could better represent a process of design and implementation. Each task in the new CT modules has a clear conceptual link to the preceding tasks. The continuity of the narrative helps to ground the overall problem context in the real-world. Consequently, for some tasks the initial state of a task is the solution to a problem in a previous task, as is the case in the CIL modules. Consequently, for the two new CT modules (as was already established for the *Automated bus* module), students must complete each task in sequence and cannot return to previous tasks.

The CT modules initially developed for ICILS 2018 were retained for use in ICILS 2023 cycle. These two modules will be released at the conclusion of the ICILS 2023 data collection. The content of tasks from both modules serves to illustrate the range of CT task types, as outlined in section 5.1.8.

5.1.7 Types of assessment task: CIL

The computer-based assessment of CIL contains three types of task that are integrated into a single testing environment. This section contains details of each of these tasks with an illustrative example from a released module. Some of the example tasks are from the module *Band competition* (ICILS 2013, 2018) where the student's central task was to design a web page representing a band featured in a school band competition. Other example tasks are taken from the modules *Breathing* (2013, 2018, 2023) and *School trip* (2013, 2018, 2023).

Task type 1: Information-based response tasks

Information-based response tasks employ a digital interface to deliver questions that emulate traditional pencil-and-paper methods but in a more enriched format. The stimulus material presented to students typically depicts a computer-based problem or information source. The response formats for these tasks may be multiple choice, constructed-response, or drag-and-drop. In these tasks, the computer-based environment is used to capture evidence of students' knowledge and understanding of CIL independently of students using anything beyond the most basic skills required to record a response.

As illustration of an information-based response task format, example task 1 (Figure 5.5) requires students to examine four organizational-structure diagrams for a website (visual sitemaps) and select the structure that best suits a given set of six pages of content. This task relates to aspect 2.2 of the CIL construct (managing information).

😌 WebPlanner				- ₂* ×	Time	
File Edit Tools						
C C Attp://www.[webplanner].icits/template1						
[School Name] [WebPlanner +						
WebPlanner						
📥 Template 1 🔹 Template 2 📥	Template 3 👫 Template					
			Page c	content		
	# Home					
			Competition Dates	Rand 1 Brofile		
			competition pates	band in this		
↓	+	+				
			Devel 0 Dev file	All and the Decide	10 - 15	
			Band 2 Profile	About the Bands	mins	
1	1	1				
			Contact Us	About the Competition		
🚷 🔇 WebPlanner						
Click on Templates 1,2,3 and 4. Which template	is the most suitable one for the B	nd Competition website?				
(You can drag and drop (move) the page conter	nts onto the template to help you o	ecide)			Q	
Template 1						
Template 2 Template 3						
Template 4					(+)	
0						

Figure 5.5: Example task 1 (multiple-choice question from Band competition presented in the ICILS 2023 test interface)

The dynamic computer-based environment in example task 1 enables students to view each of the four website structures in turn (see Figure 5.6). The stimulus could also be presented in a static form (i.e., showing all four diagrams together) in a pencil-and-paper test. The simplest multiple-choice tasks in ICILS could also be presented in an equivalent form on paper.

However, example task 1 provides an additional functionality that allows students to drag and drop the web page content labels into each organizational-structure template. This helps visualize the different information structures to support their choice of the best structure for pages in the website. The dynamic stimulus used in this task extends beyond what could be easily available in a pencil-and-paper format. The task then enables students to provide their answer through a conventional multiple-choice format (shown in the lower section of the test interface), with one correct option that is automatically scored. While the drag-and-drop functionality in example task 1 only serves as an aid for the student to determine the correct response, in other CIL tasks this functionality serves as the response format, recording the placement of the labeled shapes as the data to be scored.¹⁰ The CIL assessment uses the drag-and-drop response format whenever students are required to classify information into groups or to match objects or concepts according to their characteristics. Example task 2 (Figure 5.7) requires students to analyze



Figure 5.6: Example task 1 (four website templates)

a non-interactive promotional website and respond using text input field in the lower section of the test interface. The stimulus material in example task 2 (Figure 5.7) from *Breathing* depicts a promotional website selling a health supplement formulated from oregano. The task is presented to students as the outcome of an internet search that was the subject of the previous task.

¹⁰ All ICILS tasks are scored based on the final state of the student responses (as saved when they click "Next"). In ICILS 2023, we plan to collect process data, that includes a time-stamped record of students' actions when completing the tasks. These data may used in secondary analysis, or contribute in future cycles of ICILS to the analysis of students' approaches to completing tasks and potentially also in the scoring of selected tasks.



Figure 5.7: Example task 2 (open-response task from Breathing)

The website was contrived to include content that can be used as evidence that the information on the website may be unreliable.

Students must indicate whether they think the information presented on the website is reliable by evaluating the characteristics of content of the website and explaining their answer. Their responses are recorded as text and scored by trained scorers within each participating country, according to a pre-defined scoring guide. Students are awarded full credit if their explanation refers to any of four possible observations about the content of the website. These are: (1) the presence of only a single anonymous testimonial, (2) the lack of independent research about the efficacy of the product, (3) the lack cited sources or supporting evidence, or (4) the potential for exaggerated claims resulting from commercial bias.

Example task 2 relates to aspect 2.1 of the CIL construct (accessing and evaluating information).

Task type 2: Skills tasks

Skills tasks require students to interact with functional simulations of generic software or universal applications to accomplish a task. Such tasks can either be single-action tasks (such as copying, pasting, or selecting a browser tab), or they may involve a sequence of steps (such as saving a document under a new file name, or navigating through a menu structure). These tasks are designed to incorporate all standard methods of task completion (such as using keyboard shortcuts or menu items). The testing software records the response data, which are then scored automatically. Some skills tasks rely solely on the knowledge of the user interface conventions presented in a scenario, while others necessitate students to employ information processing skills to execute the correct commands.

The CIL student test comprises both linear and nonlinear skills tasks. A linear skills task can be as simple as executing a single command (such as opening a file from the desktop), or it may require more than one step to complete the task. All standard methods of executing a command (such as using the mouse to open menus, or keyboard shortcuts) are scored equivalently. Linear skills tasks necessitating the execution of more than one command can only be completed correctly if the commands are executed in a predefined sequence, but they do allow for combinations of methods. For example, if students are tasked with copying and pasting an image, they would first need to select the image, and then execute the copy action followed

by the paste action. The copy action could be executed using a keyboard shortcut and the paste action could be executed using a menu item.

Example task 3 (Figure 5.8) shows a multi-step linear skills task. The task requires students to save a file using a specified filename. Initially, students need to select the "File" option from the toolbar, which opens the "File" menu. Following this, they must choose the "Save as" option, which displays the "Save as" dialog box. For full credit, students must replace the existing file name with the specified filename (with or without the ".prs" file extension), and then click on the "Save" button. Partial credit is given if the file name is different from the one specified and not the default name shown in the "Save as" dialog. The scoring is completed by the ICILS assessment system. The specified file name is translated into the language of testing in each country, and the scoring is completed by comparing the name entered by the student to the translated name in the language of testing. This task aligns with aspect 1.2 of the CIL construct (computer use conventions). Example task 4 (Figure 5.9) from *School trip* shows a nonlinear



Figure 5.8: Example task 3 (three step linear skills task from Breathing)

skills task. In this task, students are presented with a spreadsheet outlining the itemized costs of a school excursion and can access the website containing the necessary information to complete the task. The task requires students to retrieve the per-student cost for the walking tour component of the excursion from the website, and input this value into the appropriate cell in the spreadsheet. Students can visit any of the available tabs within the website often as they choose to, and can enter any text into any cell. They must both locate the correct information on the website, and interpret the structure and content of the spreadsheet to determine the correct cell for the entry. The task's automatic scoring is based on two criteria: the location of the cell and the value entered into the cell. Full credit is awarded for entering the correct value in the correct cell. Partial credit is awarded to students who enter the correct value in an incorrect cell or an incorrect value in the correct cell. This task serves as an example of a nonlinear skills task necessitating information-processing skills, and is aligned with aspect 2.2 of the CIL construct (managing information).

🖨 [Sc	hool Name]									- 2 ×	
File	Edit Tools										
	https://[schoo	name].icils/students/Tri	p_to_[m-town]/Sprea	adsheet					→		
O ICol									•		
te [Sch	ioor Namej 🚊 (M-t	ownj Tours 🕂 🕂									
[Sch	iool Name]									<u>Sign Out Help</u>	
Trip to	[M-town]							Task 1	Task 2 Tasl	x 3 Spreadsheet	
File	Edit Format										
	« 🗿 🖪 🔊	Text Format	Font Ty	pe 🔻	Font Size	B <i>I</i>					
Formula	fx					~ ~					10-
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	I.	J 🔺	mi
1	Trip cost calculator	per student									
2											
3											
4		Cost ([\$])									
5	Train ticket:	[29]									
6	Lunch:	[12]									
7	Walking Tour 3:										
8	[M-town] Heritage Museum	[6]									
9	Total Cost:										
10											
	C (School Nama)										
•		_									
You n	leed to help work o	ut the cost of the tr	ip per student.								
Find	the cost of Walking	Tour 3 per student	on the [M-Town]	Tours website.							
Туре	the cost of Walking	Tour 3 into the app	oropriate cell in th	he spreadsheet.							
Click	on Θ when you hav	e completed the ta	sk.								
											- (-

Figure 5.9: Example task 4 (Nonlinear skills task from School trip)

Task type 3: Authoring tasks

Authoring tasks require students to alter and create information products using authentic computer software applications. These applications, purpose-built for ICILS, comply with software application conventions, such as the use of recognizable icons associated with typical functions, or common user interface feedback responses to given commands. These tasks may require students to use multiple applications (such as email applications, web pages, spreadsheets, and word processing or multimedia software) in parallel, as is typically required when using computer software to perform complex tasks. The content of each student's work is automatically saved and can be loaded and viewed for subsequent assessment by scorers according to a prescribed set of task specific criteria.

Example task 5 (Figure 5.10) from the *Band competition* module illustrates a simple authoring task. In this task, students are required to use a basic image manipulation tool to adjust aspects of an image intended to be used as the logo for a website promoting a school's band competition. Students must rotate the image 180 degrees, increase the brightness (by any amount), and crop the border surrounding the image without cropping the figures that are the subject of the image. The task was automatically scored. The application includes an "undo" button that allows students to correct errors; they can use the undo function as often as is required without penalty. This task aligns with aspect 3.1 of the CIL construct (transforming information).

The task is categorized as a simple authoring task rather than a complex one, because it needs only the information given in the instructions and a single software application (the image manipulation tool) to be completed by students. Its simplicity is also due to the relatively narrow range of "correct" ways in which students can manipulate the image to match the specifications.



Figure 5.10: Example task 5 (simple authoring task from Band competition presented in the ICILS 2023 test interface)

Example task 6 (Figure 5.11) from *Breathing* is a complex authoring task. It requires students to use information from two website sources to create a slideshow presentation to describe the process of breathing. One source offers scientific information about the respiratory system, including an annotated diagram of human lungs. The other outlines the three steps of breathing: inhalation, gas exchange, and exhalation. The stimulus is nonlinear, fully interactive, and intuitive. Students can switch between the presentation application and web browser, and between browser tabs to access the two websites. They can add text boxes to the slides and paste text copied from the websites into these boxes, and from a gallery, they can also add images that can be moved and resized. The final information product is saved, stored, and then presented to scorers for evaluation against a set of criteria. The scoring criteria for all complex authoring tasks vary according to the software environment, information content, and communicative purpose of each task. However, they all are developed to reflect aspects of two broad conceptual categories: (1) students' use of the available software features and (2) students' use of the available information.



Figure 5.11: Example task 6 (complex authoring task from Breathing)

Evaluation of students' use of the available software features can include criteria associated with students' formatting of text elements, their use of color and images, and on the overall layout of the information product they have produced. These criteria typically have an internal hierarchy based on the degree to which the software features are used to enhance or support the communicative effect of the information product. The highest level of credit is awarded to student work that demonstrates the ability to use the software features to enhance the communicative effect of the information product. The lowest level of credit is given to work that shows no application of the relevant software feature, or uncontrolled use (such as extremely poor color contrast or overlapping text) that inhibits comprehension of the product.

Evaluation of students' use of the available information can include criteria associated with the relevance and accuracy of information selected and used by the students, their adaptation of information according to the communicative context and purpose, and the appropriateness of selected information for the target audience. The purpose and target audience for ICILS complex authoring tasks are always explicitly specified. Students' use of information is assessed only in relation to the information provided to them in the task. The range of criteria available to evaluate example task 6 means that this single task collects evidence of student achievement relating to two aspects of the CIL construct: aspects 3.1 (transforming information) and 3.2 (creating information).

5.1.8 Types of assessment task: CT

The ICILS CT assessment includes information-based response tasks and nonlinear skills tasks with similar structures to these task types when used in the CIL assessment. However, the CT assessment also includes task types that are specific to the CT assessment. To illustrate this, example tasks from two CT modules, *Automated bus* (ICILS 2018) and *Farm drone* (ICILS 2018) are used.

Task type 4: Nonlinear systems transfer tasks

Nonlinear systems transfer tasks require students to interpret, transfer, and adapt algorithmic information, so that the results of applying algorithmic instructions can be visually displayed. Example task 7 (Figure 5.12) requires students to interpret a node graph representing the travel directions and locations of a bus route (right panel) and to transfer and adapt this information to a set of configurable menus (left panel).

Successful completion of this task demonstrates students' understanding of the visual representation of a system and the ability to decompose the elements of that system into an algorithm. Students responses are automatically scored based on the correct sequence of rows, where both the instruction and location/direction match the route, up to the first mistake. Full credit is given for correctly sequencing all rows (seven in total) while partial credit is awarded for correctly sequencing six or five rows. This task is associated with aspect 2.2 of the CT construct (developing algorithms, programs, and interfaces).



Figure 5.12: Example task 7 (Nonlinear systems transfer from Automated bus)

Example task 8 (Figure 5.13), shows a different format for a nonlinear skills transfer task—an interactive node graph.

Students are presented with a network graph that visually represents a series of routes from a "Sports event" to a "School". Students are instructed to click on the nodes to establish a potential route, with the corresponding travel times automatically recorded in a table. Each node in the graph indicates a waypoint, and the time required to travel between these waypoints is displayed on the connecting lines. A node can only be selected if it is directly connected by a line to currently selected. When a valid node is selected, the line color changes from green to red, with an arrowhead indicating the direction of travel and the newly selected node. Selecting a table row restores the state of the associated route facilitating comparisons of the visual representation of a route and the total travel time associated with that route.



Figure 5.13: Example task 8 (Nonlinear systems transfer from Automated bus)

The task captures evidence of students' ability to interpret data in graphical form and apply algorithmic thinking to solve a real-world problem—namely, determining the most time efficient route while dealing with the visually longer paths corresponding to shorter times. The task measures their capacity for decision-making by requiring them to identify which of their attempts resulted in the quickest route, thereby also evaluating their problem-solving efficiency and relates to aspect 1.3 of the CT construct (collecting and representing relevant data). Full credit was awarded to students who identified the fastest route (30 minutes) using the network graph and entered the corresponding row number from the results table to show their answer. Partial credit was awarded to students who did not find the fastest route using the network graph, but correctly entered the row corresponding to fastest route from their set of attempts to show their answer.

Task type 5: Simulation tasks

Simulation tasks require students to set parameters, run a simulation to collect data, and interpret the data to answer a research question. Example task 9 (Figure 5.14) requires students to configure the simulation tool and run simulations to identify the largest distance the automated bus can correctly recognize the cyclist.



Figure 5.14: Example task 9 (simulation task from Automated bus)

The decision tree (see left panel of Figure 5.14) is used to configure the conditions affecting the result of the simulation. The student can then vary the distance from the cyclist and run the simulation to identify the largest distance. Simulation tasks such as example task 8 typically relate to aspect 1.3 of the CT construct (collecting and representing relevant data).

Task type 6: Block-based coding tasks

Block-based coding environment

The overarching objective for the block-based coding environment developed for *Farm drone* was for students to complete coding tasks relating to the function of a drone used in farming. The block-based coding environment included the following key elements:

- A work space in which code blocks could be placed, ordered and re-ordered, and removed from the work space.
- A space containing the code blocks that could be selected and used in the work space. These included code blocks controlling movement of the drone, some simple configurable commands for the drone to execute, simple loops, and conditional statements.
- The facility for students to execute the code any number of times and at any time, and to see the consequent behavior of the drone as the code was being executed.
- The facility to reset the code in the work space (to the default state of each task) and to reset the

starting position of the drone before executing code.

Algorithm construction tasks

Algorithm construction tasks require students to develop their own solution to a problem by iteratively adding code blocks to the work space and executing the algorithm to see the results. These tasks typically allow for a variety of solutions with differing complexity (variety of code blocks) and depth (the number of levels deep nested codes are executed). Student responses are scored with respect to the accuracy with which the code achieves the specified goal, as well as the efficiency of the code, taking into account the number of code blocks used and the students' use of looping and conditional logic in the algorithm. These tasks relate to aspect 2.2 of the CT construct (developing algorithms, programs, and interfaces).

Algorithm debugging tasks

Algorithm debugging tasks require students to modify an existing algorithm (changing the structure of the code and parameters of the code blocks in the work space) to solve the problem presented by the task instructions. In these tasks the students are presented with an existing set of code blocks in the work space, a description of the intended outcome of executing the code and an indication that the code is not working and needs to be corrected. Students can freely modify the code and also reset the code blocks in the workspace to the default state of the task (i.e., reinstating the original incorrect code requiring debugging).

The solutions are evaluated according to: (1) the accuracy with which they address the task requirements (in this case both the number of crop tiles with the correct resource dropped on them, and the absence of any resources being dropped on grass tiles), and (2) the efficiency of the code solution (measured by the total number of code blocks used). Full details of how this scoring is applied are provided in the ICILS 2018 Technical Report (Fraillon et al., 2020a).

These tasks relate to aspect 2.1 of the CT construct (planning and evaluating solutions).

Figure 5.15: Example task 10 (algorithm debugging task from Farm drone)



5.2 Mapping test items to the CIL and CT constructs

The CIL and CT constructs (see Figures 2.1 and 3.1) are central to the process of instrument development because they provide the theoretical underpinning for the assessment and a way of describing its content. The ICILS tasks are designed to collect information about specific aspects of the relevant construct (CIL or CT), and each module typically includes content that addresses most, if not all, aspects of the construct. However, the test design of ICILS does not require that equal proportions of all aspects of the CIL and CT constructs are assessed. In contrast, the ICILS test instruments were developed to ensure some coverage of all aspects as part of an authentic set of assessment activities. The number of items and score points for each aspect of the two constructs is summarized in Tables 5.1 and 5.2, showing how the content of constructs was operationalized.

In the CIL test, more items and score points per item relate to strand 2 and strand 3 than the other strands of the CIL construct (see Table 5.1). The main reason for this is that the tasks at the end of each module are authoring tasks (see section 5.1.7) that focus on students' creation of an information product and therefore require each of these tasks to be assessed using multiple criteria with multiple score categories. The CIL skills and knowledge assessed with the authoring tasks reflect aspects 3.1 and 3.2, and together these contribute the largest number of score points across the CIL test modules. The spread of items and score points across the different aspects of the CIL construct also reflects the proportion of time that students are expected to spend completing the different tasks. The allocation of score points to aspects for the CIL construct in ICILS 2023 are very similar to those of ICILS 2018 (see Fraillon et al., 2020a).

While there is a similar number of items assessing each of the two CT strands, the number of score points available for strand 2 (operationalizing solutions) is approximately double that for strand 1 (see Table 5.2). This reflects the emphasis in the CT construct on assessing students' operationalized solutions (typically their block-based coding solutions to specified problems). The allocation of score points to aspects for the CT construct in ICILS 2023 are very similar to that of ICILS 2018 (see Fraillon et al., 2020a), however, in ICILS 2023 there is a slightly increased emphasis on aspect 2.1 (planning and evaluating solutions).

CIL strand/aspect	Total (Items)	Maximum total (score points)*			
Strand 1: Understanding computer use					
Aspect 1.1: Foundations of computer use	3	3			
Aspect 1.2: Computer use conventions	9	12			
Total (strand 1)	12	15			
Strand 2: Gathering information					
Aspect 2.1: Accessing and evaluating information	18	27			
Aspect 2.2: Managing information	9	15			
Total (strand 2)		42			
Strand 3: Producing information					
Aspect 3.1: Transforming information	16	26			
Aspect 3.2: Creating information	31	55			
Total (strand 3)	47	81			
Strand 4: Digital communication					
Aspect 4.1: Sharing information	11	17			
Aspect 4.2: Using information responsibly and safely	10	19			
Total (strand 4)	21	36			

Table 5.1: Mapping the CIL test items to the CIL framework

Notes: *This is an estimated maximum number of score points at the time of writing. The exact number of score points will be confirmed as part of the analyses of ICILS 2023 CIL data.

Table 5.2: Mapping the CT test items to the CT framework

CIL strand/aspect	Total (Items)	Maximum total (score points)*				
Strand 1: Conceptualizing problems						
Aspect 1.1: Knowing about and understanding digital systems	5	11				
Aspect 1.2: Formulating and analyzing problems	2	5				
Aspect 1.3: Collecting and representing relevant data	3	5				
Total (strand 1)	10	21				
Strand 2: Operationalizing solutions						
Aspect 2.1: Planning and evaluating solutions	8	18				
Aspect 2.2: Developing algorithms, programs and interfaces	12	30				
Total (strand 2)	20	48				

Notes: *This is an estimated maximum number of score points at the time of writing. The exact number of score points will be confirmed as part of the analyses of ICILS 2023 CT data.

5.3 The ICILS questionnaires

ICILS 2023 includes five questionnaire instruments. These are:

- The student questionnaire (completed by all students)
- The teacher questionnaire (completed by up to 15 teachers of the target grade in each school)
- The ICT-coordinator questionnaire (completed by the ICT-coordinator in each school)
- The principal questionnaire (completed by the principal in each school)
- The national contexts survey (completed under the oversight of the national center in each country)

All questions are to be completed by all respondents. ICILS includes a small number of questions listed as *international options*, that countries may choose to include and are common across countries that use them, and *national options*, that are country-specific questions administered only in the country that has proposed to use them.¹¹ Data from countries choosing to include the international and or national options are available to be reported in the ICILS international reports and are included in the ICILS international database.

The questionnaires use a mixed format, mostly closed response format questions with the exception of parental occupation questions in the student questionnaire which require students to enter short text responses that are later coded according to the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08) by trained coders in each country.

Respondents select their responses to closed response questions using radio buttons, check boxes or dropdown menus depending on the question content. The questionnaires are not timed, allowing respondents the flexibility to return and change their responses to previous questions if necessary. The student questionnaire is designed to take approximately 20 minutes, while the teacher, ICT-coordinator, and principal questionnaires should take no more than 30 minutes each. Where the student questionnaire is completed as part of the student test session, the teachers, ICT-coordinators and principals are at liberty to complete their questionnaires at their convenience, over a period of several weeks using as many sessions as they require.

The National Contexts Survey (NCS) collects system-level data on the structure and overarching policy and program context for CIL and CT education within each country. One NCS is completed under the supervision of the National Research Center in each ICILS country and benchmarking participant. This questionnaire contains a mixture of question formats (as describe previously), including some free text responses to support explication or elaboration of information.

¹¹ National options are included only with permission of the ICILS International Study Center. The amount of national option content that can be included is limited so that it does not compromise collection of the core ICILS international data.

5.3.1 Student questionnaire

The student questionnaire is based on the review of previous research, including the outcomes of previous cycles of ICILS, as discussed as part of the contextual framework (see Chapter 4), and is designed primarily to collect data that address Research Questions 4 and 5 for both CIL and CT:

- RQ 3 How do students' levels of access to, familiarity with, and self-reported proficiency in using computers relate to students' CIL and CT?
- RQ 4 What aspects of students' personal and social backgrounds (such as gender, and socioeconomic background) are related to students' CIL and CT?

Data gathered from the student questionnaire are used for two purposes. Firstly, these data are used in analyses that examine the relationships between student-level factors and measured CIL and CT. Secondly, these data are used to provide descriptive information about patterns of computer access and use across and within countries.

The student questionnaire is designed to generate data reflecting the following aspects of student and home background:

- Students' age (in years)
- Students' gender
- Students' expected highest level of educational qualifications
- Students' immigrant background
- Students' language use at home (test language or others)
- Students' parents' highest occupational status
- Students' parents' highest level of education
- Student reports on home literacy (number of books at home)
- Student reports on access to ICT resources at home
- Students' experience with ICT

The student questionnaire contains questions to generate data reflecting the following aspects of ICT use and attitudes related to ICT:

- Students' use of ICT within and outside of school
- Parental restrictions on students' computer use (national option)
- Student reports on learning about internet-related tasks within and outside of school
- Student reports on learning about ICT functional tasks within and outside of school
- Student reports on learning about responsible ICT use at school
- Student reports on academic media multitasking
- Students' use of ICT in school subject lessons
- Students' use of ICT tools in class
- Students' ICT self-efficacy
- Students' perceptions about the impact of ICT for society
- · Students' expectations of future ICT use for work and study
- Student reports on the extent of learning about approaches to CT at school

5.3.2 Teacher questionnaire

The teacher questionnaire is largely concerned with information about teachers' perceptions of ICT in schools and their use of ICT in educational activities in their teaching. The questionnaire also includes a small amount of content relating to leadership for technology within the school. Together with questionnaires completed by the school principal and ICT coordinator, the teacher questionnaire is based on the contextual framework (Chapter 4) and designed to collect data that address Research Question 2 for both CIL and CT:

RQ 2 How is CIL/CT education implemented across countries, and what aspects of schools and countries are related to students' CIL/CT?

The assumption is that the extent to which ICT is used in schools, and the ways in which ICT is used in schools to teach CIL- and CT-related competences, will impact on the development of students' CIL and CT. Information from the teacher questionnaire will also be used to describe the use of ICT in pedagogy among countries and major teaching areas.

It will not be possible to link teacher-based information to individual students. Rather, that information can be used to generate school-level indicators for potential two-level regression analyses in conjunction with student-based data.

The population for the ICILS teacher survey is defined as all teachers teaching regular school subjects to the students in the target grade (generally grade 8) at each sampled school. Fifteen teachers are selected at random from all teachers teaching the target grade at each sampled school to complete the teacher survey.¹² This cluster size is required to produce:

- School-level estimates with sufficient precision to be used in analyses that examine associations with student outcomes
- Population estimates with precision similar to those generated from student data

The teacher questionnaire consists of questions about teachers' backgrounds, their familiarity with ICT, their use of ICT in teaching a reference class, their perceptions of ICT at school, and their training to use ICT in teaching.

The teacher questionnaire is designed to provide the following indices regarding teacher background:

- Teachers' gender
- Teachers' age
- Main subjects taught (at least 4 lessons per week)
- Number of schools taught at
- Teachers' experience using ICT for teaching purposes

The teacher questionnaire is designed to generate data reflecting the following aspects of teacher perceptions regarding ICT and its use in education:

- Teachers' ICT use within and outside of school
- Teachers' ICT self-efficacy
- Teachers' learning about ICT in initial teacher education
- Teachers' participation in ICT professional development
- Teachers' perceptions of collaboration for ICT use
- Teachers' awareness of school vision for ICT use
- Teachers' perceptions of shared understanding of ICT use at their school
- Teachers' perceptions of adequacy of resources at their school
- Teachers' positive views regarding the use of ICT in teaching and learning
- Teachers' negative views regarding the use of ICT in teaching and learning
- Teachers' use of ICT across teaching activities in class
- Students' participation in ICT-related activities in class

¹² In small schools this means all teachers of grade 8 students.

- Teachers' use of ICT tools in class (national option)
- Teachers' emphasis on developing students' CIL capabilities in class
- Teachers' emphasis on developing students' CT capabilities in class (national option)
- Teachers' beliefs about knowledge, learning and cognition (national option)

5.3.3 ICT-coordinator questionnaire

The ICT coordinator questionnaire focuses on the provision of resources and support for the use of ICT in teaching in the school. The ICILS 2023 questionnaire includes questions associated with the implementation of the school vision associated with the use of technology in teaching and learning.

The ICT coordinator questionnaire includes questions designed to generate data reflecting the following ICT-related aspects:

- School experience in using ICT
- School policies towards the use of ICT at school
- The computer-student ratio at school
- The provision technical resources at school
- The provision of technical and pedagogical ICT support for teachers
- ICT coordinators' perceptions of hindrances to the use of ICT in teaching and learning at school
- ICT coordinators' perceptions of school emphasis on teaching activities to develop students' CT skills
- ICT coordinators' awareness of school vision for ICT use
- ICT coordinators' perceptions of shared understanding among teachers of ICT use at their school
- Monitoring and support for the implementation of the school vision for ICT use

5.3.4 Principal questionnaire

The school principal questionnaire focuses on characteristics of the school and broad policies, procedures, and priorities for ICT in the school and includes questions associated with the implementation of a school vision associated with the use of technology in teaching and learning.

While the ICT coordinator and school principal questionnaires should ideally be completed by different people, ICILS 2023 makes provision for the possibility that both may be completed by the same person in a small school where there is no identifiable ICT coordinator.

The principal questionnaire includes questions designed to collect data about the following contextual aspects at the school level:

- School principals' use of computers for school-related purposes (frequency)
- School size (student enrollment)
- Student-teacher ratio
- School structure and management
- Economic background of students
- School principals' perceptions of the importance of ICT use at school
- School principal reports on their expectations of teachers' ICT skills
- School principal reports on ICT policies and procedures
- School principal reports on teachers' professional development for ICT use
- School principal reports on school priorities for ICT use in teaching and learning

The launch of ChatGPT on 30 November 2022 very rapidly led to widespread recognition, interest in, and use of artificial intelligence applications based on large language models. During the first half of 2023,

it became clear that ChatGPT and similar tools were already having an impact on the work of schools in many countries. In ICILS, we made the decision to offer an optional addition to the ICILS principal questionnaire to collect national baseline data on school principals' first responses to and impressions of such tools. The decision to include this content at such a late stage of the study, and outside the conventional development practices of the study, was seen as an appropriate and nimble response to the very sudden and dramatic rise to prominence of these tools. ICILS countries were offered the option, at the national level, to include a set of additional questions associated with recognition of, attitudes toward and use of artificial intelligence tools based on large language models (referred to as "ChatGPT or similar tools") in schools.

5.3.5 National contexts survey

The national contexts survey is intended to collect data that primarily addresses Research Question 2 for both CIL and CT:

RQ 2 How is CIL/CT education implemented across countries, and what aspects of schools and countries are related to students' CIL/CT?

The assumption underlying Research Question 2 is that the opportunities to use ICT impact on opportunity to learn about CIL and CT and therefore on the development of student outcomes in these domains.

Data from the national contexts survey will be used to compare profiles of CIL and CT education in participating education systems. In addition, the data will provide information about contextual factors concerned with structure of the education system and other aspects of education policy for the analysis of differences in approaches to ICT-related learning across education systems. Data from the national context questionnaire will be used for two broad purposes:

- To provide systematic descriptions of policy and practice in the use of information and communication technologies in school education across participating ICILS countries
- To provide systematic data that can be used as a basis for interpreting differences among education systems in ICT-related learning outcomes as well as patterns of relationships among factors that are related to ICT-related learning outcomes

References

- Fraillon, J. (2018). International large-scale computer-based studies on information technology literacy in education. In J. Voog, G. Knezek, R. Christensen, & K.-W. Lai (Eds.), Second handbook of information technology in primary and secondary education (pp. 1161–1180). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53803-7_80-1
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020a). IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018. Technical report. International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). https://www.iea.nl/publications/technical-reports/icils-2018-t echnical-report
- Fraillon, J., Ainley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Duckworth, D. (2020b). *Preparing for life in a digital world: IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018 international report.* Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38781-5
- Ockwell, L., Daraganov, A., & Schulz, W. (2020). Scaling procedures for ICILS test items. In J. Fraillon, J. Ainley, W. Schulz, T. Friedman, & D. Duckworth (Eds.), *IEA international computer and information literacy study 2018. Technical report.* (pp. 133–158). International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). https://www.iea.nl/publications/technical-reports/icils-2018 -technical-report
- StatCounter Global Stats. (2023). Desktop and tablet screen resolution stats worldwide: Monthly from January 2013 to January 2023. https://gs.statcounter.com/screen-resolution-stats/desktop-tablet/worl dwide/#monthly-201301-202301

APPENDIX

Organizations and individuals involved in ICILS 2023

International study center

The international study center is located at the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA). Center staff at IEA are responsible for designing and implementing the study in close cooperation with the National Research Coordinators (NRCs) in ICILS 2023 participating countries.

IEA is also responsible for coordinating and implementing ICILS. IEA Amsterdam, the Netherlands, is responsible for membership, translation verification, quality control monitoring, and publication. IEA Hamburg, Germany is mainly responsible for field operations, sampling procedures, and data-processing.

Staff at IEA Amsterdam

Julian Fraillon, international study director Dirk Hastedt, executive director IEA Andrea Netten, director IEA Amsterdam Jan-Peter Broek, financial director IEA Daniel Duckworth, lead researcher - test development (project team) Lauren Musu, head of TIQ (project team) Marta Moreno Hidalgo, research officer (project team) Kateřina Hartmanová, junior research officer (project team) Katei Hill, head of communications Isabelle Gémin, senior financial officer Philippa Elliott, senior publications officer

Staff at IEA Hamburg

Juliane Hencke, director Sebastian Meyer, ICILS co-international data manager Tim Daniel, ICILS co-international data manager Sabine Tieck, section lead of sampling unit Maximiliano Romero, research analyst (sampling) Mojca Rožman, senior research analyst (analysis and reporting) Sabine Meinck, head of sampling unit and co-head of research and analysis unit Rolf Strietholt, co-head of research and analysis unit Juliane Kobelt, study coordinator Zarrinigor Nozimova, study coordinator Eleonora Kolomiets, study coordinator Aisha Elsayed, student assistant Minge Chen, research analyst (analysis and reporting) Andrés Christiansen, senior research analyst (analysis and reporting) Yuan-Ling Liaw, senior research analyst (analysis and reporting) Ana María Mejía-Rodríguez, senior research analyst (analysis and reporting) Hannah Smith, research analyst (sampling) Umut Atasever, research analyst (sampling) Svenja Kalmbach, research analyst Renato Alves Coppi, research analyst Christine Busch, research analyst Wolfram Jarchow, research analyst Jurij Lenar, research analyst

Xiao Sui, research analyst Daniel Ugurel, research analyst Valentina Rivera Toloza, research analyst Vanisa Vongphanakhone, research analyst Isbat Ibn Hasnat, research analyst Widianto Persadha, research analyst Ahmad Khalil, research analyst Alischa Dietz, research analyst Limiao Duan, programmer Delnaz Mohebigilani, programmer Mohamadreza Atrian, programmer Miguel Hernandez Acosta, programmer Svetoslav Velkov, software tester Osman Deger, software tester Abdullah Al-Azzawi, software tester Laiza Souza, meeting organization Adham Kotb, student assistant

RM Assessment

RM Assessment was responsible for developing the software systems underpinning the computer-based student assessment instruments for ICILS 2023. This work included development of the test and question-naire items, the assessment delivery system, and the web-based translation, scoring, and data-management modules.

Staff RM Assessment

Rajani de Man, customer relationship manager Neal Varghese, project manager Monica Srinivasan, project manager Derek van Neuren, development manager David Wynn, development technical lead Felicia Gu, development technical lead Shagna Cheerngodan, quality assurance Geethu Parameswaran Nair, quality assurance lan Qiu, software developer Tinu Treesa Tom, software developer Reshma Merin, software developer Aiswarya Raj, software developer Stephen Ainley, customer support Shawn Habibnia, customer support Darren Blakely, customer support Ranil Weerasinghe, customer support Jim Murdoch, customer support Rohit Koshy Kurian, senior system analyst Rojan Jojo, senior system analyst

ICILS sampling referee

Marc Joncas was the sampling referee for the study. He has provided invaluable advice on all samplingrelated aspects of the study.

National research coordinators

The national research coordinators (NRCs) played a crucial role in the development of the project. They provided policy- and content-oriented advice on the development of the instruments and were responsible for the implementation of ICILS in the participating countries.

Austria

Iris Höller Magdalena Rölz Federal Institute for Quality Assurance of the Austrian School System (IQS)

Azerbaijan

Shirin Mammadov The Institute of Education of the Republic of Azerbaijan

Belgium (Flemish)

Charlotte Struyve Centre for Educational Effectiveness and Evaluation, KU Leuven

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Nataša Kokoruš Agency for Pre-Primary, Primary and Secondary Education

Chile

Millicent Bader National Agency for Educational Quality

Chinese Taipei

Cheng-Chih Wu Meng-Jung Tsai School of Learning Informatics, National Taiwan Normal University

Croatia

Hrvoje Mladinić Nacionalni centar za vanjsko vrednovanje obrazovanja

Cyprus

Yiasemina Karagiorgi Cyprus Pedagogical Institute, Cyprus Ministry of Education, Sport and Youth

Czech Republic

Josef Basl Czech School Inspectorate

Denmark

Jeppe Bundsgaard Danish School of Education, Aarhus University

Finland

Kaisa Leino Janne Fagerlund University of Jyväskylä, Finnish Institute for Educational Research

France

Elodie Persem Julie Thumerelle Ministry of National Education

Germany

Birgit Eickelmann Paderborn University

Germany, North-Rhine Westphalia

Kerstin Drossel Paderborn University

Greece

Maria Nika Institute of Educational Policy (IEP)

Hungary

Annamária Rábainé Szabó Educational Authority

Italy

Carlo Di Chiacchio Elisa Caponera INVALSI

Kazakhstan

Aiym Chegenbayeva Aigul Baigulova Nazym Smanova Munira Vassilova National Center for Education Research and Evaluation Taldau named after Ahmet Baitursynuly

Kosovo

Besa Gashi Birsen Sufta Ministry of Education, Science, Technology and Innovation

Latvia

Olga Pole University of Latvia

Luxembourg

Catalina Lomos Luxembourg Institute of Socio-Economic Research and Elisa Mazzucato Ministry of Education, Children and Youth, Luxembourg Institute of Socio-Economic Research

Malta

Jude Zammit Ministry for Education, Sport, Youth, Research and Innovation

The Netherlands

Alexander Krepel Kohnstamm Instituut

Norway

Anubha Rohatgi Department of Teacher Education & School Research

Oman

Zuwaina Saleh Almaskari Ministry of Education

Portugal

Anabela Serrão Institute for Educational Evaluation (IAVE, I.P.)

Republic of Korea

Minhee Seo Seongkyun Jeon Korea Institute for Curriculum and Evaluation

Romania

Dragos Iliescu University of Bucharest

Serbia

Katarina Aleksić Education Technology Center, Institute for Education Quality and Evaluation

Slovak Republic

Romana Panáčková National Institute of Education and Youth (NIVaM)

Slovenia

Eva Klemenčič Mirazchiyski Educational Research Institute

Spain

Ricardo Callejo National Institute for Educational Assessment, Ministry of Education

Sweden

Fredrik Aspling Swedish National Agency for Education

United States

Linda Hamilton National Center for Education Statistics

Uruguay

Cecilia Hughes *Ceibal*



This open-access book presents the conceptual and operational foundations of the IEA International Computer and Information Literacy Study (2023), which is designed to assess how well students are prepared for study, work, and life in a digital world. The study measures international differences in students' computer and information literacy (CIL): their ability to use computers to investigate, create, participate and communicate at home, at school, in the workplace and in the community. Participating countries also have an option for their students to complete an assessment of computational thinking (CT).

The ICILS assessment framework articulates the basic structure of the study. It provides a description of the field and the constructs to be measured. It outlines the design and content of the measurement instruments, sets down the rationale for those designs, and describes how measures generated by those instruments relate to the constructs. In addition, it hypothesizes relations between constructs so as to provide the foundation for some of the analyses that follow.

